### **UNIVERSIDAD DE LA FRONTERA**

Facultad de Ingeniería y Ciencias Doctorado en Ciencias de Recursos Naturales



## ROLE OF ABSCISIC ACID ON ANTHOCYANIN BIOSYNTHESIS UNDER DROUGHT STRESS IN Aristotelia chilensis (MOL.) PLANTS

DOCTORAL THESIS IN FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUERIMENTS FOR THE DEGREE DOCTOR OF SCIENCES IN NATURAL RESOURCES

JORGE ANDRÉS GONZÁLEZ VILLAGRA

**TEMUCO-CHILE** 

2018

## "Role of abscisic acid on anthocyanin biosynthesis under drought stress in *Aristotelia chilensis* (Mol.) plants"

Esta tesis fue realizada bajo la supervisión de la Dra. Marjorie Reyes Díaz, perteneciente al Departamento de Ciencias Químicas y Recursos Naturales, Facultad de Ingeniería y Ciencias de la Universidad de La Frontera y ha sido aprobada por los miembros de la comisión examinadora.

### JORGE ANDRÉS GONZÁLEZ VILLAGRA

	•••••
	Dra. Marjorie Reyes Díaz (Advisor)
Dr. Francisco Matus B.	
Director Programa de Doctorado en Ciencias de Recursos Naturales	Dra. Miren Alberdi Lag
••••••	Dra. Liliana Cardemil Oliva
Dr. Juan Carlos Parra	
Director Académico de Postgrado	•••••
	Dr. Loán Provo Domínoz

**Dr. Patricio Arce Johnson** 

Dedico esta tesis a Dios y mi madre Cecilia, quienes me han enseñado a caminar y recorrer la vida.

### Agradecimientos

Agradezco enormemente al Programa Formación de Capital Humano Avanzado de la Comisión Nacional de Investigación Científica y Tecnológica (CONICYT), por la beca que me permitió el financiamiento del programa de Doctorado. El trabajo de tesis fue financiado gracias a la Beca CONICYT N° 21130602 y al proyecto FONDECYT 1171286. También es necesario agradecer al Programa de Doctorado en Ciencias de Recursos Naturales que me otorgó las ayudas económicas para finalizar mi tesis.

Agradecer a la Beca CONICYT N° 21130602, y los fondos United States National Foundation IOS1238812, y Gordon and Margaret Bailey Endowment for Environmental Horticulture, que permitieron realizar mi estadía en el Phytohormone Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Laboratory del Dr. Jerry D. Cohen en la University of Minnesota, Minnesota, Estados Unidos.

Quiero hacer un agradecimiento muy especial a mi tutora Dra. Marjorie Reyes Díaz, por el apoyo, confianza, dedicación, paciencia y creer en mi desde el día que me presente en su oficina. A la profesora, Dra. Miren Alberdi Lag, y todo mi grupo de laboratorio Daniela, David, Edith, y Mario, quienes con sus consejos conversaciones, críticas, sugerencias y buen humor, hicieron los días de mi trabajo grandes momentos.

A los profesores que me ayudaron, guiaron, aconsejaron, me entregaron parte de su tiempo, y estuvieron involucrados en el desarrollo de esta tesis, entre ellos, Dr. León Bravo, Dr. Jerry D. Cohen, Dr. Adriano Nunes-Nessi, Dra. Liliana Cardemil, Dra. Miren Alberdi y Dr. Patricio Arce Johnson.

A mis grandes amigos, Anita, Maritza, Cristian, Erwin y María José, con quienes compartí alegrías, frustraciones, salidas nocturnas, pero sobre todo grandes momentos.

A las secretarias del programa de Doctorado, Mariela y Gladys, gracias por su apoyo, gestión, paciencia, cafés y tantas conversaciones que llevare en mi corazón.

A mi madre, quien me dio la vida, me cuido, enseño a caminar, me apoyo, alentó y nunca me dejó bajar los brazos. Te admiro Mamá. A pesar de los difíciles momentos que hemos pasado en la vida juntos, puedo decir, AQUÍ ESTAMOS!, con la misma fuerza y empuje que nos caracteriza. Te amo Mamá!. Esta tesis va con especial dedicación a ti.

A mi novia, polola, pareja y amiga Mariela. Tú, que tienes la capacidad de llenar mi vida, de demostrarme que me amas, aún en los momentos más difíciles. Gracias por tu paciencia durante esta etapa. Te amo!.

### Summary and thesis outline

Drought is the most important stress factor for plants, where abscisic acid (ABA) plays a crucial role to cope with the stress. It is well reported that drought stress increases *9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase* (*NCED*) gene expression, which it is an important ABA biosynthetic pathway gene, triggering higher ABA levels in plant subjected to drought stress. Thus, it has been suggested that ABA might be involved on anthocyanin biosynthesis under drought stress. Anthocyanins are plant secondary metabolites, which may help to plants to counteract oxidative damage generated by drought stress as antioxidant; however, there is no evidence to sustain such hypothesis.

*Aristotelia chilensis* (Mol.), also known as Maqui, is an endemic berry in Chile belonging to the Elaeocarpaceae family. *A. chilensis* is considered as a pioneer species, colonizing and growing on stressed and disturbed environments, thus being an interesting model for studying abiotic stress resistance mechanism.

Therefore, the following hypothesis was proposed: "Higher ABA levels produced by induction of *nine-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase* (*NCED*) gene expression triggers anthocyanin biosynthesis due to the induction of *UDP-glucose: flavonoid 3-O-glucosyltransferase* (*UFGT*) gene expression in *Aristotelia chilensis* (Mol.) plants under drought stress".

The aim of this work was to study the role of abscisic acid on the regulation of anthocyanin biosynthesis in *Aristotelia chilensis* (Mol.) under drought stress.

First, we described the importance of ABA and anthocyanin biosynthesis in plants subjected to drought stress, and their relationship throughout the interaction of ABA and a microRNA (microRNA156) for anthocyanin biosynthesis. Here, we proposed a molecular model where ABA triggers anthocyanin biosynthesis in drought stressed plants.

A drought stress experiment allows us to determine that *A. chilensis* plants were subjected to severe stress at day 20 after water restriction. At the same time with this severe drought stress coincided with the highest ABA and anthocyanin levels in fullyexpanded leaves.

Thus, to determine the role of ABA on anthocyanin biosynthesis in drought stressed *Aristotelia chilensis* plants, we applied fluridone (ABA inhibitor biosynthesis), and subsequent ABA at day 20 of water restriction (when plants were subjected to severe drought stress). In this experiment, we found that ABA regulates anthocyanin biosynthesis through the *AcUFGT* expression in drought stressed plants.

In the last chapter, general discussion has been developed, where the main conclusions were that 1) a negative effects of drought stress on plant growth were ameliorated by ABA and anthocyanin biosynthesis that importantly contributed to drought stress tolerance.

2) That fluridone was an effective ABA inhibitor in *A. chilensis* stressed plant, and also that ABA application was able to recover both endogenous ABA concentrations in fluridone treated plants as well as increase total anthocyanin and also inducing a different anthocyanin profile.

Finally, this thesis leads to the first step in the induction mechanism of anthocyanin biosynthesis under drought stress. However, it will be necessary in future studies to further explore the molecular mechanisms for ABA downstream processes. These processes will allow us a target task for breeders to manage and modify anthocyanin concentrations in plant organs and consequently increase the plant tolerance to drought stress.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Agradecimientos / acknowledgements		
Summary of this thesis	vi	
Table of contents	ix	
CHAPTER 1. General introduction.	1	
1.1 General introduction	2	
1.2 Hypothesis	5	
1.3 General objective	5	
1.4 Specific objectives	6	

CHAPTER 2. Evaluating the involvement and interaction		
of abscisic acid and miRNA 156 in the induction of		
anthocyanin biosynthesis in drought-stressed plants.		
Abstract	9	
2.1 Introduction	10	
2.2 Overview of biosynthesis and transport of anthocyanins	11	
2.3 Anthocyanin accumulation under drought stress	16	
2.4 Induction mechanism under drought stress	20	
2.5 Conclusions and future perspectives	29	
Acknowledgments	30	

References	30

CHAPTER 3. Age-related mechanism and its relationship with	51
secondary metabolism and abscisic acid in Aristotelia chilensis	
plants subjected to drought stress.	

Abstract	53
3.1 Introduction	55
3.2 Material and Methods	57
3.2.1 Plant materials and experimental	<i>conditions</i> 57
3.2.2 Plant growth measurement	58
3.2.3 Plant water status	58
3.2.4 Endogenous ABA determination	59
3.2.5 Lipid peroxidation	59
3.2.6 Antioxidant activity determination	<i>n</i> 60
3.2.7 Determination of total phenols	60
3.2.8 Total and profile of anthocyanin	60
3.2.9 Total RNA isolation and cDNA sy	enthesis 61
3.2.10 Real time quantitative PCR (qR)	T-PCR) analysis 61
3.2.11 Experimental design and data an	nalysis 62
3.3 Results	63
3.3.1 Growth and plant water status du	ering drought stress 63
3.3.2 ABA levels under drought stress	66
3.3.3 Lipid peroxidation	67
3.3.4 Antioxidant activity and total phe	nols 68
3.3.5 Total anthocyanin content and pr	ofile 70
3.3.6 Gene expression analysis under d	lrought stress 73

3.3.7 Correlation analysis of all traits measured	75
3.3.8 Principal components analysis	76
3.4 Discussion	79
3.5 Conclusions	84
Acknowledgments	85
References	85
CHAPTER 4. "Abscisic acid (ABA) is involved in phenolic	97
compounds biosynthesis, mainly anthocyanins, in leaves of	
Aristotelia chilensis plants (Mol.) subjected to drought stress".	
Abstract	99
4.1 Introduction	100
4.2 Materials and Methods	102
4.2.1 Plant material and treatments	102
4.2.2 ABA concentration	103
4.2.3 Phenolic compounds analyses by HPLC-photodiode array	104
detection	
4.2.4 Total and profile of anthocyanin	104
4.2.5 Total RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis	105
4.2.6 Real-time quantitative PCR (qRT-PCR) analysis	105
4.2.7 Experimental design and data analysis	106
4.3 Results	107
4.3.1 ABA concentrations in response to fluridone and ABA	104
applications in drought stressed A. chilensis plants	
4.3.2 Phenolic compound levels in response to ABA inhibitor	110

and ABA applications in A. chilensis plants under drought	
stress	
4.3.3 Profile and total levels of anthocyanins in response to	114
fluridone and ABA application under drought stress	
4.3.4 Gene expression analysis of the response to fluridone and	117
ABA treatment by drought stressed A. chilensis	
4.4 Discussion	117
4.5 Conclusions	120
Acknowledgements	121
References	121
CHAPTER 5. "General discussion and conclusions"	131
5.1 General discussion	132
5.2 Conclusions and future directions	138
References	139

Annexes

148

## **CHAPTER 1**

## **General Introduction**

### **1.1 Introduction**

Currently, about 40% of Earth's surface corresponds to land under drought stress (United Nations, 2014). The lack of water availability (drought stress) is considered the most important stress factor for plants, due to the fact that it is involved in important physiological processes (Tadeo and Gómez-Cadenas, 2008). Drought stress can limit photosynthesis and plant growth. Plants have developed complex mechanisms for preventing water loss and counteracting oxidative stress due to drought stress. Abscisic acid (ABA) synthesis, non-enzymatic compounds, and stomatal closure are some responses to drought stress in plants (Moreno, 2009; Zhang et al. 2001). It has been reported that drought stress can modify anthocyanin concentration as well as the anthocyanin profile, promoting the synthesis of tri-hydroxylated anthocyanins (Ojeda et al. 2002; Castellarin et al. 2007; Bucchetti et al. 2011). Thus, Castellarin et al. (2007) reported that tri-hydroxylated anthocyanins such as delphinidin and malvidin are better compared to di-hydroxylated anthocyanin; mitigating oxidative stress due to antioxidant power, which depends on the numbers of hydroxyl groups in anthocyanin chemical structure. Therefore, these tri-hydroxylated anthocyanins increase drought stress tolerance. It is well know that drought stress induces anthocyanin level accumulation due to up-regulation of anthocyanin pathway key genes such as dihydroflavonol 4reductase (DFR), UDP-glucose:flavonoid 3-O-glucosyl transferase (UFGT) and transcription factors such as Myeloblastosis A1 (MybA1) and Myeloblastosis 5A (Myb5A) (André et al. 2009; Borsani et al. 2010; Castellarin et al. 2007; Santesteban et al. 2011). However, the induction mechanism of this higher anthocyanin concentration is still unclear (Ferrandino and Lovisolo, 2013: Petrussa et al. 2013; Murcia et al. 2017). On the other hand, drought stress increases 9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase (NCED) gene expression, which encodes a key enzyme in ABA biosynthesis pathway (Tuteja et

al. 2007; Trivedi et al. 2016). Thus, higher NCED expression increases ABA concentration in the xylem sap and plant organs such as fruits and leaves of different species (Luchi et al. 2001; Zhang et al. 2009). According to Peuke (2016), ABA concentration in leaves is more variable than in other plant organs. Even more, there is evidence that in young leaves, ABA had higher levels than in fully-expanded leaves of Coleus blumei and Xanthium strumarium (Raschke and Zeevaart, 1976; LaMotte et al. 2002); on the contrary, in Pisum sativum, Triticum aestivum and Arabidopsis thaliana, fully-expanded leaves showed higher ABA levels compared with young leaves under drought stress (Zdunek and Lips, 2001; Zhang et al. 2012; Chen et al. 2013). Therefore, plant organs accumulate endogenous ABA in different ways in response to drought stress. Some authors have suggested that higher anthocyanin concentration under drought stress could be due to ABA concentration increase (Jiang and Joyce; 2003; Deluc et al. 2009; Bucchetti et al. 2011). For example, Nagira et al. (2006) showed that osmotic stress in Torenia fournieri plants elevated endogenous ABA levels before anthocyanin biosynthesis induction. Therefore, they suggested that changes in the endogenous ABA concentration might play an important role in the anthocyanin biosynthesis induction. Thus, González-Villagra et al. (2017) have proposed a model, where they explain how ABA could be involved in anthocyanin biosynthesis through the regulation of a microRNA (156), which increases the expression of anthocyanin biosynthesis genes. However, other authors have suggested that different factors might have a higher influence on anthocyanin concentrations than endogenous ABA (Gagné et al. 2011; Kondo et al. 2014). Antolín et al. (2006) reported that ABA and anthocyanin concentration (based on fresh weight) increased in Vitis vinifera cv. Tempranillo fruits under drought stress. However, there was no difference in anthocyanin content on a berry basis, between drought stress and well watered treatments. Therefore, whether

ABA is responsible for increasing anthocyanin concentration under drought stress is still controversial. Besides, there are few reports regarding the changes on endogenous ABA levels that link with the anthocyanin biosynthesis induction. Understanding the inductor mechanism responsible of higher anthocyanin concentration under drought stress might represent a powerful tool to manage and modify anthocyanin concentration in plant organs. Therefore, it is greatly important to know whether ABA is responsible for the increase of anthocyanin biosynthesis under drought stress.

Maqui (*Aristotelia chilensis* Mol.) is an endemic berry in Chile belonging to Elaeocarpaceae family. It is an evergreen tree, distributed from Illapel (Coquimbo Region) to Chiloé (Los Lagos Region) (Hoffman et al., 2005). The *A. chilensis* is a pioneer species, colonizing and growing on stressed and disturbed environments, being an interesting model for studying its abiotic stress resistance mechanism (Fredes et al. 2014). On the other hand, this endemic species has been of a great interest for farmers and consumers for its antioxidant action due to high anthocyanin concentration. Currently, commercial crops are being established, forcing the development of morphophenological, physiological, and genetic diversity studies to establish agronomic parameters, and to develop selection and breeding strategies (Fredes et al. 2014). Therefore, *A. chilensis* is an adequate model to study ABA and anthocyanin accumulation.

The aim of this work was to study the role of abscisic acid on anthocyanin biosynthesis in drought stressed *Aristotelia chilensis* plants, evaluating the induction of genes related to their biosynthesis.

### **1.2 Hypotheses**

Currently, it is known that drought stress increases anthocyanin concentration due to anthocyanin pathway key gene up-regulation. However, the inducing mechanism of this higher anthocyanin concentration is unknown. On the other hand, it has been suggested that abscisic acid could be responsible for anthocyanin biosynthesis genes regulation under drought stress. However, whether abscisic acid is responsible for increasing anthocyanin concentration under drought stress is still controversial.

Therefore, the following hypothesis is proposed:

Higher ABA levels produced by induction of *nine-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase* (*NCED*) gene triggers anthocyanin biosynthesis due to the induction of *UDP-glucose: flavonoid 3-O-glucosyltransferase* (*UFGT*) gene in *Aristotelia chilensis* (Mol.) plants under drought stress.

### 1.3 General objective:

To study the role of abscisic acid on the regulation of anthocyanin biosynthesis in *Aristotelia chilensis* (Mol.) under drought stress.

### **1.4 Specific objectives:**

1. To evaluate the effect of drought stress on endogenous abscisic acid, total and profile of anthocyanin in *Aristotelia chilensis* (Mol.) plants.

2. To evaluate expression changes of *nine-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase* (*NCED*) and *UDP-glucose: flavonoid 3-O-glucosyltransferase* (*UFGT*) genes in *Aristotelia chilensis* (Mol.) plants under drought stress.

3. To compare the effect of an endogenous abscisic acid inhibitor and subsequent exogenous abscisic acid applications on total anthocyanin in *Aristotelia chilensis* (Mol.) plants under drought stress.

## **CHAPTER 2**

## Evaluating the involvement and interaction of abscisic acid and miRNA156 in the induction of anthocyanin biosynthesis in drought-stressed plants

Published in Planta 246(2): 199-312 doi: 10.1007/s00425-017-2711-y

Jorge González-Villagra<sup>1</sup>, Leonid V. Kurepin<sup>2</sup>, Marjorie M. Reyes-Díaz<sup>3,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Doctoral Program in Science of Natural Resources, Universidad de La Frontera, P.O.

Box 54-D, Temuco, Chile.

<sup>2</sup>Department of Biology and The Biotron Centre for Experimental Climate Change Research, Western University, London, Ontario, N6A 5B7, Canada.

<sup>3</sup>Departamento de Ciencias Químicas y Recursos Naturales, Facultad de Ingeniería y Ciencias, Universidad de La Frontera, P.O. Box 54-D, Temuco, Chile.

<sup>4</sup>Center of Plant, Soil Interaction and Natural Resources Biotechnology, Scientific and Technological Bioresource Nucleus (BIOREN), Universidad de La Frontera, P.O. Box 54-D, Temuco, Chile.

\*Corresponding author: marjorie.reyes@ufrontera.cl

### Abstract

Drought stress is the main cause of agricultural crop loss in the world. However, plants have developed mechanisms that allow them to tolerate drought stress. At cellular level, drought stress induces changes in metabolite accumulation, including increases in anthocyanin levels due to upregulation of the anthocyanin biosynthetic pathway. Recent studies suggest that the higher anthocyanin content observed under drought stress could be a consequence of a raise in the abscisic acid (ABA) concentration. This plant hormone crosses the plasma membrane by specific transporters, and it is recognized at the cytosolic level by receptors known as pyrabactin resistance (PYR)/regulatory component of ABA receptors (PYR/RCARs) that regulate downstream components. In this review we discuss the hypothesis regarding the involvement of ABA in the regulation of microRNA 156 (miRNA156), which is upregulated as part of dehydration stress responsiveness in different species. The miRNA156 upregulation produces a greater level of anthocyanin gene expression, forming the multienzyme complex that will synthesize an increased level of anthocyanins at the cytosolic face of the rough endoplasmic reticulum (RER). After synthesis, anthocyanins are transported from the RER to the vacuole by two possible models of transport: 1) Membrane Vesicle-mediate Transport (MVT), or 2) Membrane Transporter-mediated Transport (MTT). Thus, the aim was to analyze the recent findings on synthesis, transport and the possible mechanism by which ABA could increase anthocyanin synthesis under drought stress potentially throughout microRNA 156 (miRNA156).

**Keywords:** anthocyanin transporter · phytohormone · microRNA156 · pre-vacuolar compartments

### 2.1 Introduction

Water is the most important factor for plant growth, since it is a major component of the plant body and it is involved in fundamental physiological processes. Thus, a limitation in water availability (drought) is a major stress factor for plant growth and development, and therefore reproductive yield (Levitt 1980; Tadeo and Gómez-Cadenas 2008; Moreno 2009). According to a recent United Nations' World Water Development Report (2014), a third of the world's population lives in countries or regions with significant drought stress, and it is predicted that by 2025 this will increase by up to two thirds. It is estimated that drought stress is the main cause of agricultural crop loss in the world as drought can reduce the average expected crop yields by more than 50% (Boyer 1982; Pessarakli 2010). Plants have developed physiological and molecular mechanisms that allow them to tolerate drought stress or slow the rate of its impact on plant physiology. The most important physiological mechanism is the regulation of stomatal closure. Stomatal closure in response to drought stress can limit its severity by preventing water loss through these specialized structures (Zhang et al. 2001). At the cellular and molecular levels, drought stress generates an increase in the expression of genes that encode enzymes for the production of secondary metabolites such as osmolytes, proteins with protective functions, and enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants, and thus accumulation of these gene products at the cytoplasmic level (Taiz et al. 2016).

Drought stress also induces changes in the accumulation of another group of secondary metabolites, anthocyanins, which are responsible for the red, purple, and blue colors of plant tissues (Taiz and Zeiger 2002; Schwinn et al. 2016), mostly fruits and leaves (Roby et al. 2004; Bucchetti et al. 2011; Zhang et al. 2017). Anthocyanins also accumulate in response to biotic and other abiotic stresses, and therefore are thought to

play a key role in the survival of stressed plants (Steyn et al. 2002). Under drought stress, anthocyanins have a role in osmotic regulation, contributing to the maintenance of cell turgor pressure and thus tolerance to a water deficit (Chalker-Scott 1999). However, anthocyanins may also have other regulatory roles in the event of a drought stress (Hughes et al. 2013). Anthocyanins are synthesized in cytoplasm by a multienzyme complex, associated with the cytoplasmic face of the rough endoplasmic reticulum (RER), via the phenylpropanoid pathway, and stored in the vacuole, but their cellular transport is not well known (Winkel-Shirley 1999; Winkel-Shirley 2004; Sun et al. 2012ab). Under drought stress, the accumulation of anthocyanins appears to be under complex regulatory control at both spatial and temporal levels and thus the inductive mechanisms of anthocyanin synthesis remains unresolved (Castellarin et al. 2007a; Ollé et al. 2011). Abscisic acid (ABA) is a plant hormone that regulates plant growth, development such as seed dormancy, floral induction, and is involved in abiotic stress responses such as drought stress, salinity and cold (Finkelstein 2013; Li et al. 2017a). Under these abiotic stresses, ABA regulates the activation of antioxidant enzymes and also reduces stomatal aperture (Choudhary et al. 2011; Guajardo et al. 2016). The aim of this review was to analyze, summarize and evolve the recent findings on synthesis, transport and the possible mechanism by which ABA interacts, directly or indirectly, with anthocyanin biosynthesis and, potentially, microRNA 156 (miRNA156) under drought stress.

### 2.2 Overview of biosynthesis and transport of anthocyanins

Anthocyanins belong to a large family of secondary metabolites known as flavonoids. This family consists of compounds such as flavones, flavonols and isoflavones. The basic anthocyanin structure consists of two aromatic rings bound by a

three-carbon bridge, and attached groups, such as hydroxyl and methoxy groups, as well as adducts, which generate the various kinds of anthocyanins (Winkel-Shirley 2006; Boudet 2007). Anthocyanins are synthesized via the phenylpropanoid pathway (Winkel-Shirley 1999) and stored in the vacuole (Sun et al. 2012a; Li et al. 2017b), but their cellular transport is not well known. The phenylpropanoid pathway of anthocyanin synthesis has been well characterized (Fig. 1), and there are several reviews that describe it in detail (Jaakola et al. 2002; Winkel-Shirley 2006; Vogt 2010; Teixeira et al. 2013). Anthocyanin synthesis occurs mainly in epidermal cells of different organs such as stem, leaves, flowers, and fruits (Jackson et al. 1992; Huits et al. 1994; Bae and Kim 2006; Ahmed et al. 2009; Gould et al. 2009). Although some authors (Pelletier and Shirley 1996; Buer and Muday 2004; Buer et al 2007) have indicated that roots and tissues grown in the dark are largely incapable of synthesizing significant levels of anthocyanins because the biosynthetic enzymes are all light-dependent, other authors (Buer et al. 2007; Neufeld et al. 2011) have demonstrated that in Galax urceolata and Ipomoea batatas root tissues anthocyanin biosynthesis can occur without light. Presently, this phenomenon remains largely unexplained. At the cellular level, the cytosolic face of the RER is the primary place where synthesis of these compounds occurs via the action of a multienzyme complex (Winkel-Shirley 2004: Tian et al. 2008). However, some of the individual enzymes of the anthocyanin biosynthetic pathway have also been found to be associated with the membranes of various other organelles such as vacuoles, plastids, and also inside the cell nucleus (Winkel-Shirley 2004; Saslowsky et al. 2005; Tian et al. 2008; Toda et al. 2012).

Chapter 2: Evaluating the involvement and interaction of abscisic acid and miRNA156



**Figure 1.** General phenylpropanoid pathway. PAL, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase; C4H, cinnamic acid 4-hydroxylase; 4CL, 4-coumarate:CoA ligase; CHS, chalcone synthase; CHI, chalcone isomerase; F3H, flavanone 3-hydroxylase; F3'H, flavonoid 3',-hydroxylase; F3'F, dihydroflavonol reductase; ANS, anthocyanidin synthase; MybA1, myeloblastosis A1; UFGT, UDP glucose:flavonoid 3-O-glucosyltransferase; MT, methyltransferase.

As mentioned above, anthocyanins are primarily synthesized on the cytosolic face of the RER and subsequently stored in the vacuole (Sun et al. 2012a). However, it is not fully understood how anthocyanins are transported from the RER to the vacuole. Accumulation of newly biosynthesized anthocyanins in the vacuole is required to prevent their oxidation and thus maintain functional anthocyanins for a future action (Marrs et al. 1995; Verweij et al. 2008). In the vacuole, anthocyanins are stored inside bodies or structures of different sizes without defining membranes, known as anthocyanic vacuolar inclusions (AVIs) (Zhao and Dixon 2010; Zhang et al. 2006). For the anthocyanin transport from RER to vacuole, two possible models have been proposed: 1) membrane vesicle-mediated transport, and 2) membrane transporter-mediated transport (Grotewold and Davies 2008; Fig. 2).

The membrane vesicle-mediated transport (MVT) is a transport by vesicles, or structures having membranes, called pre-vacuolar compartments (PVCs), travelling from the RER to the tonoplast (Gómez et al. 2011). The transport of anthocyanins by PVCs has been described in *Vitis vinifera* (Conn et al. 2003), *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Poustka et al. 2007), and *Sorghum bicolor* (Snyder and Nicholson 1990). Anthocyanins have been shown to accumulate in the RER lumen (Poustka et al. 2007); therefore, these PVC structures could be originated within the RER lumen. PVCs can enter the vacuole by either endocytosis (Gómez et al. 2011) or directly into the vacuole by microautophagy as the vacuolar membrane engulfs anthocyanins (Chanoca et al. 2015). However, more research is needed to fully describe this input mechanism.

For the membrane transporter-mediated transport (MTT) (Fig. 2) model, two major transporter families have been suggested as being involved in this transport mechanism: the multidrug resistance-associated protein type ATP-binding cassette

(MRP-type ABC) and multidrug and toxic compound extrusion (MATE) (Zhao and Dixon 2010). The ABC transporters are proteins that can transport substrates across the membrane using energy from ATP hydrolysis (Jones and George 2002). To date only two MRP-type ABC transporters have been identified in anthocyanin transport, *ZmMrp3* in *Z. mays* and *VvMrp1* in *V. vinifera* (Goodman et al. 2004; Francisco et al. 2013). The second major anthocyanin transporter family, MATE (Yazaki 2005), is the family of multidrug efflux transporters involved in the detoxification of xenobiotics, organic acids, and secondary metabolites. Activity of these transporters depends on a H<sup>+</sup> gradient across the tonoplast generated by V-ATPase and H<sup>+</sup>-pyrophosphatase (Klein et al. 1996). Gómez et al. (2009) and Zhao et al. (2011) identified genes encoding MATE transporters located in the tonoplast: *anthoMATE1* and *anthoMATE3* genes in *V. vinifera* and *MtMATE2* in *M. truncalata*. Through observations obtained with confocal microscopy, Gómez et al. (2009) and Zhao et al. (2011) suggested that small vesicles carrying anthocyanins were associated with MATE transporters.



**Figure 2.** Anthocyanin transport from RER to Vacuole. There are two possible models of anthocyanin transport: membrane vesicle-mediate transport (MVT) and membrane transporter-mediated transport (MTT). The MVT refers to transport by vesicles or structures filled with anthocyanins inside that have a membrane, these structures are commonly named pre-vacuolar compartments (PVCs). The MTT refers to transport by transporters located at the tonoplast. Two major transporter families have been proposed as being involved in this transport mechanism: the multidrug resistance-associated protein type ATP-binding cassette (MRP-type ABC), and the multidrug and toxic compound extrusion (MATE) protein family.

#### 2.3 Anthocyanin accumulation under drought stress

The accumulation of anthocyanin under drought stress has been studied in many plant species and different organs (Table 1). For example, Kennedy et al. (2002)

reported that the anthocyanin concentration, based on fresh weight, of drought-stressed wine grapes was significantly higher (>50%) than well-watered wine grapes (Table 1). Similar results were also reported in *V. vinifera* by Esteban et al. (2001). However, drought stress not only increases anthocyanin accumulation, but also inhibits plant growth. For example, in drought-stressed *A. thaliana* leaves, which had reduced size and biomass growth, anthocyanin concentrations were higher than in well-watered leaves (Jung 2004). Thus, is there a greater anthocyanin accumulation under drought stress because of a *de novo* anthocyanin synthesis leading to higher anthocyanin concentrations or because of the drought stress-mediated inhibition of organ growth? Castellarin et al. (2007a) and Ferrandino and Lovisolo (2013) have concluded that a higher accumulation of anthocyanins under drought stress is not due to a growth inhibition of studied organs, but rather a true upregulation of anthocyanin biosynthesis.

**Table 1.** Effects of drought stress on anthocyanin concentrations of different organs and in different species.

Species	Organs	Conditions	Effects	References
<i>Vitis vinifera</i> cv. Cabernet Franc	Fruits	Field conditions. Water was withheld (midday leaf water potential was -1.43 MPa at onset of ripening) from anthesis until the onset of ripening.	Increased concentration	Matthews and Anderson 1988.
Pisum sativum cv. Citrina	Leaves	Greenhouse conditions. Nutrient solution with 10% polyethylene glycol. Seedlings, 10 days old, stress applied for 7 d.	Increased concentration	Alexieva et al. 2001.
Withania somnifera	Leaves	Greenhouse conditions. Seedlings, 7 days old, were subjected to drought stress by withholding water.	Increased concentration	Sanchita et al. 2015.
<i>Vitis vinifera</i> cv. Cabernet Sauvignon	Fruits	Field conditions. Commercial vineyard. The irrigation was not applied until midday, leaf water potential was -1.6 MPa	Increased anthocyanin concentration	Kennedy et al. 2002.
<i>Vitis vinifera</i> cv. Cabernet Sauvignon	Fruits	Field conditions, the irrigation was not applied until midday, leaf water potential was -1.6 MPa	Increased concentration	Roby et al. 2004.
Cicer arietinum	Leaves	Field conditions, plants were 20 days old, drought stress was applied by withholding water.	Increased concentration	Kalefetoglu and Ekmekci

				2009.
Vitis vinifera	Fruits	Field conditions, water was applied when Increased		Deluc et al.
cv. Cabernet		stem water potential reached -1.2 MPa, then	concentrations	2009.
Sauvignon		irrigation was applied weekly for both		
		treatments. Plants were 20 years old.		
Vitis vinifera cv.	Fruits	Field conditions, treatments were applied	Increased	Bucchetti et
Merlot		from the onset of ripening to harvest. Water concentration		al. 2011
		potential was kept within the interval -0.8		
		to -1.4 MPa for stress treatments		
Vitis vinifera cv.	Fruits	Field conditions, treatments were applied	Increased	Santesteban
Tempranillo		from the onset of ripening to harvest. Water	concentration	et al. 2011
		potential was kept until reaching -0.8 MPa		
		for stress treatments		

Chapter 2: Evaluating the involvement and interaction of abscisic acid and miRNA156 in the induction of anthocyanin biosynthesis in drought-stressed plants

However, the mechanism for induction of anthocyanin biosynthesis under drought stress remains largely unclear. Some molecular studies have facilitated the elucidation of this mechanism (Castellarin et al. 2007b; André et al. 2009). According to these studies, drought stress induces changes in the expression of several key genes involved in the anthocyanin biosynthetic pathway (Castellarin et al. 2007b; André et al. 2009; Giordano et al. 2016). In particular, drought stress induces an upregulation of expression of CHS, Flavanone 3- hydroxylase (F3H), Flavonoid 3,5,-hydroxylase (F3,5,H), DFR, UDPglucose:flavonoid 3-O-glucosyl transferase (UFGT), O-methyl-transferase (OMT), as well as transcription factors, such as Myeloblastosis A (MYBA), Myeloblastosis 5a (MYB5a), and MYB112 (Nagabhushana and Reddy 2004; Castellarin et al. 2007a, b; André et al. 2009; Borsani et al. 2010; Martínez-Lüscher et al. 2014; Berdeja et al. 2015; Lotkowska et al. 2015). The upregulation of the expression of these structural and regulatory genes involved in the phenylpropanoid pathway results in an increased number of enzymes available for catalysis of the biosynthesis reactions and thus results in an increased number of anthocyanins at the cellular level. In fact, a correlation analysis has demonstrated a strong and positive relationship ( $r^2 \ge 0.95$ ) between gene expression encoding biosynthetic enzymes and metabolites produced in the anthocyanin biosynthetic pathway (Castellarin et al. 2007b), demonstrating that the anthocyanin

concentration is increased due to upregulation of the phenylpropanoid pathway. Furthermore, it has been shown that drought stress not only positively influences the cumulative number of anthocyanins in plant tissues, but it also modifies the composition of anthocyanins as it specifically promotes the accumulation of tri-hydroxylated anthocyanins, due in part to a higher expression of flavonoid 3`-hydroxylase (F3`H) and F3`5`H (Deis et al. 2011; Santesteban et al. 2011). For example, Castellarin et al. (2007b) reported that in *V. vinifera* the concentrations of tri-hydroxylated anthocyanins, such as delphinidin and malvidin, were higher under drought stress than in well-watered control treatments. However, the concentration of di-hydroxylated anthocyanins, such as cyanidin and peonidin, was similar for both control and drought stress treatments (Castellarin et al. 2007b). Therefore, there are multiple levels of regulation of anthocyanin biosynthesis under drought stress.

Previously, Chalker-Scott (1999) had suggested that anthocyanin compounds have a role in osmotic regulation by contributing to the maintenance of turgor pressure and thus tolerance to drought. However, Hughes et al. (2013) suggested that the role of anthocyanin compounds was likely not in osmotic protection because of low anthocyanin concentrations and their high metabolic cost compared to other solutes, such as proline and soluble sugars, which are typically found to be more effective in osmotic adjustment. A recent study by Sperdouli and Moustakas (2014) in *A. thaliana* suggested that anthocyanins can have an important antioxidant role under drought stress as drought-stressed leaves maintained oxidative compounds (such as malondialdehyde) within the same range as found in control leaves, thereby implying that a biochemical mechanism was in operation to cope with oxidative damage. Therefore, we can suggest, based on the above-mentioned reports, that higher expression of F3`H, F3`5`H and UFGT genes under drought stress will allow the accumulation of tri-hydroxylated anthocyanin forms, giving a greater antioxidant capacity. This capacity depends in part on the numbers of hydroxyls in the anthocyanin chemical structure. Therefore, specific modification of the basic structure can be employed by the plant cell in order to help increase the defense mechanisms against reactive oxygen species (ROS).

### 2.4 Induction mechanism under drought stress

As discussed in the previous section, anthocyanin content is increased under drought stress due to upregulation of the expression of key genes in the phenylpropanoid pathway, although the induction mechanism is still unclear. Some authors have suggested that higher anthocyanin content under drought stress could be due to increases in the levels of ABA (Jiang and Joyce 2003; Deluc et al. 2009; Bucchetti et al. 2011). For example, McCarty et al. (1989) demonstrated that an A. thaliana mutant with reduced sensitivity to ABA blocks anthocyanin biosynthesis, suggesting that ABA plays an important role in the induction of anthocyanin biosynthesis. Furthermore, Fambrini et al. (1993) have demonstrated, using a Helianthus annuns mutant plant deficient in ABA biosynthesis, that ABA accumulation is necessary for the induction of anthocyanin biosynthesis. In another study, Nagira et al. (2006) induced osmotic stress in Torenia plants with sucrose (Table 2). They determined that under osmotic stress endogenous ABA levels rise significantly before the induction of anthocyanin synthesis. This led them to suggest that changes in the amount of endogenous ABA may play an important role in the induction of anthocyanin synthesis. Recently, it has been shown that treatments of *Fragaria x ananassa* fruits and Salvia miltiorrhiza hair roots with fluridone (an ABA biosynthetic inhibitor) resulted in a strong suppression of anthocyanin biosynthesis (Cui et al. 2012; Kadomura-Ishikawa et al. 2015). Hence, further previous evidence supports ABA playing a direct or indirect role in the induction of anthocyanin biosynthesis under drought stress.

On the molecular level, ABA has been shown to be involved in anthocyanin biosynthesis via its ability to increase the expression levels of several key genes of the phenylpropanoid pathway. For example, Shen et al. (2014) reported that treatment of *Prunus avium* with the ABA biosynthetic inhibitor nordihydroguaiaretic acid (NDGA) downregulated the expression levels of *Myeloblastosis A* (MYBA), a transcription factor that interacts and activates the promoters of the DFR, ANS and UFGT genes. These authors also showed that the endogenous ABA levels as well as the transcript levels of CHS, chalcone isomerase (CHI), F3H, DFR, UFGT and MYBA were blocked by silencing the 9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase (NCED) gene, which encodes a key enzyme in the ABA biosynthetic pathway. Another study by Medina-Puche et al. (2014) showed that F. x ananassa plants subjected to drought stress increased endogenous ABA levels as well as the expression of MYB and anthocyanin accumulation in fruit tissues. Finally, Li et al. (2015) showed that silencing the 8'-hydroxylase (CYP707A2) gene, which encodes a key enzyme in the oxidative catabolism of ABA, further increased anthocyanin accumulation as well as endogenous ABA levels, and stimulated the expression of the transcription factor MYBA, all compared to the control (without silenced CYP707A2). Consequently, Li et al. (2015) suggested that anthocyanin synthesis is tightly regulated by endogenous ABA levels.

 Table 2. Effect of endogenous abscisic acid on anthocyanin concentrations in plants

Species	Evaluated organs	ABA concentration	Organ growth	Effects on anthocyanin	References
<i>Vitis</i> <i>vinifera</i> cv. Tempranillo	Fruits	Increased 2643 ng g <sup>-1</sup> dw	Lower growth than well watered treatment	Increased concentration	Antolín et al. 2006
Torenia fournieri	shoots	10 ng g <sup>-1</sup> fw	Not reported	Increased concentration	Nagira et al. 2006
<i>Vitis</i> <i>vinifera</i> cv. Cabernet Sauvignon	Fruits	Increased 4000 ng g <sup>-1</sup> dw	Lower growth than well watered treatment	Increased concentrations	Deluc et al. 2009
<i>Vitis</i> <i>vinifera</i> cv. Cabernet Sauvignon	Fruits	Increased 500 ng g <sup>-1</sup> fw	Not reported	Increased concentrations	Wheeler et al. 2009
<i>Vitis</i> <i>vinifera</i> cv. Aragonez	Fruits	Increased 1850 ng g <sup>-1</sup> fw	Inhibited growth	Increased concentration	Zarrouk et al. 2012

under drought stress

fw= fresh weight, dw= dry weight.

Therefore, all these biochemical, hormonal and molecular studies confirm that an ABA balance is important for regulating anthocyanin biosynthesis, and thus its accumulation under drought stress. We therefore propose the following possible mechanism for the induction of anthocyanin synthesis emphasizing the participation of ABA under drought stress (Fig. 3). Under conditions without drought or other osmotic stress, ABA levels and anthocyanin concentrations in plant organs are basal (Fig. 3A). In contrast, under drought stress there is an increase in ABA biosynthesis which leads to the induction of the mechanisms discussed above for anthocyanin biosynthesis, increasing the anthocyanin concentrations above their basal levels (Fig. 3B). Drought stress augments ABA biosynthesis in roots (Davies and Zhang 1991), where it can subsequently be transported to stems and leaves by the xylem (Taiz and Zeiger 2002), increasing ABA concentration in leaves, and/or there is an ABA biosynthesis directly in the leaf tissues. Then, the binding of newly produced and/or released ABA to its receptors must occur to trigger the downstream signaling cascade of biochemical and molecular events.



. **Fig. 3** Proposed model for ABA and miRNA156 interaction on the induction of anthocyanin biosynthesis under drought stress

Abscisic acid receptors are still the subject of critical study with currently three proposed candidates: an extracellular receptor known as G-protein coupled receptor2 (GCR2) (Pandey et al. 2009); a plastid receptor known as magnesium chelatase subunit H (CHLH) receptor (Shen et al. 2006); and a cytoplasmic receptor known as pyrabactin resistance (PYR)/regulatory component of ABA receptor (PYR/RCARs) (Park et al. 2009). However, the mechanism of GCR2 and CHLH in ABA downstream signaling is unknown; hence, their participation as ABA receptors have not yet been confirmed (Risk et al. 2009; Taiz and Zeiger 2010; Miyakawa et al. 2013). By contrast, the action of PYR/RCAR as an ABA receptor is well supported by several studies (Kharenko et al. 2013; Gonzalez-Guzman et al. 2014; Kim et al. 2014).

Furthermore, a critical review (Zhang et al. 2015) of the current status of our understanding of ABA receptors supports the idea that only the PYR/RCAR can currently be referred to as a bona fide ABA receptor. Finally, the recent discovery of ABA transporters in the plasma membrane (PM) supports the proposed function of PYR/RCAR receptors. These transporters belong to the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter family, encoded by AtABCG40 (Kang et al. 2010), AtABCG25 (Kuromori et al. 2010) and AtABCG22 genes (Kuromori et al. 2011). Therefore, when endogenous ABA levels increase in the leaves of drought-stressed plants, ABA molecules cross the plasma membrane by transporters (Boursiac et al. 2013) and bind to PYR/RCARs, triggering the downstream signaling cascade (Zhang et al. 2015). It has been clearly demonstrated that ABA binding to PYR/RCARs inhibits the type 2C protein phosphatases (PP2C) and thus results in disruption of the interaction between PP2C and sucrose non-fermenting related protein kinase 2 (SnRK2), releasing its inhibition of SnRK2. SnRK2 is activated by autophosphorylation and can then activate downstream targets such as NADPH oxidase located in PM (Sirichandra et al. 2009; Kimura et al. 2012; Boneh et al. 2012; Miyakawa et al. 2013). It has been shown that NADPH oxidase oxidates molecular oxygen (Foreman et al. 2003) and produces superoxide radical (O<sub>2</sub>-) (Fig. 2B). Then, with the help of superoxide dismutase (SOD),  $O_2^{-1}$  is rapidly converted to hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) in plants exposed to drought stress (Foreman et al. 2003; Hu et al. 2006; Furlan et al. 2013).

It has been widely recognized that hydrogen peroxide functions as a secondary messenger in ABA signaling (Taiz and Zeiger 2010: Taiz et al. 2016). Wang et al. (2013) showed the importance of PYR/RCARs receptor in ROS production as plants without PYR/RCARs receptors were not able to increase ROS production. Therefore, bound ABA-PYR/RCARs are essential for H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> production. The H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> induced by ABA
accumulation promotes anthocyanin biosynthesis in leaves of O. sativa seedlings as was shown by Hung et al. (2008). These authors reported that treatments with chemical traps for  $H_2O_2$  effectively inhibited anthocyanin accumulation, confirming that  $H_2O_2$  is required for anthocyanin buildup. Zhang et al. (2014) also indicated that H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is involved in the regulation of anthocyanin synthesis, showing that inhibition of NADPH oxidase activities downregulates anthocyanin synthesis in *Malus domestica* peel. In addition,  $H_2O_2$  can also activate calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) channels at the plasma membrane, promoting extracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  influx and raising the cytosolic  $[Ca^{2+}]$  (Pei et al. 2000). The production of  $H_2O_2$  activates the NADPH oxidase releasing  $Ca^{2+}$  from calcium stores such as chloroplast, mitochondria, and rough endoplasmic reticulum (Wang et al. 2013). The importance of  $Ca^{2+}$  in the production of anthocyanin has been demonstrated by treatments with verapamil (a calcium channel blocker), which caused a reduction of anthocyanin levels in cell cultures of Daucus carota and V. vinifera (Sudha and Ravishankar 2003; Vitrac et al. 2000). More recently, analysis of the time-dependency performed by Shien et al. (2013) showed that the antagonists of  $Ca^{2+}$  strongly interfere with anthocyanin accumulation throughout downregulation of *Production of* Anthocyanin Pigment 1 (PAP1) expression in A. thaliana. Therefore, both H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and  $Ca^{2+}$  play an important role in the metabolic pathway of the proposed mechanism.

 $Ca^{2+}$  has also been recognized as an important second messenger in the signal transduction pathways of plant hormones and environmental stimuli (Zou et al. 2010: Gilroy et al. 2016). To date, two major classes of plant calcium sensors in signal transduction have been identified: calcium-binding proteins (calmodulins) and  $Ca^{2+}$  dependent protein kinases (or CPKs) (Hong-Bo et al. 2008; Dubrovina et al. 2013). However, the participation of one of specific  $Ca^{2+}$  sensor mechanism in anthocyanin synthesis remains unknown. CPKs are one of the best characterized  $Ca^{2+}$  sensors in

plants and have been shown to be involved in the response to abiotic stresses in plants (Gao et al. 2014). CPKs are directly activated by the binding of  $Ca^{2+}$ , and their activation regulates downstream components (Harper et al. 2004). The Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent protein kinase family consists of 34 genes in A. thaliana (Hrabak et al. 2003), 31 genes in O. sativa (Asano et al. 2005), 40 genes in Z. mays (Kong et al. 2013), 20 genes in Triticum aestivum (Li et al. 2008), and 12 genes in Vitis amurensis (Dubrovina et al. 2013). This calcium sensor has different locations, including the cytosol, nucleus, endoplasmic reticulum, and plasma membrane (Yoon et al. 1999; Dammann et al. 2003). In A. thaliana, AtCPK3, AtCPK6 (Mori et al. 2006), and AtCPK10 (Zou et al. 2010) are important in the regulation of ion channel and in ABA-regulated stomatal closure. The AtCPK11 and AtCPK32 positively regulate ABA signaling by phosphorylating stress-responsive transcription factors ABF1 and ABF4 (Choi et al. 2005; Zhu et al. 2007). The ZmCPK11 protein is involved in antioxidant enzymatic defense (Ding et al. 2013). Under drought stress, there are many CPKs whose function remains unknown. The CPKs potentially involved in anthocyanin biosynthesis are among those of unknown function, but such protein kinases could be expected to act as with better characterized CPKs and activate transcription factors, and thus upregulate anthocyanin synthesis under drought stress. Signal transduction pathways are complex. and it will require significant additional research to understand this process well. Nevertheless, it is clearly an important research target of high reward to elucidate which CPKs are associated with anthocyanin synthesis in order to have a complete understanding of the mechanism for induction.

miRNA	Expression	Targets	Role	References	
	pattern				
miRNA164	Down	NAC domain Lateral root		Guo et al. 2005	
		transcription factors	development		
miRNA398	Up	Cu/Zn superoxide	Response to oxidative	Trindade et al. 2010;	
		dismutases	stress	Sunkar et al. 2006.	
miRNA169	Down	CCAAT binding factor	Nodule development	Li et al. 2008	
		(CBF)			
miRNA156	Up	Squamosa Promoter	Transition from juvenile	Wang et al. 2011; Kantar	
		Binding protein-like	to adult phase	et al. 2010.	
miRNA171	Down	GRAS transcription	Floral development	Llave et al. 2002.	
		factors			

Tabl	e 3.	The	microR	NAs	invol	lved i	in	responses	of	plants	under	drough	t.
------	------	-----	--------	-----	-------	--------	----	-----------	----	--------	-------	--------	----

As mentioned above, CPKs can regulate the activity of diverse targets by phosphorylation. It has recently been reported that a protein kinase can phosphorylate human microRNAs (miRNAs), enhancing miRNA production and increasing their stability (Paroo et al. 2009; Herbert et al. 2013), thus suggesting potential for a similar mechanism in plants. Plant miRNAs are small non-coding RNAs, which consist of 20-24 nucleotides that activate or inhibit gene expression via transcriptional or posttranscriptional processes. miRNAs act by controlling expression levels of multiple genes and thus have been reported to regulate root initiation, flower development, and physiological responses to environmental stimuli (Khraiwesh et al. 2012; Eldem et al. 2013). In particular, drought stress often increases the expression of some specific miRNAs (Table 3). For example, microRNA 156 (miRNA156) was shown to be upregulated as a dehydration stress-responsive gene in Hordeum vulgare (Kantar et al. 2010), Phaseolus vulgaris (Nageshbabu et al. 2013b), Vigna unguiculata (Barrera-Figueroa et al. 2011), Glycine max (Li et al. 2011), Panicum virgatum (Sun et al. 2012b), A. thaliana (Liu et al. 2008), and Eleusine coracona (Nageshbabu et al. 2013a). Furthermore, Boopathi (2015) has identified that miRNA 156 is expressed in response to an increase in endogenous ABA levels. Likewise, transcription factors could be

involved in plant responses under drought stress (Agarwal et al. 2006). One group of transcription factors which includes the basic domain/Leu zipper (bZIP), MYB and MYC are activated by increased ABA biosynthesis; meanwhile, the other transcription factors may follow an ABA-independent signal transduction pathway, such as c-repeat binding factor (CBF)/drought response elements binding (DREB) proteins (Agarwal et al., 2006). However, a crosstalk between ABA-dependent and ABA-independent activation of different transcription factors have been documented in several plants (Fujita et al. 2011). Haake et al. (2002) reported that CBF/DREB can respond to an ABA-dependent signal transduction pathway. In addition, it has been reported that miRNAs associated with CBF/DREB transcription factor increase drought stress tolerance (Shi and Hussain, 2016; Candar-Cakir et al., 2016). Recent studies have also shown that CBF/DREBs can increase the expression of miRNA 156 (Hackenber et al. 2012: Artilip et al. 2016). Therefore, these findings suggest that upregulation of miRNA 156 under drought stress is driven by higher ABA levels and the downstream signaling cascade which they activate.

The functional role of miRNA156 in the adaptation of plants to drought stress has been suggested by Nageshbabu et al. (2013a) and Kantar et al. (2010). However, exactly what such a possible functional role might be under drought stress is still largely unknown. Recently, Gou et al. (2011) showed the overexpression of miRNA156 promoted anthocyanin accumulation in *A. thaliana*, whereas wild type plants accumulated significantly less anthocyanin. In addition, expression of anthocyanin synthesis and structural genes (*DFR*, *UFGT*, *ANS* and *F3*<sup>•</sup>*H*) was greatly increased, and their transcripts were higher by over 30-fold. Furthermore, Cui et al. (2014) confirmed the involvement of miRNA156 in drought stress tolerance through the use of target mimicry methodology where *A. thaliana* plants with blocked miRNA156 action were

extremely sensitive to drought stress and accumulated lower anthocyanins than drought stressed-plants without miRNA156 blockage. In the same experiment, Cui et al. (2014) also demonstrated that the expression levels of two genes of the phenylpropanoid pathway, DFR and PAP1, were induced in the drought-stressed plants without miRNA156 blockage, concluding that the miRNA156 pathway is contributing to drought stress tolerance via its involvement in anthocyanin biosynthesis. It has also been shown that miRNA828 affects anthocyanin accumulation during phosphate deficiency (Hsieh et al. 2009). Furthermore, it has been suggested that miRNA828 can act directly upon the transcription factors (AtMYB113, AtMYB75 and AtMYB90) that are known to be involved in anthocyanin synthesis (Hsieh et al. 2009). Finally, it was reported that miRNAs could also act directly on gene targets at the transcriptional level (Jopling et al. 2005; Orom et al. 2008). This transcriptional upregulation mechanism has been called RNA activation (RNAa) (Portnoy et al. 2011). Therefore, we further hypothesize that under drought stress higher expressions of miRNA156 may produce a greater expression of anthocyanin genes such as DFR, UFGT, ANS or F3`H, which form the multienzyme complex that will synthesize a higher content of anthocyanins in the cytosolic face of the RER. After synthesis on the cytosolic face of the RER, the anthocyanins would then be stored in the vacuole (Sun et al. 2012a; Li et al. 2017b).

### **2.5 Conclusions and future perspectives**

Anthocyanins have received great attention by a number of plant and nutrition researchers. Their biosynthetic pathway, sites of synthesis, and aspects of their transport have all been well established. Our level of knowledge about the molecular response expression of key genes of phenylpropanoid pathways has increased considerably, and

this has helped to partially elucidate responses leading to accumulation of anthocyanins. The results from molecular studies and the evidence presented above suggest that under drought stress ABA interacts with anthocyanin biosynthesis and potentially throughout miRNA156 as we have proposed in the model (Fig 3). This hypothesis should hopefully guide future experimental approaches and help lead to solutions of such research challenges including a better understanding of responses under drought stress. This might improve plant defense response mechanisms against reactive oxygen species, as this represents an important goal plant tolerance to drought stress.

*Author contribution statement* JG-V, LVK and MR-D substantially contributed to this manuscript. JG-V and MR-D formulated the manuscript, revised and corrected the review. LVK provided critical comments, improved and corrected the current version of the review. The authors provide final approval of the version to be published.

Acknowledgments We would like to thank to Dr. Jerry Cohen (University of Minnesota, Twin Cities) for critical review and comments and Comisión Nacional de Investigación Científica y Tecnológica (CONICYT) of the Government of Chile by Doctoral Scholarship and Fondecyt 1120917 project.

### References

- Agarwall P, Agarwal P, Reddy MK, Sopory S (2006) Role of DREB transcription factors in abiotic and biotic stress tolerance in plants. Plant Cell Rep 25:1263-1274. doi: 10.1007/s00299-006-0204-8
- Ahmed N, Maekawa M, Noda K (2009) Anthocyanin accumulation and expression pattern of anthocyanin biosynthesis genes in developing wheat coleoptiles. Biol Plant 53:223-228

- Alexieva V, Sergiev I, Mapelli S, Karanov E (2001) The effect of drought and ultraviolet radiation on growth and stress markers in pea and wheat. Plant Cell Environ 24:1337-1344
- André C, Schafleitner R, Legay S, Lefèvre I, Alvarado C, Nomberto G, Hoffmann L, Hausman, JF, Larondelle Y, Evers D (2009) Gene expression changes related to the production of phenolic compounds in potato tubers grown under drought stress. Phytochem 70:1107-1116
- Antolín MC, Ayari M, Sánchez-Díaz M (2006) Effects of partial rootzone drying on yield, ripening and berry ABA in potted Tempranillo grapevines with Split roots.Aust J Grape Wine Res 12:13-20
- Artilip T, Wisniewski M, Arora R, Norelli J (2016) An apple roostock overexpressing a ppeach CBF gene alters growth and flowering in the scion but does not impact cold hadiness or dormancy. Horticulture Research 3:1-9. doi:10.1038/hortres.2016.6
- Asano T, Tanaka N, Yang G, Hayashi N, Komatsu (2005) Genome-wide identification of the rice calcium-dependent protein kinase and its closely related kinase gene families: comprehensive analysis of the CDPKs gene family in rice. Plant Cell Physiol 46:356-366
- Bae R, Kim K (2006) Anatomical observations of anthocyanin rich cells in apple skins. Hort Sci 41:733-736
- Barrera-Figueroa BE, Gao L, Diop NN, Wu Z, Ehlers JD, Roberts PA, Close TJ, Zhu J, Liu R (2011) Identification and comparative analysis of drought-associated microRNAs in two cowpea genotypes. BMC Plant Biol 11:127
- Berdeja M, Nicolas P, Kappel C, Wu Dai Z, Hilbert G, Peccoux A, Lafontaine N, Gomés E, Delrot S (2015) Water limitation and rootstock genotype interact to

alter grape berry metabolism through transcriptome reprogramming. Hort Res 2:15012

- Boneh U, Biton I, Schwartz A, Ben-Ari G (2012) Characterization of the ABA signal transduction pathway in *Vitis vinifera*. Plant Sci 187:89-96
- Boopathi M. (2015). Plant miRNomics: Novel insights in gene expression and regulation. In: PlantOmics: The Omics of plant science. New Delhi, India. Springer (ed) Pp 181-212
- Boudet A (2007) Evolution and current status of research in phenolic compounds. Phytochem 68:2722-2735
- Boursiac Y, Léran S, Corratgé-Faillie C, Gojon A, Krouk G, Lacombe B (2013) ABA transport and transporters. Trends Plant Sci 18:325-333
- Boyer J (1982) Plant productivity and environment. Sci 8:218-443
- Borsani O, Gonzalez-Neves G, Ferrer M, Monza J (2010) Anthocyanins accumulation and genes-related expression in berries of cv. Tannat (*Vitis vinifera* L.). J Appl Hort 12:3-9
- Bucchetti B, Matthews M, Falginella L, Peterlunger E, Castellarin S (2011) Effect of water deficit on Merlot grape tannins and anthocyanins across four seasons. Sci Hort 128:297-305
- Buer CS, Muday G, Djordjevic M (2007) Flavonoids are differentially taken up and transported long distances in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 145:478-490
- Buer CS, Muday GK (2004) The transparent testa4 mutation prevents flavonoid synthesis and alters auxin transport and the response of Arabidopsis roots to gravity and light. Plant Cell 16:1191-1205
- Candar-Cakir B, Arican E, Zhang B (2016) Small RNA and degradome deep sequencing reveals drought-and tissue-specific micrornas and their important roles

in drought-sensitive and drought-tolerant tomato genotypes. Plant Biotech 14:1727-1746. doi: 10.1111/pbi.12533

- Castellarin S, Matthews M, Di Gaspero G, Gambetta G (2007a) Water deficits accelerate ripening and induce changes in gene expression regulating flavonoid biosynthesis in grape berries. Planta 227:101-112
- Castellarin S, Pfeiffer A, Sivilotti P, Degan M, Peterlunger E, Di Gaspero G (2007b) Transcriptional regulation of anthocyanin biosynthesis in ripening of grapevine under seasonal water deficit. Plant Cell Environ 30:1381-1399
- Chalker-Scott L (1999) Environmental significance of anthocyanins in plant stress responses. Photochem Photobiol 70:1-9
- Chanoca A, Kovinich N, Burkel B, Stecha S, Bohorquez-Restrepo A, Ueda T, Eliceiri K, Grotewold E, Otegui M (2015) Anthocyanin vacuolar inclusions form by a microautophagy mechanism. Plan Cell 27(9):1-15
- Choi HI, Park HJ, Park JH (2005) *Arabidopsis* calcium-dependent protein kinase AtCPK32 interacts with ABF4, a transcriptional regulator of abscisic acidresponsive gene expression, and modulates its activity. Plant Physiol 139:1750-1761
- Choudhary R, Saroha AE, Swarnkar PL (2011) Effect of abscisic acid and hydrogen peroxide on antioxidant enzymes in *Syzygium cumini* plant. J Food Sci Technol 49(5):649-652
- Conn S, Zhang W, Franco C (2003) Anthocyanic vacuolar inclusions (AVIs) selectively bind acylated anthocyanins in *Vitis vinifera* L. (grapevine) suspension culture.
   Biotechnol Lett 25:835-839

- Cui B, Liang Z, Liu Y, Zhu J (2012) Effects of ABA and its unhibitor fluridone on accumulation of phenolic acids and activity of PAL and TAT hairy root of Salvia miltiorrhiza. Zhongguo Zhongyao Zazhi 37(6):754-759.
- Cui LG, Shan JX, Shi M, Gao JP, Lin HX (2014) The miR156-SPL9-DFR pathway coordinates the relationship between development and abiotic stress tolerance in plants. Plant J 80:1108-1117.
- Dammann D, Ichida A, Hong B, Romanowsky S, Hrabak EM, Harmon AC, Pickard BG, Harper JF (2003) Subcellular targeting of nine calcium dependent protein kinase isoforms from *Arabidopsis*. Plant Physiol 132:1840-1848
- Davies WJ, Zhang J (1991) Root signals and the regulation of growth and development of plant in drying soil. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 42:55-76
- Deis L, Cavagnaro B, Bottini R, Wuilloud R, Silva MF (2011) Water deficit and exogenous ABA significantly affect grape and wine phenolic composition under in field and in-vitro conditions. Plant Growth Regul 65:11-21
- Deluc L, Quilici1 D, Decendit A, Grimplet J, Wheatley M, Schlauch K, Mérillon J, Cushman J, Cramer G (2009) Water deficit alters differentially metabolic pathways affecting important flavor and quality traits in grape berries of Cabernet Sauvignon and Chardonnay. BMC Genomics 10:212
- Ding Y, Cao J, Ni L, Zhu Y, Zhang A, Tan M, Jiang M (2013) ZmCPK11 is involved in abscisic acid-induced antioxidant defence and functions upstream of ZmMPK5 in abscisic acid signaling in maize. J Exp Bot 64:871-884
- Dubrovina A, Kiselev K, Khristenko V (2013) Expression of calcium-dependent protein kinase (CDPK) genes under abiotic stress conditions in wild-growing grapevine Vitis amurensis. J Plant Physiol 170:1491-1500

- Eldem V, Okay S, Unver T (2013) Plant microRNAs: new players in functional genomics. Turk J Agric For 37:1-21
- Esteban M, Villanueva M, Lissarrague R (2001) Effect of irrigation on changes in the skin of cv. Tempranillo (*Vitis vinifera* L.) grape berries during ripening. J Sci Food Agric 81:409-420
- Fambrini M, Pugliesi C, Vernieri P, Giuliano G, Baroncelli S (1993) Characterization of a sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.) mutant, deficient in carotenoid synthesis and absicisc-acid content, induced by in-vitro tissue culture. Theor Appl Genet 87:65-69.
- Ferrandino A, Lovisolo C (2013) Abiotic stress effects on grapevine (Vitis vinifera L.): Focus on abscisic acid-mediated consequences on secondary metabolism and berry quality. Environ Exp Bot 103:138-147
- Finkelstein R (2013) Abscisic acid synthesis and response. Arabidopsis Book 11: e0166
- Foreman J, Demidchik V, Bothwell J, Mylona P, Miedema H, Torres MA, Linstead P, Costa S, Brownlee C, Jones J, Davies J, Dolan (2003) Reactive oxygen species produced by NADPH oxidase regulate plant cell growth. Nature 422:442-446
- Francisco R, Regalado A, Ageorges A, Burla B, Bassin B, Eisenach C, Zarrouk O, Vialet S, Marlin T, Chaves M, Martinoia E, Nagy R (2013) ABCC1, an ATP binding cassette protein from grape berry, transports anthocyanidin 3-0glucosides. Plant Cell 25:1840-1854
- Fujita Y, Fujita M, Shinozaki K, Yamagushi-Shinozaki K (2011) ABA-mediated transcriptional regulation in response to osmotic stress in plants. J Plant Research 124:509-525. doi:10.1007/s10265-011-0412-3
- Furlan A, Llanes A, Luna V, Castro S (2013) Abscisic acid mediates hydrogen peroxide production in peanut induced by water stress. Biol Plant 57:555-558

- Gao A, Wu Q, Zhang Y, Miao Y, Song C (2014) Arabidopsis calcium-dependent protein kinase CPK28 is potentially involved in the response to osmotic stress. Chinese Sci Bull 59:1113-1122
- Gilroy S, Białasek M, Suzuki N, Górecka M, Devireddy A, Karpinski S, Mittler R (2016) ROS, calcium, and electric signals: key mediators of rapid systemic signaling in plants. Plant Physiol 171(3):1606-1615.
- Giordano D, Provenzano S, Ferrandino A, Vitali M, Pagliarani C, Roman F, Cardinale F, Castellarin S, Schubert A (2016) Characterization of a multifunctional caffeoyl-CoA Omethyltransferase activated in grape berries upon drought stress. Plant Physiol Biochem 101:23-32. doi:org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2016.01.015 0
- Gómez C, Terrier N, Torregrosa L, Vialet S, Fournier-Level A, Verriès C, Souquet JM, Mazauric JP, Klein M (2009) Grapevine MATE-Type proteins act as vacuolar H<sup>+</sup>dependet acylated anthocyanin transporters. Plant Physiol 150:402-415
- Gómez C, Conejero G, Torregrosa L, Cheynier V, Terrier N, Ageorges A (2011) In vivo grapevine anthocyanin transport involves vesicle-mediated trafficking and the contribution of anthoMATE transporters and GST. Plant J 67:960-970
- Gonzalez-Guzman M, Rodriguez L, Lorenzo-Orts L, Pons C, Sarrion-Perdigones A, Fernandez M, Peirats-Llobet M, Forment J, Moreno-Alvero M, Cutler S, Alert A, Granell A, Rodriguez P (2014) Tomato PYR/PYL/RCAR abscisic acid receptors show high expression in root, differential sensiticy to the abscisic acid agonist quinabactin, and the capability to enhance plant drought resistance. J Exp Bot 65:4451-4464
- Goodman C, Casati P, Walbot V (2004) A multidrug resistance-associated protein involved in anthocyanin transport in Zea mays. Plant Cell 16:1812-1826

- Gou JY, Felippes F, Liu CJ, Weigel D, Wang JW (2011) Negative regulation of anthocyanin biosynthesis in *Arabidopsis* by a miR156-targeted SPL transcription factor. Plant Cell 23:1512-1522
- Gould K, Davies K, Winefield C (2009) Anthocyanins: Biosynthesis, functions, and applications. Springer Sc, New York, USA
- Grotewold E, Davies K (2008) Trafficking and sequestration of anthocyanins. Nat Prod Commun 3:1251-1258
- Guajardo E, Correa JA, Contreras-Porcia L (2016) Role of abscisic acid (ABA) in activating antioxidant tolerance responses to desiccation stress in intertidal seaweed species. Planta 243(3): 767-781
- Guo HS, Xie Q, Fei JF, Chua N (2005) MicroRNA directs mRNA cleavage of the transcription factor NAC1 to downregulate auxin signals for *Arabidopsis* lateral root development. Plant Cell 17:1376:1386
- Haake V, Cook D, Riechmann JL, Pineda O, Thomashow MF, Zhang JZ (2002) Transcription factor CBF4 is a regulator of drought adaptation in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 130:639-648
- Hackenberg M, Shi BJ, Gustafson P, Langridge P (2012) A transgenig factor (TaDREB3) in barley affects the expression of microRNAs and other small noncoding RNAs. Plus One 7(8):1-21
- Harper JF, Beton G, Harmon A (2004) Decoding Ca<sup>2+</sup> signals through plant protein kinases. Annu Rev Plant Biol 55:263-288
- Herbert K, Pimienta G, DeGregorio S, Alexandrov A, Steitz J (2013) Phosphorylation of DGCR8 increase its intracellular stability and induces a progrowth miRNA profile. Cell Rep 5:1070-1081

- Hong-bo S, Li-Ye C, Ming-an S (2008) Calcium as a versatile plant signal transducer under soil water stress. Bioessays 30:634-641
- Hrabak E, Chan C, Gribskov M, Harper J, Choi J, Halford N, Kudla, J, Luan S, Nimmo H, Sussman M, Thomas M, Walker-Simmons K, Zhu JK, Harmon A (2003) The *Arabidopsis* CDPK-SnRK superfamily of protein kinases. Plant Physiol 132:666-680
- Hsieh LC, Lin SI, Shih AC, Chen JW, Lin WY, Tseng CY, Li WH, Chiou TJ (2009)Uncovering small RNA-mediated responses to phosphate deficiency in *Arabidopsis* by deep sequencing. Plant Physiol 151:2120-2132
- Hu X, Zhang A, Zhang J, Jiang M (2006) Abscisic acid is a key inducer of hydrogen peroxide production in leaves of maize plants exposed to water stress. Plant Cell Physiol 47:1484-1495
- Hughes NM, Carpenter KL, Cannon JG (2013) Estimating contribution of anthocyanin pigments to osmotic adjustment during winter leaf reddening. J Plant Physiol 170:230-233
- Huits HS, Gerats AG, Kreike MM, Mol JN, Koes RE (1994) Genetic control of dihydroflavonol 4-reductase gene expression in Petunia hybrid. Planta J 6:295-310
- Hung K, Cheng D, Hsu Y, Kao C (2008) Abscisic acid-induced hydrogen peroxide is required for anthocyanin accumulation in leaves of rice seedlings. J Plant Physiol 165:1280-1287
- Jaakola L, Määttä K, Pirttila AM, Törrönen R, Kärenlampi S, Hohtola A (2002) Expression of genes involved in anthocyanin biosynthesis in relation to anthocyanin, proanthocyanidin, and flavonols levels during bilberry fruit development. Plant Physiol 130:729-739

- Jackson D, Roberts K, Martin C (1992) Temporal and spatial control of expression of expression of anthocyanin biosynthetic genes in developing flowers of *Antirrhinum majus*. Plant J 2:425-434
- Jiang Y, Joyce D (2003) ABA effects on ethylene production, PAL activity, anthocyanin and phenolic contents of strawberry fruit. Plant Growth Regul 39:171-174
- Jones P, George A (2002) Mechanism of ABC transporters: A molecular dynamics simulation of a well characterized nucleotide-binding subunit. PNAS 99(20):12639-12644
- Jopling CL, Yi M, Lancaster AM, Lemon SM, Sarnow P (2005) Modulation of hepatitis C virus RNA abundance by a liver-specific microRNA. Sci 309:1577-1581
- Jung S (2004) Variation in antioxidant metabolism of young and mature leaves of *Arabidopsis thaliana* subject to drought. Plant Sci 166:459-466
- Kadomura-Ishikawa Y, Miyawaka K, Takahashi A, Masuda T, Noji S (2014) Light and abscisic acid independently regulated FaMYB10 in Fragaria x ananassa fruit. Planta 241:953-965
- Kalefetoglu T. Ekmekci Y (2009) Alterations in photochemical and physiological activities of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) cultivars under drought stress. J Agron Crop Sci 195:335-346
- Kang J, Hwang JU, Lee M, Kim YY, Assmann S, Martinoia E, Lee Y (2010) PDR-type ABC transporter mediates cellular uptake of the phytohormone abscisic acid. Plant Biol 107:2355-2360
- Kantar M, Unver T, Budak H (2010) Regulation of barley miRNAs upon dehydration stress correlated with target gene expression. Funct Integr Genomics 10:493-507

- Kharenko O, Choudhary P, Loewen M (2013) Abscisic acid binds to recombinant Arabidopsis thaliana G-protein coupled receptor-type G 1 in Sacaromycese cerevisiae and in vitro. Plant Physiol Biochem 68:32-36
- Kennedy JA, Matthews MA, Waterhouse AL (2002) Effect of maturity and vine water status on grape skin and wine flavonoids. Am J Enol Vitic 53:268-274
- Khraiwesh B, Zhu JK, Zhu J (2012) Role of miRNAs and siRNAs in biotic and abiotic stress responses of plants. Biochim Biophys Acta 1819:137-148
- Kim H, Lee K, Hwang H, Bhatnagar K, Kim DY, Yoon IS, Byun MO, Kim ST, Jung KH. Kim BG (2014) Overexpression of PYL5 in rice enhances drought tolerance, inhibits growth, and modulates gene expression. J Exp Bot 65:453-464
- Kimura S, Kaya H, Kawarazaki T, Hiraoka GM, Senzaki E, Michikawa M, Kuchitsu K (2012) Protein phosphorylation is a prerequisite for the Ca<sup>2+</sup> -dependet activation of *Arabidopsis* NADPH oxidases and may function as trigger for the positive feedback regulation of Ca<sup>2+</sup> and reactive oxygen species. Biochim Biophys Acta-Mol Cell Res 1823:398-405
- Klein M, Weissenbock G, Dufaud A, Gaillard C, Kreuz K, Martinoia E (1996) Different energization mechanism drive the vacuolar uptake of a flavonoid glucoside and a herbicide glucoside. J Biol Chem 271:29666-29671
- Kong X, Jiang W, Zhang D, Cai G, Pan J, Li D (2013) Genome-wide identification and expression analysis of calcium-dependent protein kinase in maize. BMC Genomics 14:433
- Kuromori T, Miyaji T, Yabuuchi H, Shimizu H, Sugimoto E, Kamiya A, Moriyama Y. Shinozaki K (2010) ABC transporter AtABCG25 is involved in abscisic acid transport and responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci 107:2361-2366

- Kuromori T, Sugimoto E, Shinozaki K (2011) *Arabidopsis* mutants of AtABCG22, an ABC transporter gene, increase water transpiration and drought susceptibility. Plant J 67:885-894
- Levitt J (1980) Responses of plants to environmental stresses. Academic Press, New York, NY.
- Li A, Zhu Y, Tan X, Wang X, Wei B, Guo H, Zhang Z, Chen X, Zhao G, Kong X, Jia J, Mao L (2008) Evolutionary and functional study of the CDPK gene family in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Plant Mol Biol 66:429-443
- Li H, Dong Y, Yin H, Wang N, Yang J, Liu X, Wang Y, Wu J, Li X (2011) Characterization of the stress associated microRNAs in Glycine max by deep sequencing. BMC Plant Biol 11:170-174
- Li J, Lv X, Wang L, Qiu Z, Song X, Lin J, Chen W (2017a) Transcriptome analysis reveals the accumulation mechanism of anthocyanins in Zijuan tea (*Camellia sinensis* var. *asssamica* (Masters) kitamura) leaves. Plant Growth Regul 81:51-61
- Li Q, Chen P, Dai S, Sun Y, Kai W, Pei Y, He S, Liang B, Zhang Y, Leng P (2015) PacCYP707A2 negatively regulates cherry fruit ripening while PacCYP707A1 mediates drought tolerance. J Exp Bot 66(13):3765-3774
- Li Z, Yu J, Peng Y, Huang B (2017b) Metabolic pathways regulated by abscisic acid, salicilic acid and y-aminobutyric acid in association with improved drought tolerance increeping bentgrass (*Agrostis stolonifera*). Physiol Plant 159(1):42-58. doi:10.1111/ppl.12483
- Liu HH, Tian X, Li YJ, Wu CA, Zheng CC (2008) Microarray-based analysis of stressregulated microRNAs in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. RNA 14:836-843
- Llave C, Xie Z, Kasschau KD, Carrington JC (2002) Cleavage of Scarecrow-like mRNA targets directed by a class of *Arabidopsis* miRNA. Sci 297:2053-2056

- Lotkowska M, Tohge T, Fernie A, Xue GP, Balazadeh S, Mueller-Roeber B (2015) The Arabidopsis transcription factor MYB112 promotes anthocyanin formation during salinity and under high light stress. Plant Physiol 169(3):1862-80. doi:10.1104/pp.15.00605
- Martínez-Lüscher J, Sánchez-Díaz M, Delrot S, Aguirreolea J, Pascual I, Gomés E (2014) Ultraviolet-B radiation and water deficit interact to alter flavonol and anthocyanin profiles in grapevine berries through transcriptomic regulation. Plant Cell Physiol 55(11):1-12
- Marrs KA, Alfenito MR, Lloyd AM, Walbolt V (1995) A glutathione S-transferase involved in vacuolar transfer encoded by the maize gene bronze-2. Nature 375:397-400
- Matthews MA, Anderson M (1988) Fruit ripening in *Vitis vinifera* L.: Responses to seasonal water deficit. Am J Enol Vitic 39:313-320
- Matthews MA, Ishii R, Anderson MM, O'Mahony M (1990) Dependence of wine sensory attributes on vine water status. J Sci Food Agric 51:321-335
- McCarty D, Carson C, Stinard P, Robertson D (1989) Molecular analysis of *viviparous-1*: An abscisic acid- insensitive mutant of maize. Plant Cell 1:523-532
- Medina-Puche L, Cumplido-Laso G, Amil-Ruiz F, Hoffman T, Ring L, Rodriguez-Franco A, Caballero JL, Schwab W, Muñoz-Blanco J, Blanco-Portales R (2014)
  MYB10 plays a major role in the regulation of flavonoid/phenylpropanoid metabolism during ripening of *Fragaria x ananassa* fruits. J Exp Bot 65(2):401-417.
- Miyakawa T, Fujita Y, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Tanokura M (2013) Structure and function of abscisic acid receptors. Trends Plant Sci 18:259-266

Moreno L (2009) Plant responses to water deficit stress. Agron Colomb 27:179-191

- Mori I, Murata Y, Yang Y, Munemasa S, Wang YF, Andreoli S, Tiriac H, Alonso J, Harper J, Ecker J, Kwak J, Schroeder J (2006) CDPKs CPK6 and CPK3 function in ABA regulation of guard cell S-type anion and Ca<sup>2+-</sup>permeable channels and stomatal closure. Plos 4:1749-1762
- Nagabhushana I, Reddy A (2004) Rice flavonoid pathway genes, *OsDfr* and *OsAns*, are induced by dehydratation, high salt and ABA, and contain stress responsive promoter elements that interact with the transcription activator, OsC1-MYB. Plant Sci 166:1505-1513
- Nageshbabu U, Jyothi MN, Sharadamma N, Rai D, V, Devaraj VR (2013a) Expression of miRNAs confers enhanced tolerance to drought and salt stress in Finger millet (*Eleusine coracona*). J Stress Physiol Biochem 9:22-231
- Nageshbabu U, Jyothi MN, Sharadamma N, Rai D, V, Devaraj VR (2013b) Expression of miRNAs regulates growth and development of French bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) under salt and drought stress conditions. Int Res J Biol Sci 2:52-56
- Nagira Y, Ikegami K, Koshiba T, Ozeki Y (2006) Effect of ABA upon anthocyanin synthesis in regenerated torenia shoots. J Plant Res 119:137-144
- Neufeld H, Poindexter D, Murakami P, Schaberg P (2011) Observations on the relationship between above- and below-ground anthocyanin production in Galax urceolata (Poir.) Brummitt growing in sun-exposed and shaded locations. Castanea 76(1):84-98.
- Ollé D, Guiraud JL, Souquet JM, Terrier N, Ageorges A, Cheynier V, Verries C (2011) Effect of pre- and post- veraison water deficit on proanthocyanidin and anthocyanin accumulation during Shiraz berry development. Aust J Grape Wine Res 17:90-100

- Orom UA, Nielsen FC, Lund AH (2008) MicroRNA-10a bins the 5`UTR of ribosomal protein mRNAs and enhances their translation. Mol Cell 30:460-471
- Pandey S, Nelson DC, Assman SM (2009) Two novel GPCR-Type G proteins are abscisic acid receptors in *Arabidopsis*. Cell 136:136-148
- Park SY, Fung P, Nishimura N, Jensen D, Fujii H, Zhao Y, Lumba S, Santiago J,
  Rodrigues A, Chow TF, Alfred S, Bonetta D, Finkelstein R, Provart N, Desveaux
  D, Rodriguez P, McCourt P, Zhu JK, Schroeder J, Volkman B, Cutler S (2009)
  Abscisic acid inhibits type 2C protein phosphatases via the PYR/PYL family of star proteins. Sci 324:1068-1071
- Paroo Z, Ye X, Chen S, Liu Q (2009) Phosphorylation of the human microRNAgenerating complex mediates MAPK/Erk signaling. Cell 139:112-122
- Pecket RC, Small CJ (1980) Occurrence, location and development of anthocyanoplast. Phytochem 19:2571-2576
- Pei Z, Murata Y, Benning G, Thomine S, Klüsener B, Allen G, Grill E, Schroeder J (2000) Calcium channels activated by hydrogen peroxide mediate abscisic acid signaling in guard cells. Nature 406:731-734
- Pelletier MK, Shirley BW (1996) Analysis of flavanone3-hydroxylase in Arabidopsis seedlings. Plant Physiol 11:339-345
- Portnoy V, Huang V, Place R, Li LC (2011) Small RNA and transcriptional upregulation. Wiley Interdisciplinary reviews RNA 2:748-760
- Pessarakli M (2010) Plant and Crop Stress, Third Edition. Print ISBN: 978-1-4398-1396-6. eBook ISBN: 978-1-4398-1399-7
- Poustka F, Irani NG, Feller A, Lu Y, Pourcel L, Frame K, Grotewold E (2007) A trafficking pathway for anthocyanins overlaps with the endoplasmic reticulum-to-

vacuole protein-sorting route in *Arabidopsis* and contributes to the formation of vacuolar inclusions. Plant Physiol 145:1323-1335

- Risk JM, Day CL, Macknight RC (2009) Reevaluation of abscisic acid-binding assays shows that G-protein-Coupled Receptor2 does not bind abscisic acid. Plant Physiol 150:6-11
- Roby G, Harbertson F, Adams D, Matthews M (2004) Berry and vine water deficits as factors in winegrape composition: Anthocyanins and tannins. Aust J Grape Wine Res 10:100-107
- Sanchita, Singh R, Mishra A, Shawan S, Shirke P, Gupta M, Sharma A (2015) Physiological performance, secondary metabolite and expression profiling of genes associated with drought tolerance in *Withania somnifera*. Protoplasma 252(6):1439-1450. doi: 10.1007/s00709-015-0771-z
- Santesteban LG, Miranda C, Royo JB (2011) Regulated deficit irrigation effects on growth, yield, grape quality and individual anthocyanin composition in *Vitis vinifera* L. cv. "Tempranillo". Agric Water Manag 98:1171-1179
- Saslowsky D, Warek U, Winkel B (2005) Nuclear localization of flavonoid enzymes in *Arabidopsis*. J Biol Chem 280:23735-23740
- Schwinn K, Ngo H, Kenel F, Brummell D, Albert N, McCallum J, Pither-Joyce M,
  Crowhurst R, Eady C, Davies K (2016) The onion (*Allium cepa* L. R2R3-MYB
  Gene MYB1 regulates anthocyanin biosynthesis. Front Plant Sci 7:1865.
  doi:10.3389/fpls.2016.01865
- Shen X, Zhao K, Liu L, Zhang K, Yuan H, Liao X, Wang Q, Guo X, Li F, Li T (2014) A role for PacMYBA in aBA-regulated anthocyanin in red-colored sweet cherry cv. Hong Deng (*Prunus avium* L.). Plant Cell Physiol 55(5):862-880.

- Shen YY, Wang XF, Wu FQ, Du SY, Cao Z, Shang Y, Wang XL, Peng CC, Yu XC. Zhu SY (2006) The Mg-chelatase H subunit is an abscisic acid receptor. Nature 443:823-826
- Shi BJ, Hussain S (2016) miRNA/siRNA-based approaches to enhance drought tolerance of barley and wheat under drought stress. In: Water Stress and Crop Plants: A Sustainable Approach, Volume 1, 1<sup>st</sup> Ed.
- Shin DH, Choi MG, Lee HK, Cho M, Choi SB, Choi G, Park YI (2013) Calcium dependet sucrose uptake links sugar signaling to anthocyanin biosynthesis in Arabidopsis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 430:634-639.
- Sirichandra C, Gu D, Hu HC, Davanture M, Lee S, Djaoui M, Valot B, Zivy M, Leung J, Merlot S, Kwak J (2009) Phosphorylation of the *Arabidopsis* AtrohF NADPH oxidase by OST1 protein kinase. FEBS Lett 583:2982-2986
- Snyder B, Nicholson R (1990) Synthesis of phytoalexins in sorghum as a site-specific response to fungal ingress. Sci 248:1637-1639
- Sperdouli I, Moustakas M (2014) Interaction of proline, sugars, and anthocyanis during photosynthetic acclimation of Arabidopsis thaliana to drought stress. J Plant Physiol 169:577-585
- Steyn W, Wand S, Holcroft D, Jacobs G (2002) Anthocyanins in vegetative tissues: a proposed unified function in photoprotection. New Phytol 155:349-361
- Sudha G, Ravishankar G (2003) The role of calcium channels in anthocyanin production in callus cultures of *Daucus carota*. Plant Growth Regul 40:163-169
- Sun G, Stewart C, Xiao P, Zhang B (2012b) MicroRNA expression analysis in the cellulosic biofuel crop switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum*) under abiotic stress. Plos One 7:1-7

- Sun Y, Li H, Huang JR (2012a) *Arabidopsis* TT19 functions as a carrier to transport anthocyanin from the cytosol to tonoplast. Mol Plant 5:387-400
- Sunkar R, Kapoor A, Zhu JK (2006) Posttranscriptional induction of two Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase genes in *Arabidopsis* is mediated by downregulation of miR398 and important for oxidative stress tolerance. Plant Cell 18:2051-2065
- Tadeo F, y Gómez-Cadenas A (2008) Fisiología de las plantas y el estrés. In: Fundamentos de Fisiología Vegetal. 2<sup>a</sup> ed.
- Taiz L, Zeiger E, Moller M, Murphy A (2016) Plant Physiology. 6<sup>th</sup> ed. Sinauer Associates Inc., Publishers Sunderland, Massachusetts USA
- Taiz L, Zeiger E (2010) Plant Physiology. 5<sup>th</sup> ed. Sinauer Associates Inc., Publishers Sunderland, Massachusetts USA
- Taiz L, Zeiger E (2002) Plant Physiology. 3<sup>rd</sup> ed. Sinauer Associates, Inc., Publishers Sunderland, Massachusetts USA
- Teixeira A, Eiras-Dias J, Castellarin SD, Gerós H (2013) Berry phenolics of grapevine under challenging environments. Int J Mol Sci 14:18711-18739
- Tian L, Wan S, Pan Q, Zheng Y, Huang W (2008) A novel plastid localization of chalcone synthase in developing grape berry. Plant Sci 175:431-436
- Toda K, Kuroiwa H, Senthil K, Shimada N, Aoki T, Ayabe S, Shimada S, Sakuta M, Miyazaki Y, Takahashi R (2012) The soybean F3<sup>+</sup>H protein is localized to the tonoplast in the seed coat hilum. Planta 236:79-89
- Trindade I, Capitao C, Dalmay T, Fevereiro MP, Santos DM (2010) miR398 and miR408 are up-regulated in response to water deficit in *Medicago Truncalata*. Planta 231:705-716
- United Nations (2014) World Water Development Report 2014. *In:* 6<sup>th</sup> World Water Forum "Solution for Water", Marseille, France

- Verweij W, Spelt C, Di Sansebastiano GP, Vermeer J, Reale L, Ferrantil F, Koes R, Quattrocchio F (2008) An H+ P-ATPase on the tonoplast determines vacuolar pH and flower colour. Nat Cell Biol 10:1456-1462
- Vitrac X, Larronde F, Krisa S, Decendit A, Deffiex G, Mérillon. 2000. Sugar sensing and Ca2+-calmodulin requirement in Vitis vinifera cells producing anthocyanins. Phytochemistry 53:659-665
- Vogt T (2010) Phenylpropanoid biosynthesis. Mol Plant 3:2-20
- Wang T, Chen L, Zhao M, Tian Q, Zhang WH (2011) Identification of droughtresponsive microRNAs in *Medicago truncalata* by genome-wide high-throughput sequencing. BMC Genomics 12:367
- Wang Y, Chen ZH, Zhang B, Hills A, Blatt M (2013) PYR/PYL/RCAR Abscisic acid receptors regulate K<sup>+</sup> and Cl<sup>-</sup> channels through reactive oxygen species-mediated activation of Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels at the plasma membrane of intact *Arabidopsis* guard cells. Plant Physiol 163:566-577
- Wheeler S, Loveys B, Ford C, Davies C (2009) The relationship between the expression of abscisic acid biosynthesis genes, accumulation of abscisic acid and the promotion of *Vitis vinifera* L. berry ripening by abscisic acid. Aus J Grape Wine Res 15:195-204
- Winkel-Shirley B (2006) The biosynthesis of flavonoids. In: Grotewold E (ed) The Science of Flavonoids, 1<sup>st</sup> edn. Spring-Verlag, New York, pp 71-95
- Winkel-Shirley B (2004) Metabolic channeling in plants. Annu Rev Plant Biol 55:85-107
- Winkel-Shirley B (1999) Evidence for enzyme complexes in the phenylpropanoid and flavonoid pathways. Physiol Plant 107:142-149

- Yazaki K (2005) Transporters of secondary metabolites. Current Opinion Plant Biol 8:301-307
- Yoon GM, Cho HS, Ha HJ, Liu JR, Lee HS (1999) Characterization of NtCDPK1, a calcium-dependent protein kinase gene in *Nicotiana tabacum*, and the activity of its encoded protein. Plant Mol Biol 39:991-1001
- Zarrouk O, Francisco R, Pinto-Marijuan M, Brossa R, Santos R, Pinheiro C, Costa J, Lopes C, Chaves M (2012) Impact of irrigation regime on berry development and flavonoids composition in Aragonez (Sy. Tempranillo) grapevine. Agric Water Manag 114:18-29
- Zhang C, Guo Q, Liu Y, Liu H, Wang F, Jia C (2017) Molecular cloning and functional analysis of a flavanone 3-hydroxylase gene from blueberry. J Hortic Sci Biotechnol 92:57-64
- Zhang H, Wang L, Deroles S, Bennett R, Davies K (2006) New insight into the vesicles and formation of anthocyanic vacuolar inclusions in flower petals. BMC Plant Biol 6:29
- Zhang J, Chen Ch, Zhang D, Li H, Li P, Ma F (2014) Reactive oxygen species produced via plasma membrane NADPH oxidase regulate anthocyainin synthesis in apple peel. Planta 240:1023-1035
- Zhang X, Zhang L, Dong F, Gao J, Galbraith D, Song C (2001) Hydrogen peroxide is involved in Abscisic acid-induced stomatal closure in *Vicia faba*. Plant Physiol 126:1438-1448
- Zhang XL, Jiang L, Xin Q, Liu Y, Tan JX and Chen ZZ (2015) Structural basis and functions of abscisic acid receptors PYLs. Front Plant Sci 6:88
- Zhao J, Dixon R (2010) The 'ins' and 'outs' of flavonoid transport. Trends Plant Sci 15:72-80

- Zhao J, Huhman D, Shadle G, He XZ, Sumner L, Tang Y, Dixon R (2011) MATE2 mediates vacuolar sequestration of flavonoid glycosides and glycoside malonates in *Medicago truncalata*. Plant Cell 23:1536-1555
- Zhu SY, Yu XC, Wang XJ (2007) Two calcium-dependent protein kinases CPK4 and CPK11, regulate abscisic acid signal transduction in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 19:3019-3036
- Zou JJ, Wei FJ, Wang C, Wu JJ, Ratnasekera D, Liu WX, Wu WH (2010) Arabidopsis calcium-dependent protein kinase CPK10 functions in abscisic acid- and Ca<sup>2+-</sup> mediated stomatal regulation in response to drought stress. Plant Physiol 154:1232-1243

### **CHAPTER 3**

### "Age-related mechanism and

# its relationship with secondary metabolism and abscisic acid in *Aristotelia chilensis* (Mol.) plants subjected to drought stress"

Published in Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 124: 136-145

doi: 10.1016/j.plaphy.2018.01.010

### Age-related mechanism and its relationship with secondary metabolism and abscisic acid in *Aristotelia chilensis* plants subjected to drought stress

Jorge González-Villagra<sup>1</sup>, Acácio Rodrigues-Salvador<sup>2</sup>, Adriano Nunes-Nesi<sup>2</sup>, Jerry D.

Cohen<sup>3</sup>, Marjorie M. Reyes-Díaz<sup>4,5\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Doctoral Program in Science of Natural Resources, Universidad de La Frontera, P.O. Box

54-D, Temuco, Chile.

<sup>2</sup>Departamento de Biologia Vegetal, Universidade Federal de Viçosa, 36570-900, Viçosa, Minas Gerais, Brazil.

<sup>3</sup>Department of Horticultural Science and Microbial and Plant Genomics Institute, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, MN 55108, USA.

<sup>4</sup>Departamento de Ciencias Químicas y Recursos Naturales, Facultad de Ingeniería y Ciencias, Universidad de La Frontera, P.O. Box 54-D, Temuco, Chile.

<sup>4</sup>Center of Plant, Soil Interaction and Natural Resources Biotechnology, Scientific and Technological Bioresource Nucleus (BIOREN), Universidad de La Frontera, P.O. Box 54-

D, Temuco, Chile.

\*Corresponding author: marjorie.reyes@ufrontera.cl

### Abstract

Drought is the most important stress factor for plants, being the main cause of agricultural crop loss in the world. Plants have developed complex mechanisms for preventing water loss and oxidative stress such as synthesis of abscisic acid (ABA) and non-enzymatic antioxidant compounds such as anthocyanins, which might help plants to cope with abiotic stress as antioxidants and for scavenging reactive oxygen species. A. chilensis (Mol.) is a pioneer species, colonizing and growing on stressed and disturbed environments. In this research, an integrated analysis of secondary metabolism in Aristotelia chilensis was done to relate ABA effects on anthocyanins biosynthesis, by comparing between young and fully-expanded leaves under drought stress. Plants were subjected to drought stress for 20 days, and physiological, biochemical, and molecular analyses were performed. The relative growth rate and plant water status were reduced in stressed plants, with young leaves significantly more affected than fully-expanded leaves beginning from the 5<sup>th</sup> day of drought stress. A. chilensis plants increased their ABA and total anthocyanin content and showed upregulation of gene expression when they were subjected to severe drought (day 20), with these effects being higher in fully-expanded leaves. Multivariate analysis indicated a significant positive correlation between transcript levels for NCED (9-cisglucose: epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase) flavonoid-3-Oand UFGT (UDP glucosyltransferase) with ABA and total anthocyanin, respectively. Thus, this research provides a more comprehensive analysis of the mechanisms that allow plants to cope with drought stress. This is highlighted by the differences between young and fully-expended leaves, showing different sensibility to stress due to their ability to synthesize anthocyanins. In addition, this ability to synthesize different and high amounts of anthocyanins could be related to higher *NCED1* and *MYB* expression and ABA levels, enhancing drought stress tolerance.

**Keywords:** anthocyanins; fully-expanded leaves; maqui; phytohormone; water stress; young leaves

### **3.1 Introduction**

Drought stress is the main cause of loss in production of agricultural crops in the world, reducing yields by more than 50% (Boyer, 1982; Pessarakli, 2010). Water stress can limit photosynthesis, plant growth, and can even cause the death of plants (Raven, 1984; Moreno, 2009). Thus, drought is considered the most important stress factor for plants. Plants have developed complex mechanisms for preventing water loss and counteracting oxidative damage, such as stomatal closure, synthesis of abscisic acid (ABA), and non-enzymatic antioxidant compounds (Zhang et al., 2001).

It has been well established that ABA plays an important role in controlling plant water balance by stomatal closure during drought stress (Finkelstein, 2013). ABA biosynthesis involves many steps, however, it has been demonstrated that drought stress increases 9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase (NCED) gene expression, which encodes an enzyme in the ABA biosynthesis pathway, considered a key regulatory step during drought stress (Tuteja et al., 2007; Maruyama et al., 2014; Trivedi et al., 2016). Higher NCED expression has been associated with increases in ABA concentration in plant organs such as fruits and leaves of different species (Luchi et al., 2001; Zhang et al., 2009; Finkelstein, 2013). At the cellular level, ABA binds to the ABA-receptors, increasing ROS and cytosolic calcium ( $Ca^{2+}$ ) in guard cells. Both these components modulate ion channels, decreasing guard cell turgor and closing the stomata (Finkelstein, 2013; Singh et al., 2017). It has been suggested that ABA can be involved in regulation of anthocyanin synthesis; however, the molecular mechanisms for possible regulation have not yet been elucidated (Jiang and Joyce, 2003; Deluc et al., 2009; Gagné et al., 2011; Kondo et al., 2014; Murcia et al., 2017). It has been reported that drought stress induces anthocyanin accumulation due

## Chapter 3: Age-related mechanism and its relationship with secondary metabolism and abscisic acid in Aristotelia chilensis plants (Mol.) subjected to drought stress

to the up-regulation of key genes from the anthocyanin pathway such as dihydroflavonol 4reductase (DFR), UDP-glucose:flavonoid 3-O-glucosyl transferase (UFGT) and transcription factors such as Myeloblastosis A1 (MybA1) (André et al., 2009; Borsani et al., 2010; Castellarin et al., 2007a; Castellarin et al., 2007b; Santesteban et al., 2011). Anthocyanins might help plants to cope with abiotic stress as antioxidants and for scavenging reactive oxygen species (ROS), thus increasing drought stress tolerance (Agati et al., 2012; Nakabayashi et al., 2014; Sperdouli and Moustakas, 2014; Kovinich et al., 2015; Li et al., 2017). Some studies have reported that young and fully-expanded leaves of several species have differences in secondary metabolites and ABA content in response to abiotic stresses such as UV-B, low nitrogen supply, and salinity (Zdunek and Lips, 2001; Reifenrath and Müller, 2007; Ibañez et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2013). However, the effect of drought stress on the biosynthesis of secondary metabolites and ABA separately has primarily focused in fully expanded leaves (Tattini et al., 2004: Yuan et al., 2012: Ma et al., 2014; Griesser et al., 2015). Thus, information is still limited regarding an integrated analysis of secondary metabolism related to ABA focused on anthocyanins biosynthesis during leaf development that is comparing young to fully-expanded leaves under drought stress.

*Aristotelia chilensis* (Mol.), also known as Maqui, is an endemic berry in Chile belonging to the Elaeocarpaceae family (Hoffman et al., 2005). Maqui is an evergreen tree distributed from Illapel (Coquimbo Region) to Chiloe (Los Lagos Region) (Hoffman et al., 2005). *A. chilensis* is a pioneer species, colonizing and growing on stressed and disturbed environments, thus being an interesting model for studying abiotic stress resistance mechanisms (Hoffman et al., 2005; Fredes et al., 2012). Maqui has been of great interest for farmers and consumers due to its antioxidant action with high anthocyanin concentrations (Fredes et al., 2014). This interest has led to the development of morpho-phenological, physiological, and genetic diversity studies to establish agronomic parameters and the development of strategies of selection and breeding (Fredes et al., 2014; Vogel et al., 2014, Bastías et al., 2016). Consequently, in this study, we investigated the effects of drought stress on anthocyanin biosynthesis and endogenous ABA levels in young and fully-expanded leaves of *A. chilensis*.

#### 3.2 Materials and methods

### 3.2.1 Plant materials and experimental conditions

Plants of maqui (*Aristotelia chilensis*) obtained from *in vitro* conditions and donated by BestPlant Co. (Curico, Chile) were used in this study. One-year-old plants were transplanted to 2 L pots filled with Andisol soil and acclimated in a greenhouse (temperature:  $25\pm3$  °C; photoperiod: light 16 h/8 h dark; humidity: 60-70%; and a mean photosynthetic active radiation (PAR) at midday of 300 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) for 2 weeks. Plants were then divided into two groups (20 plants for each group); daily irrigated (DI) and nonirrigated (NI). The DI plants were irrigated daily at field capacity; meanwhile, NI plants were exposed to water withholding to initiate drought stress. The experiment was carried out for 20 days. At different time points (0, 5, 10 and 20 days) of the experiment, leaf samples were collected in the morning at two different positions from the plants for physiological, biochemical and molecular analysis. The two different positions represented different leaf ages: young leaves, from middle to the top; and fully-expanded leaves, from middle to basal leaves. Leaves were frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C prior to determination of the biochemical parameters.

### **3.2.2 Plant growth measurement**

Relative growth rate (RGR) was determined according to Hoffmann and Poorter (2002), as the mean natural logarithm-transformed dry weight (DW) at the beginning and the end of the experiment, where t1 and t2 are the times 0 and 20 days, respectively. RGR was calculated by Formula 1.

Formula 1:

$$RGR = [(lnDW2) - (lnDW1)/(t2 - t1)]$$

### **3.2.3 Plant water status**

Relative water content (RWC) was determined by the method described by Rahimi et al. (2010). Two leaves were removed, weighed and immersed into double distilled water to saturate them with water for the next 24 h at 4 °C and dark conditions. Then, leaves were oven dried to a constant weight at 60 °C. Next, the dry weights were determined. The RWC was calculated according Formula 2 (below). Leaf water potential ( $\Psi_{md}$ ) was measured using a Scholander chamber Plant Moisture Stress (Model 1000, Instrument Co., Corvallis, Ore.) in the morning, following the protocol proposed by Matthews et al. (1987).

Formula 2:

RWC = [(fresh weight – dry weight)/(turgor weight – dry weight)] x 100

### **3.2.4 Endogenous ABA determination**

Endogenous ABA was quantified by the isotope dilution method, essentially as described by Liu et al. (2012) for auxin analysis, using NH<sub>2</sub> resin solid phase extraction (SPE) TopTip minicolumns. After methylation by diazomethane, the samples were then injected into a gas chromatograph (GC) coupled to single quadrupole mass spectrometer (MS) (GC-MS-SIM, Agilent 6890N GC System with an Agilent 7683 Automatic Liquid Sampler and an Agilent 5973 MS; column, temperatures, carrier gas and other analysis conditions were exactly as described in Liu et al. 2012) and the samples were analysed using selected ion monitoring (SIM) with Agilent Chemstation software. Deuterated-abscisic acid ( $[^{2}H_{6}]ABA$ ) was used as internal standard (Liu et al., 2012), and it was synthesized according to Dobrev et al. (2005) yielding a product with no detectable unlabeled ABA and a major predominate ion at m/z 194 for the [<sup>2</sup>H<sub>4</sub>]ABA isotopomer. Endogenous ABA concentration was thus determined from the ion abundance at the base peak of each compound: the m/z value of 190 for plant ABA, and the m/z value of 194 for  $[{}^{2}H_{4}]ABA$  using the isotope dilution equation which accounts for the isotopomer distribution in the internal standard (Liu et al. 2012).

### 3.2.5 Lipid peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation (LP) was measured based on the formation of thiobarbituric acidreactive substances (TBARS) according to the modified method of Du and Bramalage (1992). Absorbance was measured spectrophotometrically at 440, 532 and 600 nm (UV/VIS Unico SpectroQuest 2800) in order to correct the interference generated by TBARS-sugars complexes. The TBARS content was expressed as nmol of malondialdehyde (MDA) per gram of dry weight (nmol MDA  $g^{-1}$  DW).

### 3.2.6 Antioxidant activity determination

Antioxidant activity was determined in leaves by the DPPH (2.2-diphenyl-1-picryl-hydrazyl) method described by Chinnici et al. (2004). Absorbance was measured to 515 nm (UV/VIS Unico SpectroQuest 2800). Antioxidant activity was expressed as mg of Trolox equivalent per gram of dry weight (mg  $TE^{-1}$  DW).

### 3.2.7 Determination of total phenols

The Folin-Ciocalteau method was used to determine total phenols (TP) (Singleton and Rossi, 1965). Absorbance was measured spectrophotometrically at 765 nm (UV/VIS Unico SpectroQuest 2800) using caffeic acid as standard.

### 3.2.8 Total and profile of anthocyanins

Total anthocyanins (TA) were determined as previously described by Strack and Wray (1989) by the pH differential method. Absorbance was measured at 530 and 675 nm (UV/VIS Unico SpectroQuest 2800). Total content of anthocyanins was expressed as mg of cyanidin-glucoside equivalent (C3G) per gram of dry weight. To determine the anthocyanin profile, the protocol for anthocyanidin determination was used as described by Ribera et al. (2010). Determinations were performed using a High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) system (Jasco LC-Net IIADC) equipped with a photodiode array detector (DAD) (Jasco MD 2015 Plus) and separations were done on a Kromasil Reversed-Phase (RP-18)  $C_{18}$  column (250 x 4.6 mm).
### 3.2.9 Total RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis

Total RNA was isolated from 200 mg of leaves by the method describe by Jaakola et al. (2001). RNA concentrations were measured spectrophotometrically using a Spectral Scanning Multimode Reader Varioskan Flash  $\mu$ Drop<sup>TM</sup> Plate (Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, USA). Likewise, RNA purity was determined using the A260/A280 and A260/A230 ratios. RNA quality was also evaluated visually through gel electrophoresis of the denatured RNA. First-strand cDNA was synthesized from 2 µg of total RNA from *A. chilensis* leaves, which was reverse-transcribed by M-MLV (Promega, MA, USA) following the manufacturer's recommendations. To remove genomic DNA, the cDNA was cleaned according to Jaakola et al. (2004) using a DNA gel extraction kit (Millipore Corporation, Bedford, MA, USA).

### 3.2.10 Real-time quantitative PCR (qRT-PCR) analysis

Quantitative real-time (qRT-PCR) reactions were conducted in order to determine the expression patterns of *AcNCED1* and *AcUFGT* in *A. chilensis* leaves. All qRT-PCR reactions were performed using Brilliant II SYBR Green QPCR Master Mix (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, California) in an ABI 7300 Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City CA, USA) using the procedure described by Inostroza-Blancheteau et al. (2014). *NCED* and *Elongation Factor 1 alpha (EF1a)* sequences of *Vitis vininfera*, *Populus euphratica*, and *Prunus persica* were obtained from Genbank®. Sequence alignments were done using the Clustal Omega program (www.ebi.ac.uk) and primers were design using AmplifX 1.7.0. Transcripts were sequenced and confirmed in Genbank®. Finally, specific primers were design based on the sequences in AmplifX1.7.0. *Aristotelia* 

*chilensis UFGT* primers were kindly providing by Dr. Victor Polanco from Universidad Mayor, Chile. The specific primers used in this study are shown in Table 1, which amplified 180 bp fragments. *EF1a* is a stably expressed gene that was used as the internal control. All the experiments were performed using three biological replicates. Cycling conditions were 95 °C for 10 min, followed by 40 cycles at 94 °C for 30 s, 60 °C for 30 s, and 72 °C for 30 s. Gene expression data (Ct values) were employed to quantify relative gene expression using the comparative  $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$  method described by Livak and Schmittgen (2001).

**Table 1.** Primer sequences used for quantitative real-time reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) analysis of NCED1 and UFGT genes. The *EF1a* was used as an internal control.

Gene	Forward primer (5' to 3')	Reverse primer (5` to 3`)
NCED1	AAA GAC CCG GTT CGC GTA CT	TCT GAA TTG GGG TCT CTG GGA A
UFGT	TTC CAG GAA TGT CTC AAG TA	CAA AGG AGT TTA TGA AGA CT
EF1a	CTC CTG GGC ATC GTG ACT TT	CCA AGG GTG AAA GCA AGC AA

### **3.2.11** Experimental design and data analysis

A complete randomized design was used with five replicates for each treatment and time. The results are expressed as mean and standard error of the mean ( $\pm$ SE) for each treatment. All data passed the normality and equal variance Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests. Means were analyzed using a three-way ANOVA, where the factors were time, leaf age and treatment. The Tukey multiple comparison test at  $p \leq 0.05$  was used. Sigma Stat 3.5 (SYSTAT Software Inc.) was used to performed the statistical analysis. Relationships among variables were examined using Pearson correlation analysis at a significance level of P < 0.05. The resulting p-values were corrected using one R script displayed by the Rbio software (www.biometria.ufv.br). A Principal Component Analysis was performed to reduce the dimensionality of the data set and identify the variables that explained a higher proportion of the total variance (Minitab<sup>®</sup> 17 statistics program, Minitab Inc., Philadelphia).

### 3.3 Results

### 3.3.1 Growth and plant water status during drought stress

After 20 days under water limiting conditions it was observed that the RGR was strongly affected by drought stress, where stressed (NI) plants displayed a reduction of 71% in the growth rate compared to well-watered (DI) plants at the end of the experiment (Fig. 1). A 42% RGR reduction was observed after 10 days of drought treatment, reaching its lowest growth on the 20<sup>th</sup> day. When plants were subjected to severe drought stress, leaf water potential ( $\Psi_w$ ) decreased significantly through the experiment, where young leaves were significantly more affected than fully-expanded leaves from 5<sup>th</sup> day of drought stress (Fig. 2A). In this parameter, young leaves of stressed plants decreased their  $\Psi_w$  around 6-fold with respect to control plants at the end of the experiment; meanwhile, fully-expanded leaves of NI plants reduced their  $\Psi_w$  around 5-fold regarding to fully-expanded leaves of DI plants at the same time (Fig. 2A). Concerning RWC, DI and NI plants maintained their RWC values during the first days of the experiment, decreasing significantly from 10<sup>th</sup> day.

Young and fully-expanded leaves of NI plants showed a decrease of about 40-45% in their RWC compared to their control plants at the end of the experiment (Fig. 2B).



**Figure 1.** Relative growth rates of *Aristotelia chilensis* plants grown under two water treatments; Daily-irrigated (DI) and Non-irrigated (NI). All values represent averages of three biological replicates  $\pm$ SE. *Asterisks* indicate significant differences between treatments for the same day ( $P \le 0.05$ ).



**Figure 2.** Plant water status; (A) Leaf water potential and (B) Relative water content in young and fully-expanded leaves of *Aristotelia chilensis* plants grown under two water treatments; Daily-irrigated (DI) and Non-irrigated (NI). All values represent averages of

Days after start of treatment

5

10

20

30

0

three biological replicates  $\pm$ SE. *Asterisks* indicate significant differences between treatments for the same day and leaf age ( $P \le 0.05$ ).

## 3.3.2 ABA levels under drought stress

Throughout the experiment period, significant differences ( $p \le 0.05$ ) were observed in the endogenous ABA levels in leaves between NI and DI plants from 5<sup>th</sup> day, after withholding (Fig. 3). When plants were subjected to severe drought stress (day 20), ABA levels of young and fully-expanded leaves increased significantly to reach around 6-fold with respect to control plants. Meanwhile, young and fully-expanded leaves of well-watered plants maintained their endogenous ABA levels relatively constant around 2.3 µg g<sup>-1</sup> DW. When we compared young and fully-expanded leaves of NI plants, we observed significant differences between their ABA levels, being higher in fully-expanded leaves (about 20%) than in young leaves (Fig. 3).



**Figure 3.** Endogenous abscisic acid in young and fully-expanded leaves of *Aristotelia chilensis* plants grown under two water treatments; Daily-irrigated (DI) and Non-irrigated (NI). All values represent averages of three biological replicates  $\pm$ SE. *Asterisks* indicate significant differences between treatments for the same day and leaf age ( $P \le 0.05$ ).

### 3.3.3 Lipid peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation (LP) in leaves of stressed plants, including young and fully-expanded leaves, showed a significant increase throughout the experiment (Fig. 4). Young and fully-expanded leaves increased their LP levels about 50% on the 20<sup>th</sup> day of drought stress, with young leaves affected earlier than fully-expanded leaves, showing an increase in their LP levels from the 5<sup>th</sup> day (Fig. 4).



**Figure 4.** Lipid peroxidation in young and fully-expanded leaves of *Aristotelia chilensis* plants grown under two water treatments; Daily-irrigated (DI) and Non-irrigated (NI). All values represent averages of three biological replicates  $\pm$ SE. *Asterisks* indicate significant differences between treatments for the same day and leaf age ( $P \le 0.05$ ).

### **3.3.4** Antioxidant activity and total phenols

The antioxidant activity (AA) only showed statistically significant differences in young leaves from the 10<sup>th</sup> day of drought stress ( $p \le 0.05$ ), where it increased about 35% with respect to control leaves of the same leaf age (Fig. 5A). In contrast, fully-expanded leaves of stressed plants only showed an increase at the end of the experiment. An increase of

about 22% was found in total phenols of young and fully-expanded leaves from the 10<sup>th</sup> day of drought stress (Fig. 5B).



**Figure 5.** Antioxidant activity (A) and total phenols (B) in young and fully-expanded leaves of *Aristotelia chilensis* plants grown under two water treatments; Daily-irrigated

(DI) and Non-irrigated (NI). All values represent averages of three biological replicates  $\pm$ SE. *Asterisks* indicate significant differences between treatments for the same day and leaf age ( $P \le 0.05$ ).

### **3.3.5** Total anthocyanin content and profile

The total anthocyanin (TA) content increased in young and fully-expanded leaves of stressed plants from the 10<sup>th</sup> day of the experiment with respect to their well-watered plant leaves. Fully-expanded leaves of NI plants had a significantly ( $p \le 0.05$ ) higher TA content compared to young leaves of the same plants (Fig. 6). The TA content was higher in fullyexpanded leaves at day 20 of drought stress, where it had increased 7-fold compared to control plant leaves of the same leaf age. Meanwhile, young leaves of NI plants increased their TA content 2-fold compared to DI plants. Moreover, the anthocyanidin profile was different throughout the experiment. HPLC analysis showed that cyanidin was present in both leaf types in control and stressed plants during the experiment. However, cvanidin was increasing from the 10<sup>th</sup> day in young leaves and from the 5<sup>th</sup> day in fully-expanded leaves of stressed plants, remaining constant in control plants throughout the experiment (Fig. 7b). The highest cyanidin increment was found at the 20<sup>th</sup> day of the experiment, where cyanidin increased 17-fold in young leaves of NI plants compared to their DI plants. On the other hand, we detected malvidin only in fully-expanded leaves from the 5<sup>th</sup> day of the experiment. However, there was a significant increase (30-fold) in fully-expanded leaves compared to well-watered plants at the end of the experiment (Day 20). Interestingly, delphinidin was only detected in fully-expanded leaves of stressed plants at the 20<sup>th</sup> day of the experiment, when plants were subjected to severe drought stress (Fig. 7a)



**Figure 6.** Total anthocyanins in young and fully-expanded leaves of *Aristotelia chilensis* plants grown under two water treatments; Daily-irrigated (DI) and Non-irrigated (NI). All values represent averages of three biological replicates  $\pm$ SE. *Asterisks* indicate significant differences between treatments for the same day and leaf age ( $P \le 0.05$ ).





water treatments; Daily-irrigated (DI) and Non-irrigated (NI). Mv=Malvidin. Dp=Delphinidin. n.d.=non-detected. All values represent averages of three biological replicates ±SE. Different upper case letters indicate significant differences between treatments for the same day and leaf age, different lower case letters among days for the same treatment and leaf age, and asterisks between leaf age for the same treatment and day  $(P \le 0.05)$ .

### 3.3.6 Gene expression analysis under drought stress

The expression *NCED1* and *UFGT*, involved in ABA and anthocyanin biosynthesis pathways, respectively, was investigated in *A. chilensis* in response to drought stress by qRT-PCR. The *NCED1* gene showed a basal expression during the first days of the experiment (until the 5<sup>th</sup> day) in young and fully-expanded leaves of stressed plants (Fig. 8A). After that, *NCED1* expression was enhanced 8-fold at the 10<sup>th</sup> day of the experiment likely as a consequence of intensified drought stress severity. *NCED1* reached the highest expression at the 20<sup>th</sup> day of the experiment, when drought stress was more severe. Meanwhile, control plants remained constant in their NCED1 expression level throughout the experiment. We observed that fully-expanded leaves of stressed plants had higher *NCED1* expression during the experiment as compared to young leaves. On the other hand, *UFGT* expression increased significantly (2-fold) in fully-expanded leaves of stressed plants from the 10<sup>th</sup> day of drought stress with respect to the control (Fig. 8B). Fully expanded leaves of stressed plants showed the highest *UFGT* expression (5-fold) at the 20<sup>th</sup> day of drought stress with respect to control leaves. Meanwhile, *UFGT* expression in young

leaves of stressed plants did not change significantly during the experiment, with exception being at the 20<sup>th</sup> day where a slight increase was observed (Fig. 8B).



**Figure 8.** qRT-PCR analysis of *NCED1* (A) and *UFGT* (B) mRNA levels in young and fully-expanded leaves of *Aristotelia chilensis* plants grown under two water treatments;

Daily-irrigated (DI) and Non-irrigated (NI). Three independent biological replicates  $\pm$ SE were used for this study. All data were normalized to geometric mean value from *AcEF1a* internal control. *Asterisks* indicate significant differences between treatments for the same day and leaf age ( $P \le 0.05$ ).

#### 3.3.7 Correlation analysis of all traits measured

Pearson correlation analysis was performed to determine the level of association between traits measured in *A. chilensis*. First, by using data only from control treatments in the correlation analysis, we did not find any significant correlation between the variable measured (data not shown). Nevertheless, when Pearson correlation analysis was performed with all traits measured from drought stressed plants 14 significant correlations (P < 0.05) were observed. The correlation coefficients are presented in a correlation matrix (Fig. 9). Among the significant correlations, we found seven strong positive correlations between transcript levels of NCED and UFGT and ABA levels (r = 0.98) and total anthocyanins (r = 0.97), respectively. By contrast, we found that plant water status variables ( $\Psi_w$  and RWC) were negatively correlated with most of the metabolite and transcript data sets (Fig. 9).



**Figure 9.** Correlation matrix based on Pearson coefficients derived from physiological, metabolic and transcript data from *Aristotelia chilensis* in young and fully-expanded leaves grown under Non-irrigated (NI) treatment for 20 days. Correlation coefficients are presented in colors, and the significant ones are indicated in bold (P). In addition, the asterisk represents significances based on p-value corrected by FDR correction (Bonferroni-Hochberg). Abbreviations: Abscisic acid (ABA), total anthocyanins (TA), cyanidin (Cy), antioxidant activity (AA), leaf water potential (LWP), total phenols (TP), relative water content (RWC), Lipid peroxidation (TBARS), 9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase (NCED), UDP-glucose:flavonoid 3-O-glucosyl transferase (UFGT).

### 3.3.8 Principal component analysis

All measured variables were used to perform the analysis of the principal components. Through the PCA results, it was possible to observe a clear influence of the drought stress

modulating some parameters of the stressed plants. Interestingly, all the control treatments remained in the same group. The first component (PC1) explained 75.8% of the variation and the second component (PC2) only 17.2%, which shows that PC2 did not distinguish the plants under control and drought stress. This result turned our attention to the separation explained by PC1 (Fig. 10A). We observed that the analysis of principal components separated three groups, whose were also confirmed by Euclidean distance. Group I, includes all control plants and plants subjected to drought stress for 5 days; group II, includes the plants (young and fully-expanded leaves) with 10 days under drought stress and the plants that went through 20 days of stress; and group III composed only by fullyexpanded leaves of drought stressed plants at 20<sup>th</sup> day. When we analyzed the variables that contributed to the separation of the groups, it was verified that the grouping of control plants together with those treated for 0 and 5 days (group I) was separated mainly by RWC and LWP variables. However, the plants that remained under stress for 10 and 20 days and were clustered with groups II and III, were separated by AA, TBARS, total phenols, ABA, *NCED* transcript levels, total anthocyanins, cyanidin and *UFGT* transcript levels. However, the fully-expanded leaves of plants that remained in the stress for 20 days were more influenced by total anthocyanin, cyanidin and UFGT expression levels (Fig.10B).



**Figure 10.** Principal component analysis. (A) Score plot derived data of young (square) and fully-expanded leaves (circle) from *Aristotelia chilensis*, grown under daily-irrigated (C;

blue gradient), and Non-irrigated treatments in different days [0 days (T0), 5 days (T5), 10 days (T10) 20 days (T20); red gradient]. The large circles represent the three clusters formed by the Euclidean distance method. (B) In Loading plot the direction and length of the lines are directly proportional to variables importance in separating groups. PC1, principal component 1; PC2, principal component 2. Abbreviations: Relative water content (RWC), leaf water potential (LWP), antioxidant activity (AA), abscisic acid (ABA), Lipid peroxidation (TBARS), 9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase (NCED), UDP-glucose:flavonoid 3-O-glucosyl transferase (UFGT).

### **3.4 Discussion**

Climate change is predicted to exacerbate water limitation in several areas around the world, affecting crop production. In this sense, several studies have shown the negative effects of drought stress on physiology, metabolism and plant growth in different species such as *Phaseolus vulgaris, Glycine max, Arabidopsis thaliana, Beta maritima, Pistacia lentiscus and Lavatera maritime* (Kramer, 1983; Miyashita et al. 2005; Ohashi et al. 2006; Galmés et al. 2007; Choat et al. 2012; Li et al. 2017).  $\Psi_w$  and RWC decrease by 30 to 40% in plants by moderate drought stress (Galmés et al., 2007), which in our conditions was observed at day 10 of water withholding. A larger decrease was observed at severe water stress in *A. chilensis* after 20 days under drought, reaching  $\Psi_w$  values between -3 and -5 MPa (Fig. 1, 2A-B). Young leaves of stressed plants showed a higher decrease in  $\Psi_w$  compared to fully-expanded leaves. In fact, in agreement with our results, Saito et al. (2007) reported that  $\Psi_w$  of young leaves was lower than fully-expanded leaves in *Quercus* 

species. This can be attributed to that  $\Psi_w$  of young leaves must be lower than fullyexpanded leaves to ensure water flow through the plant. However, higher  $\Psi_w$  of fullyexpanded leaves (less negative) led us to consider that these leaves are more effective at closing stomata for maintaining turgor under drought stress (Patakas et al. 1997). It may be also possible that fully-expanded leaves have a higher capacity to synthesize ABA, which is the most important response mechanism involved in stomatal closure induced by drought stress (Dodd, 2005; Choudhary et al. 2012). In our experiment, ABA significantly increased in stressed plants, including young and fully-expanded leaves, reaching its maximum ABA level on the 20<sup>th</sup> day (Fig. 3). Such elevated ABA levels have been previously reported in Brassica napus and Vitis vinifera (Berli et al. 2010; Qaderi et al. 2012). Although, ABA biosynthesis involves many steps, the 9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase (NCED) enzyme is considered a key regulatory step during ABA biosynthesis in drought stress, due to the observation that NCED expression is induced by drought stress before ABA is accumulated (Finkelstein, 2013). In agreement with previous studies (Zhang et al. 2009; Karppinen et al. 2013), NCED1 expression was increased significantly in NI plants, concomitant with ABA concentration starting on day 10 of the experiment, when  $\Psi_w$ and RWC decreased from moderate to severe drought stress (Fig 3, 8A). In addition, NCED1 expression and ABA concentration were positively correlated (r = 0.98) in our study (Fig. 9). NCED overexpression in transgenic Arabidopsis increased ABA levels, promoting downstream ABA-inducible genes, and increasing drought tolerance (Luchi et al. 2001). ABA modulates target gene expression by the ABA-responsive element (ABRE) binding protein/ABRE binding factor (ABRE/ABF) transcription factors (Singh and Laxmi, 2015). Thus, Yoshida et al. (2010) reported growth inhibition, and downregulation of LEA

class genes, which are proteins widely recognized to play crucial roles in drought stress tolerance, in *Arabidopsis* and *Oryza sativa* mutants deficient in AREB/ABF transcription factors (*abre1, abre2, and abf3*). Their results suggest that ABA plays an important role in drought stress tolerance activated by ABRE/ABF transcription factors. In our studies, fully-expanded leaves always had a slightly significant ( $P \le 0.05$ ) higher ABA concentration than young leaves throughout the experiment in stressed plants. Similar to our results, Chen et al. (2013) and Zdunek and Lips (2001) reported that *Triticum aestivum* and *Pisum sativum* fully-expanded leaves had 30% higher ABA concentrations than young leaves when plants were subjected to drought stress. Therefore, we can suggest that higher *NCED1* expression and the subsequent higher ABA concentration seems to contribute to drought stress tolerance, maintaining cell turgor (less negative  $\Psi_w$ ) mainly in fully-expanded leaves.

When plants are subjected to drought stress, increases of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in different cellular compartments such as chloroplasts, peroxisomes, and mitochondria occur (Cruz de Carvalho, 2008; You and Chan, 2015). These ROS are highly reactive and cause damage to DNA, proteins, carbohydrates, and lipids, which results in oxidative stress (Gill and Tuteja, 2010). The LP was assayed as an index of oxidative stress in our experiment. The LP showed a significant increase in stressed plants including young and fully-expanded leaves (Fig. 4). However, at day 5, young leaves of drought stressed plants increased 60% their LP compared to fully-expanded leaves, which did not change their LP at that time (Fig. 4), indicating that young leaves were earlier affected by drought stress. Both leaf types increased their LP levels about 50% on the 20<sup>th</sup> day of drought stress compared to control plants. In agreement with our results, Cechin et al (2010) reported higher LP levels (about 30%) in young leaves compared to fully-expanded leaves of

Helianthus annuus subjected to drought stress during 6 days. In a previous study, higher LP levels in fully-expanded leaves could be attributed to the higher amount of chloroplasts compared to young leaves (Lepedus et al. 2011), suggesting that they are the main organelle generating ROS under drought stress, and LP levels are thus leaf age-dependent. Taken together, these findings suggest that fully-expanded leaves of stressed A. chilensis plants have a strong antioxidant mechanism to tolerate drought stress for longer time and to maintain lipid peroxidation at the same level as young leaves in our experiment. A. chilensis plants showed higher AA in young leaves starting on day 10 of drought stress, while total phenols increased in young and fully-expanded leaves from the 10<sup>th</sup> day of the experiment (Fig. 5B). Our finding did not differ from other reports, where higher AA and total phenols under drought stress have been reported previously in several species (Martins et al. 2016; Gharibi et al. 2016; Puente-Garza et al. 2017). However, total phenols seemed to be ineffective alone to alleviate LP produced by drought stress in fully-expanded leaves. Among phenolic compounds, anthocyanins are considered antioxidant compounds, which can donate electrons or generate protons, scavenging ROS (Zhang and Tsao, 2016). Thus, it has been reported that anthocyanin have a greater capacity to increase tolerance to abiotic stresses, including drought stress (Fini et al., 2012; Yuan et al., 2012; Nakabayashi et al. 2014; Li et al. 2017; Naing et al. 2017). In our study, TA increased significantly in stressed plants in response to drought stress (Fig. 6). Surprisingly, TA content was higher in fullyexpanded leaves at the 20<sup>th</sup> day of drought stress compared to control plant leaves of the same age, while tri-hydroxylated anthocyanin such as malvidin and delphinidin were detected under severe drought stress at the end of the experiment. The UFGT gene encodes a key enzyme in anthocyanin biosynthesis (Luengo-Escobar et al. 2017) and both

Castellarin et al. (2007a) and André et al. (2009) showed that UFGT expression was increased under drought stress, resulting in increased total anthocyanins. In fact, in our study, a positive correlation between UFGT expression and total anthocyanin (r = 0.97) was found (Fig. 9). UFGT is highly modulated by transcriptional regulation via transcription factors (Nguyen et al. 2017). The myeloblastosis viral oncogene homolog (MYB) transcription factors are the best known key component regulating anthocyanin biosynthesis, which binds to the promoters of anthocyanin structural genes (Xu et al. 2017). In this sense, Nakabayashi et al. (2014) reported that Arabidopsis plants overexpressing MYB12 and MYB75 transcription factors, both involved on anthocyanin biosynthesis, over-accumulated anthocyanins in drought stressed plants. This accumulation was key to plant survival, suggesting that anthocyanin biosynthesis is highly controlled at the transcriptional level, enhancing drought stress tolerance. Our findings suggest that drought stress induces higher accumulation of anthocyanins levels due to up-regulation of the anthocyanin biosynthetic pathway, triggering tri-hydroxylated anthocyanins biosynthesis in fully-expended leaves, which have been shown to have significant antioxidant activity.

Most of the reports on anthocyanin changes with water potential have considered ABA as the primary signal involved on anthocyanin biosynthesis regulation under drought stress (Gagné et al. 2011; Kondo et al. 2014; Murcia et al. 2017; González-Villagra et al. 2017). Thus, when ABA increases under drought stress, it potentially regulates the activation of anthocyanin synthesis at the cytoplasmic level. In fact, Shen et al. (2014) reported genetic evidence where the ABA-induced MYBA activates the promoters of anthocyanin biosynthesis structural genes, suggesting that this MYB plays an important role in ABA-induced anthocyanin biosynthesis. In the same sense, González-Villagra et al.

(2017) proposed a molecular model for ABA and miRNA156 involving on the induction of anthocyanin biosynthesis under drought stress. This proposed model shows that ABA binds to the ABA receptor and induces upregulation of microRNA156, which in turns induces greater levels of anthocyanin gene expression, and thereby higher anthocyanin levels, indicating that this could be an important strategy to tolerate drought stress. In fact, Shen et al. (2014) reported a direct relation between ABA and anthocyanin biosynthesis in Prunus avium fruit, where the suppression of NCED1 decreases the transcript of biosynthetic anthocyanin genes and transcription factor PacMYBA, these results in the observed decrease in anthocyanin levels. In summary, our study revealed that A. chilensis plants showed an antioxidant mechanism to cope with drought stress. Plants subjected to drought stress; mainly fully-expanded leaves of stressed A. chilensis had higher ABA concentrations, total anthocyanin levels, and tri-hydroxylated anthocyanins, which together might contribute to the maintenance of lipid peroxidation. These results are also supported by a measured higher level of NCED and UFGT expression, which allowed A. chilensis to increase anthocyanin biosynthesis, thus contributing to drought stress tolerance.

#### **3.5 Conclusions**

These results provide a more comprehensive analysis of the mechanisms that underlie how *A. chilensis* is able to cope with drought stress and shows that between young and fully-expanded leaves different sensitivity to this stress is due to the leave's differing ability to synthesize specific anthocyanins with antioxidant activity minimizes the effects of oxidative stress. In addition, this ability to synthesize different and higher amount of anthocyanins could be related to higher *NCED1* and *MYB* expression and ABA levels, enhancing drought stress tolerance. Further studies are required to clarify the specific ABA signaling mechanism involved on anthocyanin biosynthesis in relation to tolerating drought stress.

### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the Comisión Nacional de Investigación Científica y Tecnológica by PhD grant to JG-V (CONICYT at N° 21130602). We also thank BestPlant Co., Curico, Chile, for providing the maqui plants. The authors JG-V and MR-D thanks Dr. Victor Polanco from Universidad Mayor for kindly providing Ac*UFGT* primer sequences. JG-V thanks Mariela Mora Garrido, biologist, and Mario Díaz Matus, biotechnologist, for their collaboration in HPLC-DAD and qRT-PCR analyses, respectively. Research at the University of Minnesota was supported by U.S. National Science Foundation grant IOS1238812 and by funds from the Gordon and Margaret Bailey Endowment for Environmental Horticulture.

### References

- Agati G, Azzarello E, Pollastri S, Tattini M (2012) Flavonoids as antioxidants in plants: location and functional significance. Plant Sci. 196: 67-76
- André C, Schafleitner R, Legay S, Lefèvre I, Alvarado C, Nomberto G, Hoffmann L, Hausman JF, Larondelle Y, Evers D (2009) Gene expression changes related to the

production of phenolic compounds in potato tubers grown under drought stress. Phytochem. 70: 1107-1116

- Bastías A, Correa F, Rojas P, Almada R, Muñoz C, Sagredo B (2016) Identification and characterization of microsatellite loci in maqui (*Aristotelia chilensis* (Mol.) using next-generation sequencing (NGS). Plos One 11(7): e0159825
- Berli F, Moreno D, Piccoli P, Hespanhol-Viana L, Silva, MF, Bressnan-Smith R, Cavagnaro B, Bottini R (2010) Abscisic acid is involved in the response of grapes (*Vitis vinifera* L.) cv. Malbec leaf tissues to ultravioltec-B radiation by enhancing ultraviolet-absorbing compounds, antioxidant enzymes and membrane sterols. Plant Cell Environ. 33: 1-10
- Borsani O, Gonzalez-Neves G, Ferrer M, Monza J (2010) Anthocyanins accumulation and genes-related expression in berries of cv. Tannat (*Vitis vinifera* L.). J. Appl. Hort. 12(1): 3-9
- Boyer J (1982) Plant productivity and environment. Sci. 8: 218-443
- Castellarin S, Matthews M, Di Gaspero G, Gambetta G (2007a) Water deficits accelerate ripening and induce changes in gene expression regulating flavonoid biosynthesis in grape berries. Planta 227:101-112
- Castellarin S, Pfeiffer A, Sivilotti P, Degan M, Peterlunger E, Di Gaspero G (2007b) Transcriptional regulation of anthocyanin biosynthesis in ripening of grapevine under seasonal water deficit. Plant Cell Environ. 30: 1381-1399
- Cechin I, Corniani N, Funis TF, Cataneo AC (2010) Differential responses between mature and young leaves of sunflower plants to oxidative stress caused by water deficit. Ciencia Rural 40(6): 1290-1294

- Chen L, Dood I, Davies W, Wilkinson S (2013) Ethylene limits abscisic acid- or soil drying-induced stomatal closure in aged wheat leaves. Plant Cell Environ. 36: 1850-1859
- Chinnici F, Bendini A, Gaiani A, Riponi C (2004) Radical scavenging activities of peels and pulps from cv. Golden delicious apples as related to their phenolic composition. J. Agric. Food Chem. 52(15): 4684-4689
- Choat B, Jansen S, Brodribb TJ, Cochard H, Delzon S, Bhaskar R, Zanne AE (2012) Global convergence in the vulnerability of forests to drought. Nature 491: 752–755
- Choudhary R, Saroha AE, Swarnkar PL (2012) Effect of abscisic acid and hydrogen peroxide on antioxidant enzymes in *Syzygium cumini* plant. J Food Sci Technol 49(5): 649-652
- Cruz de Carvalho MH (2008) Drought stress and reactive oxygen species. Plant Signal Behav. 3(3): 156-165
- Deluc L, Quilici1 D, Decendit A, Grimplet J, Wheatley M, Schlauch K, Mérillon J, Cushman J, Cramer G (2009) Water deficit alters differentially metabolic pathways affecting important flavor and quality traits in grape berries of Cabernet Sauvignon and Chardonnay. BMC Genomics 10: 212
- Dobrev PI, Havlicek L, Vagner M, Malbeck J, Kaminek M (2005) Purification and determination of plant hormones auxin and abscisic acid using solid phase extraction and two-dimensional high performance liquid chromatography. J Chromatogr A 1075(1-2): 159-166

- Dodd IC (2005) Root-to-shoot signaling: Assessing the roles of "up" in the up and down world of long distance signaling in Planta. Plant and Soil 274(1-2): 251-270
- Du Z, Bramalage WJ (1992) Modified thiobarbituric acid assay for measuring lipid oxidation in sugar-rich plant tissue extracts. J Agr Food Chem 40: 1566–1570
- Fini A, Guidi L, Ferrini F, Brunetti C, Di Ferdinando M, Biricolti S, Pollastri S, Calamai L, Tattini M (2012) Drought stress has contrasting effects on antioxidant enzymes activity and phenylpropanoid biosynthesis in *Fraxinus ornus* leaves: an excess light stress affair?. J Plant Physiol 169: 929–939
- Finkelstein R (2013) Abscisic acid synthesis and response. Arabidopsis Book 11: e0166
- Fredes C, Montenegero G, Zoffoli JP, Gómez M, Robert P (2012) Polyphenol content and antioxidant activity of maqui (*Aristotelia chilensis* [Molina] Stuntz) during fruit development and maturation in Central Chile. Chileanjar 72(4): 582-589
- Fredes C, Yousef G, Robert P, Grace M, Lila MA, Gómez M, Gebauer M, Montenegro G,
  (2014) Anthocyanin profiling of wild maqui berries (*Aristotelia chilensis* [Mol.]
  Stuntz) from different geographical regions in Chile. J. Sci. Food Agr. 94(13): 2639-2648
- Gagné S, Cluzet S, Mérillon JM, Gény L (2011) ABA initiates anthocyanin production in grape cell cultures. J Plant Growth Regul 30: 1-10
- Galmés J, Flexas J, Savé R, Medrano H (2007) Water relations and stomatal characteristics of Mediterranean plants with different growth forms and leaf habits: response to water stress and recovery. Plant Soil 290: 139-155

- Gharibi S, Tabatabaei BES, Saeidi G, Goli SAH (2016) Effect of drought stress on total phenolic, lipid peroxidation, and antioxidant activity of *Achillea* species. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 178(4): 796-809
- Gill SS, Tuteja N (2010) Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Plant Physiol Biochem 48: 909–930
- González-Villagra J, Kurepin LV, Reyes-Díaz M (2017) Evaluating the involvement and interaction of abscisic acid and miRNA156 in the induction of anthocyanin biosynthesis in drought-stressed plants. Planta 246(2): 299-312
- Griesser M, Weingart G, Schoedl-Hummel K, Neumann N, Becker M, Varmuza K, Liebner F, Schuhmacher R, Forneck A (2015) Severe drought stress is affecting selected primary metabolites, polyphenols, and volatile metabolites in grapevine leaves (*Vitis vinifera* cv. Pinot noir). Plant Physiol Biochem 88: 17-26
- Hoffman A (2005) Flora silvestre de Chile, zona araucana.252 p. 5° ed. Ed. Fundación Claudio Gay. Santiago, Chile
- Hoffmann WA, Poorter H (2002) Avoiding bias in calculations of relative growth rate. Ann Bot 90: 37–42
- Ibañez S, Rosa M, Hilal M, González JA, Prado FE (2008) Leaves of *Citrus aurantifolia* exhibit a different sensibility to solar UV-B radiation according to development stage in relation to photosynthetic pigments and UV-B absorbing compounds production. J Photochem Photobiol B 90(3): 163-169
- Inostroza-Blancheteau C, Reyes-Díaz M, Arellano A, Latsague M, Acevedo P, Loyola R, Arce-Johnson P, Alberdi M (2014) Effects of UV-B radiation on anatomical

characteristics, phenolic compounds and gene expression of the phenylpropanoid pathway in highbush blueberry leaves. Plant Physiol Biochem 85: 85-95

- Jaakola L, Pirttila AM, Halonen M, Hohtola A (2001) Isolation of high quality RNA from Bilberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus* L.) fruit. Mol Biotechnol 19: 201-203
- Jaakola L, Pirttila AM, Vuosku J, Hohtola A (2004) Method based in electrophoresis and gel extraction for obtaining genomic DNA-free cDNA without DNase treatment. BioTechniques 37 (5): 744-748
- Jiang Y, Joyce D (2003) ABA effects on ethylene production, PAL activity, anthocyanin and phenolic contents of strawberry fruit. Plant Growth Regul 39: 171-174
- Karppinen K, Hirvela E, Nevala T, Sipari N, Suokas M, Jaakola L (2013) Changes in the abscisic acid levels and related gene expression during fruit development and ripening in bilberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus* L.). Phytochemistry 95: 127-134
- Kondo S, Tomiyama H, Rodyoung A, Okawa K, Ohara H, Sugaya S, Terahara N, Hirai N (2014) Abscisic acid metabolism and anthocyanin synthesis in grape skin are affected by light emitting diode (LED) irradiation at night. J Plant Physiol 171: 823-829
- <u>Kovinich</u> N, <u>Kayanja</u> G, Chanoca A, Otegui MS, Grotewold E (2015) Abiotic stresses induce different localizations of anthocyanins in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Signal Behav. 10 (7): e1027850
- Kramer PJ (1983) Water relations of plants. Academic Press, Inc., New York, 489 p.
- Lepedus H, Gaca, V, Viljevac M, Kovac S, Fulgosi H, Simic D, Jurkovic V, Cesar V (2011) Changes in photosynthetic performance and antioxidative strategies during

maturation of Norway maple (*Acer latanoides* L.) leaves. Plant Physiol Biochem 49: 368–376

- Li P, Li YJ, Zhang FJ, Zhang GZ, Jiang XY, Yu HM, Hou BK (2017) The Arabidopsis UDP-glycosyltransferases UGT79B2 and UGT79B3, contribute to cold, salt and drought stress tolerance via modulating anthocyanin accumulation. Plant J 89: 85-103
- Liu X, Hegeman A, Gardner G, Cohen JD (2012) Protocol: High-throughput and quantitative assays of auxin and auxin precursors from minute tissue samples. Plant Methods 8: 31
- Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD (2001) Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the  $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$  method. Methods 25: 402-408
- Luchi S, Kobayashi M, Naramoto M, Seki M, Kato T, Tabata S, Kakubari Y, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (2001) Regulation of drought tolerance by gene manipulation of 9-cisepoxycarotenoid dioxygenase, a key enzyme in abscisic acid biosynthesis in *Arabidopsis*. Plant J 27(4): 325-333
- Luengo-Escobar E, Silva FMO, Acevedo P, Nunes-Nesi A, Alberdi M, Reyes-Díaz M (2017) Different levels of UV-B resistance in *Vaccinium corymbosum* cultivars reveal distinct backgrounds of phenylpropanoids metabolites. Plant Physiol Biochem 118: 541-550
- Ma D, Sun D, Wang C, Li Y, Guo T (2014) Expression of flavonoid biosynthesis genes and accumulation of flavonoid in wheat leaves in response to drought stress. Plant Physiol Biochem 80: 60-6.
- Martins MQ, Rodrigues WP, Fortunato AS, Leitao AE, Rodrigues AP, Pais IP, Martins LD, Silva MJ, Reboredo FH, Partelli FL, Campostrini E, Tomaz MA, Scotti-Campos P,

Ribeiro-Barros AI, Lidon FJC, DaMatta FM, Ramalho JC (2016) Protective response mechanisms to heat stress in interaction with high [CO2] conditions in *Coffea* spp. Front Plant Sci 7: 947

- Maruyama K, Urano K, Yoshiwara K, Morishita Y, Sakurai N, Suzuki H, Kojima M, Sakakibara H, Shibata D, Saito K, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2014) Integrated analysis of the effects of cold and dehydration on rice metabolites, phytohormones, and gene transcripts. Plant Physiol 164: 1759-1771
- Miyashita K, Tanakamaru S, Maitani T, Kimura K (2005) Recovery responses of photosynthesis, transpiration, and stomatal conductance in kidney bean following drought stress. Environ. Exp Bot. 53: 205–214
- Matthews MA, Anderson MM, Schultz H (1987) Phenological and growth responses to early and late season water deficits in Cabernet franc. Vitis 26: 147-160
- Moreno L (2009) Plant responses to water deficit stress. Agronomia Colombiana. 27 (2): 179-191.
- Murcia G, Fontana A, Pontin M, Baraldi R, Bertazza G, Piccoli P (2017) ABA and GA3 regulates the synthesis of primary and secondary metabolites related to alleviation from biotic and abiotic stresses in grapevine. Phytochemistry 135: 34-52
- Naing AH, Park KI, Ai TN, Chung MY, Han JS, Kang YW, Lim KB, Kim CK (2017) Overexpression of snapdragon *Delia* (*Del*) gene in tobacco enhances anthocyanin accumulation and abiotic stress tolerance. BMC Plant Biology 17: 65
- Nakabayashi R, Yonekura-Sakakibara K, Urano K, Suzuki M, Yamada Y, Nishizawa T, Matsuda F, Kojima M, Sakakibara H, Shinozaki K (2014) Enhancement of oxidative

and drought tolerance in *Arabidopsis* by overaccumulation of antioxidant flavonoids. Plant J 77: 367-79

- Nguyen C, Lim S, Lee JG, Lee EJ (2017) *VcBBX*, *VcMYB21*, and *VcR2R3MYB* transcription factors are involved in UV-B-induced anthocyanin biosynthesis in the peel of harvested blueberry fruit. J Agri Food Chem 65(10): 2066-2073
- Ohashi Y, Nakayama N, Saneoka H, Fujita K (2006) Effects of drought stress on photosynthetic gas exchange, chlorophyll fluorescence and stem diameter of soybean plants. Biol Plant 50(1): 138-141
- Patakas A, Nottsakis B, Stavrakas D (1997) Adaptation of leaves of *Vitis vinifera* L. to seasonal drought as affected by leaf age. Vitis 36(1): 11-14
- Pessarakli M (2010) Plant and Crop Stress, Third Edition. Print ISBN: 978-1-4398-1396-6. eBook ISBN: 978-1-4398-1399-7
- Puente-Garza C, Meza-Miranda C, Ochoa-Martínez D, García-Lara S (2017) Effect of *in vitro* drought stress on phenolic acids, flavonols, saponins, and antioxidant activity in *Agave salmiana*. Plant Physiol Biochem 115: 400-407
- Qaderi M, Kurepin L, Reid D (2012) Effects of temperature and watering regime on growth, gas exchange and abscisic acid content of canola (*Brassica napus*) seedlings. Environ Exp Bot 75: 107-113
- Rahimi A, Hosseini S, Pooryoosef M, Fateh I (2010) Variation of leaf water potential, relative water content and SPAD under gradual drought stress and stress recovery in two medicinal species of *Plantago ovata* and *P. psyllium*. Plant Ecophysiol 2: 53-60

- Raven JA (1984) Physical correlates of the morphology of early vascular plants. B J Linn Soc 88: 105–126
- Reifenrath K, Müller C (2007) Species-specific and leaf-age dependent effects of ultraviolet radiation on two Brassicaceae. Phytochemistry 68(6): 875-885
- Ribera AE, Reyes-Díaz M, Alberdi M, Zuñiga GE, Mora ML (2010) Antioxidant compounds in skin and pulp of fruit change among genotypes and maturity stages in highbush blueberry (*Vaccinium corymbosum* L.). J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 10 (4): 509-536
- Saito T, Naiola P, Terashima I (2007) Conservative decrease in water potential in existing leaves during new leaf expansion in temperate and tropical evergreen *Quercus* species. Ann Bot 100: 1229–1238
- Santesteban LG, Miranda C, Royo JB (2011) Regulated deficit irrigation effects on growth, yield, grape quality and individual anthocyanin composition in *Vitis vinifera* L. cv. "Tempranillo". Agric Water Manag 98: 1171-1179
- Shen X, Zhao K, Liu L, Zhang K, Yuan H, Liao X, Wang Q, Guo X, Li F, Li T (2014) A role for PacMYBA in ABA-regulated anthocyanin biosynthesis in red-colored sweet cherry cv. Hong Deng (*Prunus avium* L.). Plant Cell Physiol 55(5): 862-880
- Singh D, Laxmi A (2015) Transcriptional regulation of drought response: a tortuous network of transcriptional factors. Front Plant Sci 6: 895
- Singh R, Parihar P, Singh S, Mishra RK, Singh VP, Mohan S (2017) Reactive oxygen species signaling and stomatal movement: current updates and future perspectives. Redox Biol 11: 213-218

- Singleton V, Rossi J (1965) Colorimetry of total phenolics with phosphomolybdicphosphotungstic acid reagents. Am J Enol Vitic 16: 144-158
- Sperdouli I, Moustakas M (2014) Interaction of proline, sugars, and anthocyanins during photosynthetic acclimation of *Arabidopsis thaliana* to drought stress. Plant Physiol 169: 577-585
- Strack D, Wray V (1989) Anthocyanins. In: Harborne JB (ed) Methods in Plant Biology. Plant Phenolics, Vol. 1. Academic Press/Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, London.
- Tattini M, Galardi C, Pinelli P, Massai R, Remorini D, Agati G (2004) Differential accumulation of flavonoids and hydroxycinnamates in leaves of *Ligustrum vulgare* under excess light and drought stress. New Phytol 163(3): 547-561
- Trivedi D (2016) Abscisic acid (ABA): Biosynthesis, regulation, and role in abiotic stress tolerance. In: Tuteja N, Gill S (2016) Abiotic Stress response in Plants.
- Tuteja N (2007) Abscisic acid and abiotic stress signaling. Plant Signal Behav 2(3): 135-138
- Vogel H, Peñailillo P, Doll U, Contreras G, Catenacci G, González B (2014) Maqui (*Aristotelia chilensis*): Morpho-phenological characterization to design high-yielding cultivation techniques. J Appl Res Med Arom Plants 1: 123-133
- Xu ZS, Feng K, Que F, Wang F, Xiong AS (2017) A MYB transcription factor, DcMYB, is involved in regulating anthocyanin biosynthesis in purple carrot taprrots. Sci Rep 7: 45324
- Yoshida T, Fujita Y, Sayama H, Kidokoro S, Maruyama K, Mizoi J, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2010) AREB1, AREB2, and ABF3 are master transcription

factors that cooperatively regulate ABRE-dependent ABA signaling involved in drought stress tolerance and require ABA for full activation. Plant J 61(4): 672-685 You J, Chan Z (2015) ROS Regulation during abiotic stress responses in crop plants. Front

Plant Sci 6: 1092

- Yuan Y, Liu Y, Wu C, Chen S, Wang Z, Yang Z, Qin S, Huang L (2012) Water Deficit Affected Flavonoid Accumulation by Regulating Hormone Metabolism in *Scutellaria baicalensis* Roots. Plos One 7(10): 1-10
- Zdunek E, Lips H (2001) Transport and accumulation rates of abscisic acid and aldehyde oxidase activity in *Pisum sativum* L. in response to suboptimal growth conditions. J Exp Bot 52(359): 1269-1276
- Zhang H, Tsao R (2016) Dietary polyphenols, oxidative stress and antioxidant and antiinflammatory effects. Curr Opin Food Sci 8: 33-42
- Zhang M, Leing P, Zhang G, Li X (2009) Cloning and functional analysis of 9-*cis*epoxycarotenoid dioxugenase (NCED) genes encoding a key enzyme during abscisic acid biosynthesis from peach and grape fruits. J Plant Physiol 166(12): 1241-1252
- Zhang X, Zhang L, Dong F, Gao J, Galbraith D, Song C (2001) Hydrogen peroxide is involved in Abscisic acid-induced stomatal closure in *Vicia faba*. Plant Physiol 126: 1438-1448
## **CHAPTER 4**

## "Abscisic acid (ABA) is involved in phenolic compounds biosynthesis, mainly anthocyanins, in leaves of *Aristotelia chilensis* plants (Mol.) subjected to drought stress"

Accepted in Physiologia Plantarum

### Abscisic acid (ABA) is involved in phenolic compounds biosynthesis, mainly anthocyanins, in leaves of *Aristotelia chilensis* plants (Mol.) subjected to drought stress

Jorge González-Villagra<sup>1</sup>, Jerry D. Cohen<sup>2</sup>, Marjorie M. Reyes-Díaz<sup>3,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Doctoral Program in Science of Natural Resources, Universidad de La Frontera, P.O. Box

54-D, Temuco, Chile.

<sup>2</sup>Department of Horticultural Science and Microbial and Plant Genomics Institute, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, MN 55108, USA.

<sup>3</sup>Departamento de Ciencias Químicas y Recursos Naturales, Facultad de Ingeniería y Ciencias, Universidad de La Frontera, P.O. Box 54-D, Temuco, Chile.

<sup>4</sup>Center of Plant, Soil Interaction and Natural Resources Biotechnology, Scientific and Technological Bioresource Nucleus (BIOREN), Universidad de La Frontera, P.O. Box 54-D, Temuco, Chile.

\*Corresponding author: marjorie.reyes@ufrontera.cl

Abstract

Abscisic acid (ABA) acts to regulate the physiological and biochemical mechanisms required to tolerate drought stress, which is generally considered the most severe abiotic stress. Because of this, it has been postulated that ABA might be involved in regulation of the biosynthesis of plant phenolic compounds, especially anthocyanins that accumulate in plants subjected to drought stress; however, the evidence for this postulate remains elusive. Therefore, to approach this issue, we studied whether ABA is involved in the accumulation of phenolic compounds, especially anthocyanin biosynthesis, using drought stressed Aristotelia chilensis plants, an endemic berry in Chile. Our approach was to use fluridone, an ABA biosynthesis inhibitor, and then subsequent ABA applications to young and fullyexpanded leaves of drought stressed A. chilensis plants. At different times (24, 48 and 72 h) of the experiment, plants were harvested and leaves were separately collected to determine the biochemical status. We observed that fluridone treatments significantly decreased ABA concentrations and total anthocyanin (TA) concentrations in A. chilensis stressed plants, including both young and fully-expanded leaves. TA concentrations following fluridone treatment were reduced around 5-fold, reaching control plant levels only after 24 h. ABA application strongly restored ABA levels as well as TA concentrations in A. chilensis stressed plant at the 48 h point of the experiment. We also observed that TA concentrations followed the same pattern as ABA concentrations in the ABA treated plants. qRT-PCR revealed that AcUFGT gene expression decreased in fully-expanded leaves of stressed A. chilensis plants treated with fluridone, while a subsequent ABA application increased AcUFGT expression. Taken together, our results suggest that ABA is involved in the regulation of anthocyanin biosynthesis under drought stress.

#### 4.1 Introduction

Plant growth and crop productivity are affected negatively by drought stress, which is considered the most severe of all abiotic stresses (Osakabe et al. 2014). Plants activate plant defense mechanisms to cope with drought stress by preventing water loss and also counteracting oxidative stress. Abscisic acid (ABA) is considered the key plant hormone which regulates the physiological and biochemical mechanisms enabling plants to tolerate drought stress (Finkelstein, 2013) and some authors have postulated that ABA might play an important role regulating the accumulation of phenolic compounds, including anthocyanins, that is observed in drought stressed plants (Jiang and Joyce; 2003; Deluc et al. 2009; Bucchetti et al. 2011). For example, Nagira et al. (2006) showed that osmotic stress in Torenia fournieri plants elevated endogenous ABA levels before anthocyanin biosynthesis induction and suggested that changes in the endogenous ABA concentration might play an important role modulating anthocyanin biosynthesis induction under drought stress. González-Villagra et al. (2017) proposed a model to explain how ABA could be involved in anthocyanin biosynthesis through the regulation by a microRNA (microRNA156) which acts to increase the expression of anthocyanin biosynthesis genes. Other authors have also suggested that different factors might influence anthocyanin concentrations more than endogenous ABA (Gagné et al. 2011; Kondo et al. 2014). How changes are reported can affect the interpretations as well since Antolín et al. (2006) reported that ABA and anthocyanin concentrations based on fresh weight increased in Vitis vinifera cv. Tempranillo fruits under drought stress but there was no difference in anthocyanin content on a per berry basis. Drought stress induces higher anthocyanin concentration due to an up-regulation of key anthocyanin pathway genes such as

dihydroflavonol 4-reductase (DFR), UDP-glucose:flavonoid 3-O-glucosyl transferase (UFGT) and transcription factors such as Myeloblastosis A1 (MybA1) and Myeloblastosis 5A (Myb5A) (André et al. 2009; Borsani et al. 2010; Castellarin et al. 2007; Santesteban et al. 2011). In fact, the relationship between UFGT expression and anthocyanins has been demonstrated by correlation analysis, showing a high positive correlation ( $r \ge 0.95$ ;  $p \le 0.05$ ), indicating that the anthocyanin concentration is increased due at least in part to upregulation of UFGT expression (Castellarin et al. 2007b). There are, however, only a few reports regarding changes in endogenous ABA levels that link such changes with anthocyanin biosynthesis induction. Therefore, the role of ABA in regulation of anthocyanin concentrations under drought stress is still unresolved. In addition, the induction mechanisms resulting in higher anthocyanin concentration has not yet been elucidated (Ferrandino and Lovisolo, 2013: Petrussa et al. 2013; Murcia et al. 2017). Previously, it was reported that different leaf ages, comparing young to fully-expanded leaves, show a distinct response relative to their ability to synthesize anthocyanin as well as ABA in response to stress (Gould et al. 2000; Hughes et al. 2007). Thus, leaf age appears to be a confounding factor involved in understanding the functional role of ABA regulation of anthocyanin biosynthesis. Understanding the induction mechanisms responsible for higher anthocyanin concentrations under drought stress might represent a powerful practical tool to manage and modify anthocyanin concentration in plant organs for agricultural and human health advantages. In this regard, it is important to know whether ABA is responsible for the increase of phenolic compounds including specifically anthocyanin biosynthesis under drought stress.

*Aristotelia chilensis* (Mol.), also known as maqui, is an endemic berry in Chile belonging to the Elaeocarpaceae family. It is an evergreen tree, distributed from Illapel (Coquimbo Region) to Chiloé (Los Lagos Region) (Hoffman *et al.*, 2005). *A. chilensis* is a pioneer species, colonizing and growing on stressed and disturbed environments, thus making it an interesting model for studying plants with a well evolved abiotic stress resistance mechanism (Fredes et al. 2014). This endemic species has also been of great interest for farmers and consumers because of the antioxidant properties related to its high anthocyanin concentration. Currently, commercial crops *A. chilensis* are being established, promoting the development of morpho-phenological and physiological, and genetic diversity studies to establish agronomic parameters and to develop strategies of selection and breeding (Fredes et al. 2014; Vogel et al. 2014). Thus, in this study, we investigated ABA regulation of phenolic compound biosynthesis, mainly anthocyanins, in young and fully-expanded leaves of drought stressed *A. chilensis* plants.

#### 4.2 Materials and methods

#### 4.2.1 Plant material and treatments

Micropropagated in-vitro Maqui plants (*Aristotelia chilensis*) donated by BestPlant Co. (Curico, Chile) were used in this study. One-year-old plants were transplanted to 2 L pots with Andisol soil and acclimated in a greenhouse (temperature:  $25\pm3$  °C; photoperiod: light 16/8 h dark; humidity: 60-70%; and a mean photosynthetic active radiation (PAR) at midday of 300 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) for two weeks. Plants were then divided into two groups (20 plants for each group); daily irrigated (DI) and non-irrigated (NI). The DI plants were

irrigated at field capacity; meanwhile, NI plants were exposed to water withholding to initiate drought stress. The experiment was carried out for 20 days. When NI plants were stressed (the 20<sup>th</sup> day of drought stress, based on previous results), 100 µM Fluridone (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) was homogenously applied by spraying on leaves. After 24 h, in some cases, leaves were sprayed with a solution of 100 µM abscisic acid (Sigma). Both solutions were dissolved in ultrapure water containing 0.05% (v/v) of Tween 20, which was used as the surfactant wetting agent. Control solutions contained ultrapure water with only Tween 20. At different times (24, 48 and 72 hours) of the experiment, plants were harvested and leaves were collected at two different positions from the plants, representing different leaf ages: young leaves, from the middle to top; and fully-expanded leaves, from middle to basal leaves, for physiological and biochemical analysis. Leaves were frozen separately in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C to determine biochemical characteristics.

#### 4.2.2 ABA concentration

Endogenous ABA was quantified by the isotope dilution method, essentially as described by Liu et al. (2012) for auxin analysis, using NH<sub>2</sub> resin solid phase extraction (SPE) TopTip minicolumns. After methylation by diazomethane, the samples were then injected into a gas chromatograph (GC) coupled to a single quadrupole mass spectrometer (MS) (GC-MS, Agilent 6890N GC System with an Agilent 7683 Automatic Liquid Sampler and an Agilent 5973 MS; column, temperatures, carrier gas and other analysis conditions were exactly as described in Liu et al. 2012) and the samples were analysed using selected ion monitoring (SIM) with Agilent Chemstation software. Deuterated-abscisic acid ([<sup>2</sup>H<sub>6</sub>]ABA)

was used as internal standard (Liu et al. 2012), and it was synthesized according to Dobrev et al. (2005) yielding a product with no detectable unlabeled ABA and a major predominate ion at m/z 194 for the [<sup>2</sup>H<sub>4</sub>]ABA isotopomer. Endogenous ABA concentration was thus determined from the ion abundance at the base peak of each compound: the m/z value of 190 for plant ABA, and the m/z value of 194 for [<sup>2</sup>H<sub>4</sub>]ABA using the isotope dilution equation which accounts for the isotopomer distribution in the internal standard (Liu et al. 2012).

#### 4.2.3 Phenolic compound analyses by HPLC-photodiode array detection

Phenolic acids and flavonols were analyzed in leaves of DI and NI plants using a high performance liquid chromatograph (HPLC; Jasco LC-Net II/ADC) with a Kromasil reverse-phase (RP)-18 column (250 x 4.6 mm i.d) equipped with a photodiode array detector (DAD) (Jasco MD 2015 Plus) (Ruhland and Day, 2000). The phenolic acids chlorogenic, caffeic, ferulic, gallic, and *p*-coumaric acid, and the flavonols quercetin, myricetin, kaempferol and rutin were used as standards (Sigma). These compounds were dissolved in methanol for the preparation of calibration curves. Absorbance was detected at 320 nm. Acidified water (phosphoric acid 10%) (A) and 100% acetonitrile (B) was used as the mobile phase. The eluent gradient was: 0-9 min of 100% A, 9.1-19.9 min of 81% A, and 19% B, 20-15 min of 100% B.

#### 4.2.4 Total and profile of anthocyanin

Total anthocyanins (TA) were determined using the pH differential method (Chang et al. 2002). To determine TA, absorbance was measured spectrophotometrically at 530 and 675

nm (UV/VIS Unico SpectroQuest 2800). TA was expressed as mg of cyaniding-3-Oglucoside equivalent (C3G) per gram of dry weight. The anthocyanin profile was based on anthocyanidin determination using the protocol described by Ribera et al. (2010), where delphinidin, malvidin, petunidin, cyanidin and peonidin were used as standards (Sigma). Anthocyanin profiles were obtained by HPLC as described above. The mobile phase was composed of acidified water (acetic acid 10%) (A) and 100% acetonitrile (B) with the following eluent gradient: 0-23.9 min of 90% A - 10% B, 23.9-24.1 min of 80% A - 20% B, 24.1-27 min of 20% A - 80% B, and then 27.1-37 min of 90% A - 10% B.

#### 4.2.5 Total RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis

Total RNA was isolated as described by Jaakola et al. (2001). RNA concentrations were measured spectrophotometrically using a Spectral Scanning Multimode Reader Varioskan Flash  $\mu$ Drop<sup>TM</sup> Plate (Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, USA). Likewise, RNA purity was determined using the A260/A280 and A260/A230 absorbance ratios. RNA quality was also evaluated visually following gel electrophoresis of the denatured RNA. First-strand cDNA was synthesized from 2 µg of total RNA from *A. chilensis* leaves, which was reversetranscribed by M-MLV (Promega, MA, USA) following the manufacturer`s recommendations. To remove genomic DNA, the cDNA was cleaned according to Jaakola et al. (2004) using a DNA gel extraction kit (Millipore Corporation, Bedford, MA, USA).

#### 4.2.6 Real-time quantitative PCR (qRT-PCR) analysis

Quantitative real-time (qRT-PCR) reactions were conducted in order to determine the expression patters of *AcUFGT* in *A. chilensis* leaves. All qRT-PCR reactions were performed using Brilliant II SYBR Green QPCR Master Mix (Agilent Technologies, Santa

Clara, California) in an ABI 7300 Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City CA, USA) using the procedure described by Inostroza-Blancheteau et al. (2014). *Elongation Factor 1 alpha (EF1a)* sequences of *Vitis vininfera*, *Populus euphratica*, and *Prunus persica* were obtained from Genbank®. Sequence alignments were done using the Clustal Omega program (www.ebi.ac.uk) and primers were design using AmplifX 1.7.0. Transcripts were sequenced and confirmed in Genbank®. Finally, specific primers were designed based on the sequences in AmplifX1.7.0. *AcUFGT* primers were kindly providing by Dr. Victor Polanco from Universidad Mayor, Chile. The specific primers used in this study are shown in Table 1, which amplified 180 bp fragments. *EF1a* is a stably expressed gene that was used as the internal control. All the experiments were performed using three biological replicates. Cycling conditions were 95 °C for 10 min, followed by 40 cycles at 94 °C for 30 s, 60 °C for 30 s, and 72 °C for 30 s. Gene expression data (Ct values) were employed to quantify relative gene expression using the comparative  $2^{-\Delta\DeltaCt}$  method described by Livak and Schmittgen (2001).

Table 1 Primer sequences used for qRT-PCR analysis								
Gene	Forward primer (5` to 3`)	Reverse primer (5` to 3`)						
UFGT	TTC CAG GAA TGT CTC AAG TA	CAA AGG AGT TTA TGA AGA CT						
EF1A	CTC CTG GGC ATC GTG ACT TT	CCA AGG GTG AAA GCA AGC AA						

#### 4.2.7 Experimental design and data analysis

A completely randomized design was used with three replicates for each treatment and time. The results are expressed as mean and standard error of the mean ( $\pm$ SE) for each

treatment. All data passed the normality and equal variance Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests. Means were analyzed using a two-way ANOVA. The Tukey multiple comparison test at  $P \le 0.05$  was used. Sigma Stat 3.5 (SYSTAT Software Inc.) was used to performed the statistical analysis.

#### 4.3 Results

# **4.3.1** ABA concentrations in response to fluridone and ABA applications in drought stressed *A. chilensis* plants

We previously determined that by the 20<sup>th</sup> day of the experiment without water *A. chilensis* experienced severe drought stress as evidenced by the highest ABA and TA levels in the stressed plants at this time. In addition, we observed significant differences between young and fully-expanded leaves of stressed plants in both these parameters. Thus, in order to better understand the role of ABA in regulating anthocyanin biosynthesis, we applied a fluridone solution (an inhibitor of phytoene desaturase, which inhibits biosynthesis of carotenoids). Treatment with the ABA inhibitor fluridone was followed by ABA application (after 24 h) on the leaves of plants subjected to severe drought stress. As expected, treatment with the fluridone solution reduced ABA concentrations in young leaves of stressed *A. chilensis* plants as well as in the fully-expanded leaves (Fig. 1). The ABA concentrations in both young and fully-expanded leaves was reduced about 75% in the stressed plants by fluridone application with respect to stressed plants without application of fluridone at the 24 h time point of the experiment (Fig. 1). When ABA was applied to young and fully-expanded leaves of *A. chilensis* plants, endogenous ABA

concentrations were increased in all treatments, including the fluridone treatment (Fig. 1 A and C). The ABA concentration also increased significantly, about 10-fold, in all treatments with respect to treated plants without ABA application at the 48 h time point of the experiment (Fig. 1). After 48 h, plant leaves without ABA application remained relatively constant their ABA levels during the experiment (Fig. 1 B and D). In all treatments with ABA applications, ABA concentrations decreased at the 72 h time point of the experiment (Fig 1 A and C).



**Figure 1.** Endogenous abscisic acid (ABA) concentration changes in response to two different water treatments and with or without fluridone solution application and with or without a subsequent ABA solution application. *Aristotelia chilensis* plants were either Daily

Irrigated (DI) or Non-Irrigated (NI). A) Young leaves with ABA application; B) Young leaves without ABA application; C) Fully-expanded leaves with ABA application; and D) Fully-expanded leaves without ABA application. Values represent means  $\pm$  SE (n=3).

# 4.3.2 Phenolic compound levels in response to ABA inhibitor and ABA applications in *A*. *chilensis* plants under drought stress.

Flavonoids and phenolic acids were analyzed in young and fully-expanded leaves of A. chilensis treated plants (Fig. 2 and 3). Thus, young leaves of DI plants had higher endogenous pools of phenolic compounds compared to young leaves of NI plants throughout the experiment (Fig 2). Pools of phenolic compounds (PPC) decreased significantly in young leaves of DI plants treated with fluridone at 24 h (Fig. 2); whereas, at 72 h PPC doubled in the same leaf type of DI plants treated with ABA compared to young leaves without ABA application (Fig. 2). In contrast, DI plants without fluridone treatment maintained PPC in the young leaves throughout the experiment (Fig. 2). Young leaves of stressed plants treated with fluridone increased their PPC at 24 h. decreasing to about 30% after 24 h with ABA application as compared to stressed plants without exogenous ABA (Fig. 2). Fully-expanded leaves did not change significantly in their PPC content in DI plants throughout the experiment (Fig. 3). However, fully-expanded leaves of stressed plants had a slight increase (20%) of PPC with fluridone application throughout the experiment independent of ABA application (Fig. 3). The HPLC-DAD analyses revealed that rutin was the most abundant among flavonoids in young and fully-expanded leaves of A. chilensis. Surprisingly, rutin increased significantly in both leaf types of drought stressed A. chilensis plants (40 and 30%, in young and fully-expanded leaves, respectively) treated with fluridone and without ABA application compared to plants without fluridone during the experiment (Fig. 2 and 3). In addition,

after ABA application, rutin levels decreased significantly (about 40-50%) in both type leaves of DI plants and reached values similar to those of drought stressed plants without fluridone application (Fig 2 and 3). Without ABA application, rutin did not change during the time in both type leaves of DI plants independent of fluridone treatment (Fig. 2 and 3). Quercetin levels had a similar behaviour as the rutin levels throughout the experiment (Fig. 2 and 3). Among the phenolic compounds, coumaric acid and ferulic acid levels in both young and fully-expanded leaves were 20% higher without ABA application with fluridone treated stressed plants compared to stressed-plants without fluridone and ABA applications (Fig. 2 and 3).



Harvest times (h)

**Figure 2.** Phenolic compounds in young leaves in response to two different water treatments with fluridone solution application, and a subsequently ABA solution application. Data on the left graph set shows daily irrigated (DI) plants and on the right data for non-irrigated (NI) *Aristotelia chilensis* plants. Values represent means  $\pm$ SE (n=3).



**Figure 3.** Phenolic compounds in fully-expanded leaves in response to two different water treatments with fluridone solution application, and a subsequent ABA solution application. Data on the left graph set shows daily irrigated (DI) plants and on the right data for non-irrigated (NI) *Aristotelia chilensis* plants. Values represent means  $\pm$ SE (n=3).

### 4.3.3 Profiles and total levels of anthocyanins in response to fluridone and ABA application under drought stress

TA levels decreased about 5-fold in fully-expanded leaves of stressed plants treated with fluridone compared to stressed plants not fluridone treated at 24 h (Fig 4 A and B). In contrast, young leaves of stressed A. chilensis plants treated with fluridone did not change their TA levels significantly at 24 h (Annex 1). Surprisingly, exogenous ABA strongly reversed the effects of fluridone on TA concentrations in young and fully-expanded leaves of A. chilensis stressed plants at 48 h (Fig 4 and annex 1). The TA concentration decreased in stressed A. chilensis plants treated with ABA at the end of the experiment (72 h), following the same pattern as ABA concentration in ABA treated stressed plants (Fig 4 A). TA levels were not different in DI A. chilensis plants not treated with ABA (Fig 4 B). When young and fully-expanded leaves were analyzed by HPLC-DAD to obtain the anthocyanidin profile, delphinidin, cyanidin, and malvidin were found to be present in fully-expanded leaves of the stressed plants during all the experiment (Table 2). Delphinidin was slightly decreased with fluridone treatment and with ABA application increasing 15-fold with respect to stressed plants treated without fluridone at 48 and 72 h. Petunidin was detected in fully-expanded leaves of drought stressed A. chilensis stressed plants and decreased 30% with fluridone treatment, however ABA application reversed the decrease at 48 and 72 h (Table 2). Also, ABA treatment increased malvidin levels in fully-expanded leaves of drought stressed A. chilensis at 48 and 72 h. By contrast, only cyanidin was detected in young leaves of control and stressed plants treated with fluridone and ABA applications at 24 and 48 h (Table S1).



**Figure 4.** Total levels of anthocyanins (A and B) and relative expression of AcUFGT (C and D) in fully-expanded leaves in response to two different water treatments with fluridone solution application, and a subsequent ABA solution application. A and C) Fully-expanded leaves with ABA application and B and D) Fully-expanded leaves without ABA application. *Aristotelia chilensis* plants were either Daily Irrigated (DI) or Non-Irrigated (NI). Values represent means  $\pm$ SE (n=3).

**Table 2** Anthocyanidins ( $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> DW) in fully-expanded leaves of *A. chilensis*. ND = No Detected. Values represent the means of three samples ±SD. (*P*<0.05). Different lowercase letters show statistically significant differences among the treatments for the same water irrigation regime and time. Different capital letters show significant differences between water irrigation regime for the same time and treatment.

Harvest times (h)	Fluridone (µM)	ABA (uM)	Irrigation treatment	Delphinidin (µg g <sup>-1</sup> DW)	Cyanidin (µg g <sup>-1</sup> DW)	Petunidin (µg g <sup>-1</sup> DW)	Malvidin (ug g <sup>-1</sup> DW)
24	0	(	DI	ND	4.5±0.3B	ND	ND
	0		NI	125.0±23.2	145.5±19.5A	ND	184.6±29.8
	100		DI	ND	ND	ND	ND
	100		NI	ND	ND	ND	ND
48	0	0	DI	ND	3.2±0.2Ba	ND	ND
	0	0	NI	26.6±6.2c	26.1±3.4Acd	5.7±0.3b	27.9±2.1cd
	0	100	DI	ND	7.4±1.1Ba	ND	7.2±0.3Bb
	0	100	NI	56.7±0.0b	111.8±7.1Ab	ND	89.1±16.7Ab
	100	0	DI	ND	16.0±2.2Aa	ND	ND
	100	0	NI	21.8±5.7c	28.5±2.3Ac	3.8±0.5b	40.6±5.6c
	100	100	DI	ND	8.6±0.8Ba	ND	23.3±0.6Ba
	100	100	NI	348.7±12.5ª	237.2±15.7Aa	9.7±1.2a	300.0±4.5Aa
72	0	0	DI	ND	6.3±1.0Ba	ND	ND
	0	0	NI	94.1±21.9a	45.0±3.5Acd	ND	53.0±3.6cd
	0	100	DI	ND	ND	ND	ND
	0	100	NI	114.1±18.7a	138.8±18.7a	3.7±0.6a	263.3±27.5a
	100	0	DI	ND	ND	ND	ND
	100	0	NI	87.4±12.2a	47.0±8.9c	2.3±0.4b	70.7±4.8bc
	100	100	DI	ND	7.6±1.6Ba	ND	23.3±0.8B
	100	100	NI	98.5±15.3a	87.0±5.1Ab	3.8±0.4a	114.4±29.7Ab

# 4.3.4 Gene expression analysis of the response to fluridone and ABA treatment by drought stressed *A. chilensis*

The expression of *AcUFGT* was analyzed using qRT-PCR (Fig. 4 C, D). Fluridone treatment reduced about 5-fold *AcUFGT* expression in fully-expanded leaves of stressed *A. chilensis* plants compared to drought stressed plants not treated with fluridone at 24 h (Fig. 4 C and D). *AcUFGT* expression significantly increased with ABA application (Fig. 4 C). In particular, stressed *A. chilensis* plants treated with ABA showed up-regulation of *AcUFGT* expression by 8-fold with respect to stressed plants not treated with ABA at 48 h (Fig 4 C). By 72 h, however, all treatments showed a strong reduction in *AcUFGT* expression relative to 48 h. *AcUFGT* expression levels did not change in fully-expanded leaves of fluridone treated plants not also treated with ABA between 48 and 72 h (Fig 4 D). Control plants (those not treated with fluridone nor ABA) remained unaltered in their *AcUFGT* expression levels throughout the experiment (Fig. 4 D).

#### 4.4 Discussion

This study shows that ABA is involved in the regulation of anthocyanin biosynthesis in *A. chilensis* subjected to drought stress. We used two basic approaches, treatment with ABA itself to increase endogenous ABA levels and treatment with fluridone which is an inhibitor of phytoene desaturase, an enzyme of the carotenoid biosynthesis pathway, which reduces ABA biosynthesis through reduction of the levels of xanthophyll ABA precursors (Yoshioka et al. 1998; Seo and Koshiba, 2002, Nisar et al. 2015). Fluridone treatment, as expected, reduced ABA levels in both young and fully-expanded leaves of drought stressed *A. chilensis* plants, and exogenous ABA increased significantly ABA levels in all ABA treated plants. ABA treatment was effective at recovering TA levels after previous fluridone treatments. Fluridone treatments also increased the pool of phenolic compounds (PPC;

determined by the sum of individual phenolic compounds), and exogenous ABA reduced it. Jian and Joyce (2003) showed that ABA treated Fragaria x ananassa fruits showed increased TA levels compared with untreated fruits. Differing reports have shown both that PPC increases in plants subjected to drought stress, while, others showed that these compounds decreased (Petridis et al. 2012; Khoyerdi et al. 2016). Therefore, PPC responses under drought stress is not consistent for all plants and tissues. Shen et al. (2014) demonstrated that MYBA, a transcription factor involved on anthocyanin biosynthesis, increased in expression levels in ABA treated Prunus avium fruit suggesting that higher ABA levels associated with environmental stress might play an important role in the anthocyanin biosynthesis. Likewise, transcription factors, including a number of MYBs, which are involved in regulating UFGT expression and anthocyanin biosynthesis, have ABA-response elements (ABRE) (Ambawat et al. 2013, Lim et al. 2016). These ABRE increase MYBs expression, and as a consequence UFGT expression and anthocyanin biosynthesis. Therefore, from our data we suggest that when the ABA biosynthesis inhibitor was applied to plants, there would likely be less transcription factor MYBs, increasing anthocyanin precursors of phenylpropanoid pathway, and inhibiting anthocyanin biosynthesis. In contrast, when ABA was applied to plants, increases MYBs expression, and thus UFGT expression, triggered anthocyanin biosynthesis.

Our results showed that fully-expanded leaves have a greater ability to synthesize higher amounts of anthocyanin, and different anthocyanidins compared to young leaves. We therefore analyzed *AcUFGT* expression in fully-expanded leaves of *A. chilensis* (Fig. 4 C and D). The expression of *AcUFGT* was affected differently by fluridone and ABA treatments. We found a strong down-regulation of *AcUFGT* expression in stressed plants treated with fluridone while exogenous ABA recovered *AcUFGT* expression levels, which coincided with the highest TA levels (Fig 4 C). Previous studies showed that *UFGT* expression was induced by drought stress and exogenous ABA in several

species including Vitis vinifera, Vaccinium corymbosum, Vitis rotundifolia and Malus sieversii (Jeong et al. 2004; Castellarin et al. 2007a; Castellarin et al. 2007b; André et al. 2009; Koyama et al. 2010; Zifkin et al. 2012; Sun et al. 2017). Jia et al. (2017) showed that UFGT expression increased 5-fold in Vitis vinifera treated with ABA. It has been suggested that ABA might contribute to plant drought stress tolerance in past by inducing an increase of anthocyanins, which then help the plants to cope with abiotic stress induced antioxidants by scavenging reactive oxygen species (Jiang and Joyce; 2003 Deluc et al. 2009; Bucchetti et al. 2011; Agati et al. 2012; Nakabayashi et al. 2014; Sperdouli and Moustakas, 2014). This basic hypothesis is supported by the observed anthocyanin biosynthesis increases and distribution. Anthocyanin biosynthesis occurs in different cell compartments, with efficient transport systems, when plants are exposed to abiotic stresses (Polster et al. 2006; Zhao and Dixon, 2009; Agati et al. 2012; Agati et al. 2013; Kovinich et al. 2015; Li et al. 2017). In fullyexpanded leaves of stressed plants not only was cyanidin detected but also petunidin, which was not detected in young leaves (Table 2 and annex 2, respectively). In addition, it is known that antioxidant activity is dependent on anthocyanin structure, being higher in anthocyanins with more hydroxyl groups attached to their structure, as is the case of petunidin (Kahkonen and Heinonen, 2003). Thus, it is likely a consequence of drought stressed plants that synthesize ABA rapidly, also increase the biosynthesis of anthocyanins with higher antioxidant activity, like petunidin, to cope with oxidative stress.

We observed that ABA application has an effect at short-time points due to the higher ABA levels rapidly increasing *AcUFGT* expression and TA levels. Over longer times however, ABA levels decreased in all treatments resulting in lower *AcUFGT* expression and decreasing TA levels. Hung et al. (2007) reported TA levels increasing after 24-36 h ABA application, and then TA levels decreased due to ABA homeostatic mechanisms which reduced the higher ABA levels resulting from

application. According to Seiler et al. (2011), ABA homeostasis is maintained in the face of artificially higher ABA levels by reduction by two possible mechanisms, ABA catabolism and ABA inactivation. The main route to ABA catabolism is converting it to phaseic acid, while ABA inactivation is mainly conjugating it to form the glucose ester (Xu et al. 2002; Kushiro et al. 2004; Lee et al. 2006). Our studies demonstrated that higher ABA levels promoted higher *AcUFGT* expression, triggering anthocyanin biosynthesis with strong antioxidant activity, mainly in fully-expanded leaves of drought stressed plants and that reduction in ABA had essentially the opposite effect.

#### 4.5 Conclusions

Our experiments allowed us to demonstrate that ABA regulated aspects of anthocyanin biosynthesis under drought stress. Furthermore, fluridone was an effective ABA inhibitor in *A. chilensis* stressed plant including young and fully-expanded leaves, and also demonstrated that ABA application was able to recover both endogenous ABA concentrations in fluridone treated plants as well as increase total anthocyanin and also inducing a different anthocyanin profile. In addition, we showed that high total anthocyanins are due at least in part to higher *AcUFGT* expression. However, it will be necessary in future studies to further explore the molecular mechanisms for ABA downstream processes leading to induction of anthocyanin biosynthesis under drought stress. A better understanding of these processes with allow management and modification of anthocyanin concentrations in plant organs thereby increasing plant tolerance to drought stress.

#### Acknowledgement

We thank the Comisión Nacional de Investigación Científica y Tecnológica for the PhD grant to JG-V (CONICYT at N° 21130602). We also thank BestPlant Co., Chile, for providing the maqui plants. The authors also thank Dr. Victor Polanco from Universidad Mayor for kindly providing Ac*UFGT* primer sequences and Mariela Mora Garrido, biologist, and Mario Díaz Matus, biotechnologist, for their collaboration in HPLC-DAD and qRT-PCR analyses, respectively. Research at the University of Minnesota was supported by U.S. National Science Foundation grant IOS1238812 and by funds from the Gordon and Margaret Bailey Endowment for Environmental Horticulture.

#### References

- Agati G, Azzarello E, Pollastri S, Tattini M (2012) Flavonoids as antioxidants in plants: location and functional significance. Plant Sci 196: 67-76
- Agati G, Brunetti C, Di Fernando M, Ferrini F, Pollastri S, Tattini M (2013) Functional roles of flavonoids in photoprotection: new evidence, lessons from the past. Plant Physiol Biochem 72: 35-45
- Ambawat S, Sharma P, Yadav N, Yadav R (2013) MYB transcription factor genes as regulators for plant responses: an overview. Physiol Mol Biol Plants 19(3): 307-321
- André C, Schafleitner R, Legay S, Lefèvre I, Alvarado C, Nomberto G, Hoffmann L, Hausman JF, Larondelle Y, Evers D (2009) Gene expression changes related to the production of phenolic compounds in potato tubers grown under drought stress. Phytochem. 70: 1107-1116

- Antolín MA, Ayari M, Sánchez-Díaz M (2006) Effects of partial rootzone drying on yield, ripening and Berry ABA in potted Tempranillo grapevines with split roots. Aust J Grape Wine Res 12: 13-20
- Borsani O, Gonzalez-Neves G, Ferrer M, Monza J (2010) Anthocyanins accumulation and genesrelated expression in berries of cv. Tannat (*Vitis vinifera* L.). J Appl Hort 12(1): 3-9
- Bucchetti B, Matthews MA, Falginella L, Peterlunger E, Castellarin SD (2011) Effect of water deficit on Merlot grape tannins and anthocyanins across four seasons. Sci Hortic 128: 297-305
- Castellarin S, Matthews M, Di Gaspero G, Gambetta G (2007a). Water deficits accelerate ripening and induce changes in gene expression regulating flavonoid biosynthesis in grape berries. Planta 227:101-112
- Castellarin S, Pfeiffer A, Sivilotti P, Degan M, Peterlunger E, Di Gaspero G (2007b) Transcriptional regulation of anthocyanin biosynthesis in ripening of grapevine under seasonal water deficit. Plant Cell Environ 30: 1381-1399
- Deluc L, Quilici D, Decendit A, Grimplet J, Wheatley M, Schlauch K, Mérillon J, Cushman J, Cramer G (2009) Water deficit alters differentially metabolic pathways affecting important flavor and quality traits in grape berries of Cabernet Sauvignon and Chardonnay. BMC Genomics 10:212
- Dobrev PI, Havlicek L, Vagner M, Malbeck J, Kaminek M (2005) Purification and determination of plant hormones auxin and abscisic acid using solid phase extraction and two-dimensional high performance liquid chromatography. J Chromatogr A 1075(1-2): 159-166
- Ferrandino A, Lovisolo C (2013) Abiotic stress effects on grapevine (Vitis vinifera L.): Focus on abscisic acid-mediated consequences on secondary metabolism and berry quality. Environ Exp Bot 103: 138-147

Finkelstein R (2013) Abscisic acid synthesis and response. Arabidopsis Book 11, e0166

- Fredes C, Yousef G, Robert P, Grace M, Lila MA, Gómez M, Gebauer M, Montenegro G (2014) Anthocyanin profiling of wild maqui berries (*Aristotelia chilensis* [Mol.] Stuntz) from different geographical regions in Chile. J Sci Food Agric 94(13): 2639-2648
- Gagné S, Cluzet S, Mérillon JM, Gény L (2011) ABA initiates anthocyanin production in grape cell cultures. J Plant Growth Regul 30: 1-10
- González-Villagra J, Kurepin LV, Reyes-Díaz M (2017) Evaluating the involvement and interaction of abscisic acid and miRNA156 in the induction of anthocyanin biosynthesis in drought-stressed plants. Planta 246(2): 299-312
- Hoffman A (2005) Flora silvestre de Chile, zona araucana.252 p. 5º ed. Ed. Fundación Claudio Gay. Santiago, Chile
- Hughes NM, Smith W (2007) Attenuation of inident light in *Galax urceolata* (Diapensiaceae): concerted influence of adaxial and abaxial anthocyanic layers on photoprotection. Am J Bot 94(5): 784-790
- Hung KT, Cheng DG, Hsu YT, Kao CH (2008) Abscisic acid-induced hydrogen peroxide is required for anthocyanin accumulation in leaves of rice seedlings. J Plant Physiol 165: 1280-1287
- Inostroza-Blancheteau C, Reyes-Díaz M, Arellano A, Latsague M, Acevedo P, Loyola R, Arce-Johnson P, Alberdi M (2014) Effects of UV-B radiation on anatomical characteristics, phenolic compounds and gene expression of the phenylpropanoid pathway in highbush blueberry leaves. Plant Physiol Biochem 85: 85-95
- Jaakola L, Pirttila AM, Halonen M, Hohtola A (2001) Isolation of high quality RNA from Bilberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus* L.) fruit. Mol Biotechnol 19: 201-203

- Jaakola L, Pirttila AM, Vuosku J, Hohtola A (2004) Method based in electrophoresis and gel extraction for obtaining genomic DNA-free cDNA without DNAse treatment. BioTechniques 37 (5): 744-748
- Jeong ST, Goto-Yamamoto N, Kobayashi S, Esaka M (2004) Effects of plant hormones and shading on the accumulation of anthocyanins and the expression of anthocyanin biosynthetic genes in grape berry skins. Plant Sci 167: 247-252
- Jia H, Xie Z, Wang C, Shangguan L, Qian N, Cui M, Liu Z, Zheng T, Wang M, Fang J (2017) Abscisic acid, sucrose, and auxin coordinately regulate berry ripening process of the Fujiminori grape. Funct Integr Genom 17(4): 441-457
- Jiang Y, Joyce D (2003) ABA effects on ethylene production, PAL activity, anthocyanin and phenolic concentrations of strawberry fruit. J Plant Growth Regul 39:171-174
- Kahkonen M, Heinonen M (2003) Antioxidant activity of anthocyanins and their aglycons. J Agric Food Chem 51(3): 628-633
- Khoyerdi FF, Shamshiri MH, Estaji A (2016) Changes in some physiological and osmotic parameters of several pistachio genotypes under drought stress. Sci Hortic 198:44-51
- Kondo S, Tomiyama H, Rodyoung A, Okawa K, Ohara H, Sugaya S, Terahara N, Hirai N (2014)Abscisic acid metabolism and anthocyanin synthesis in grape skin are affected by light emitting diode (LED) irradiation at night. J Plant Physiol 171: 823-829
- Kovinich N, Kayanja G, Chanoca A, Otegui MS, Grotewold E (2015) Abiotic stresses induce different localizations of anthocyanins in Arabidopsis. Plant Signal Behav 10: 7, e1027850
- Koyama K, Sadamatsu K, Goto-Yamamoto N (2010) Abscisic acid stimulated ripening and gene expression in berry skins of the Cabernet Sauvignon grape. Funct Integr Genom 10 (3): 367–381

- Kushiro T, Okamoto M, Nakabayashi K, Yamagishi K, Kitamura S, Asami T, Hirai N, Koshiba T, Kamiya Y, Nambara E (2004) The Arabidopsis cytochrome P450 CYP707A encodes ABA 8'hydroxylases: key enzymes in ABA catabolism. EMBO Journal 23: 1647–1656
- Lee KH, Piao HL, Kim HY, Choi SM, Jiang F, Hartung W, Hwang I, Kwak JM, Lee IJ (2006) Activation of glucosidase via stress-induced polymerization rapidly increases active pools of abscisic acid. Cell 126: 1109–1120
- Li P, Li YJ, Zhang FJ, Zhang GZ, Jiang XY, Yu HM, Hou BK (2017) The Arabidopsis UDPglycosyltransferases UGT79B2 and UGT79B3, contribute to cold, salt and drought stress tolerance via modulating anthocyanin accumulation. Plant J 89: 85-103
- Lim SH, Song JH, Kim DH, KimJK, Lee JY, Kim YM, Ha SH (2016) Activation of anthocyanin biosynthesis by expression of the radish R2R3-MYB transcription factor gene RsMYB1. Plant Cell Rep 35(3):641–653
- Liu X, Hegeman A, Gardner G, Cohen JD (2012) Protocol: High-throughput and quantitative assays of auxin and auxin precursors from minute tissue samples. Plant Methods 8: 31
- Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD (2001) Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the  $2-\Delta\Delta CT$  method. Methods 25: 402-408
- Murcia G, Fontana A, Pontin M, Baraldi R, Bertazza G, Piccoli P (2017) ABA and GA3 regulates the synthesis of primary and secondary metabolites related to alleviation from biotic and abiotic stresses in grapevine. Phytochem 135: 34-52
- Nagira Y, Ikegami K, Koshiba T, Ozeki Y (2006) Effect of ABA upon anthocyanin synthesis in regenerated torenia shoots. J Plant Res 119: 137-144

- Nakabayashi R, Yonekura-Sakakibara K, Urano K, Suzuki M, Yamada Y, Nishizawa T, Matsuda F, Kojima M, Sakakibara H, Shinozaki K (2014) Enhancement of oxidative and drought tolerance in *Arabidopsis* by overaccumulation of antioxidant flavonoids. Plant J 77: 367-79
- Nisar N, Li L,Lu S, Chi Khin N, Pogson BJ (2015) Carotenoid metabolism in plants. Mol Plant 8: 68-82
- Osakabe Y, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K, Phan Tran LS (2013) Sensing the environment: Key roles of membrane-localized kinases in plant perception and response to abiotic stress. J Exp Bot 64(2): 445-458
- Petridis A, Therios I, Samouris G, Tananaki C (2012) Salinity-induced changes in phenolic compounds in leaves and roots of four olive cultivars (*Olea europaea* L.) and their relationship to antioxidant activity. Environ Exp Bot 79: 37–43
- Petrussa E, Braidot E, Zancani M, Peresson C, Bertolini A, Patui S, Vianello A (2013) Plant Flavonoids; Biosynthesis and involvement in stress responses. Int J Mol Sci 14: 14950-14973
- Ribera AE, Reyes-Díaz M, Alberdi M, Zuñiga GE, Mora ML (2010) Antioxidant compounds in skin and pulp of fruit change among genotypes and maturity stages in highbush blueberry (*Vaccinium corymbosum* L.). J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 10 (4): 509-536
- Polster J, Dithmar H, Burgemeister R, Friedemann G, Feucht W (2006) Flavonoids in plant nuclei: detection by laser microdissection and pressure catapulting (LMPC), in vivo staining, and UVvisible spectroscopic titration. Physiol Plant 128:163–174
- Ruhland CT, Day TA (2000) Effects of ultraviolet-B radiation on leaf elongation, production and phenylpropanoid concentrations in *Deschampsia antarctica* and *Colobanthus quitensis* in Antarctica. Physiol Plant 109: 244-251

- Santesteban LG, Miranda C, Royo JB (2011) Regulated deficit irrigation effects on growth, yield, grape quality and individual anthocyanin composition in *Vitis vinifera* L. cv. "Tempranillo". Agric Water Manag 98: 1171-1179
- Seiler C, Harshavardhan VT, Rajesh K, Reddy PS, Strickert M, Rolletschek H, Scholz U, Wobus U, Sreenivasulu N (2011) ABA biosynthesis and degradation contributing to ABA homeostasis during barley seed development under control and terminal drought-stress conditions. J Exp Bot 62(8): 2615-2632
- Seo M, Koshiba T (2002) Complex regulation of ABA biosynthesis in plants. Trends Plant Sci 7(1): 41-48
- Shen X, Zhao K, Liu L, Zhang K, Yuan H, Liao X, Wang Q, Guo X, Li F, Li T (2014) A role for PacMYBA in ABA-regulated anthocyanin biosynthesis in red-colored sweet cherry cv. Hong Deng (*Prunus avium* L.). Plant Cell Physiol 55(5): 862-880
- Sperdouli I, Moustakas M (2014) Leaf development stage modulates metabolite accumulation and photosynthesis contributing to acclimation of *Arabidopsis thaliana* to water deficit. J Plant Res 127(4): 481-489
- Sun Y, Qiu Y, Duan M, Wang J, Zhang X, Wang H, Song J, Li X (2017) Identification of anthocyanin biosynthesis related microRNAs in a distinctive Chinese radish (*Raphanus sativus* L.) by high-throughput sequencing. Mol Genet Genom 292: 215-229
- Strack D, Wray V (1989) Anthocyanins. In: Harborne JB (ed) Methods in Plant Biology. Plant Phenolics, Vol. 1. Academic Press/Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, London
- Vogel H, Peñailillo P, Doll U, Contreras G, Catenacci G, González B (2014) Maqui (Aristotelia chilensis): Morpho-phenological characterization to design high-yielding cultivation techniques. J Appl Res Med Arom Plants 1: 123-133

- Xu ZJ, Nakajima M, Suzuki Y, Yamaguchi I (2002) Cloning and ;characterization of the abscisic acid-specific glucosyltransferase gene from adzuki bean seedlings. Plant Physiol 129: 1285–1295
- Yoshioka T, Endo T, Satoh S (1998) Restoration of seed germination at supraoptimal temperatures by fluridone, an inhinitor of abscisic acid biosynthesis. Plant Cell Physiol 39(3):307-312

Zhao J, Dixon R (2010) The 'ins' and 'outs' of flavonoid transport. Trends Plant Sci 15:72-80

Zifkin M, Jin A, Ozga J, Zaharia I, Schernthaner J, Gesell A, Abrams SR, Kennedy JA, Constabel P (2012) Gene expression and metabolite profiling of developing highbush blueberry fruit indicates transcriptional regulation of flavonoid metabolism and activation of abscisic acid metabolism. Plant Physiol 158: 200-224

### **Supporting Information**



**Fig. S1.** Changes in total anthocyanins in young leaves in response to two different water treatments with or without fluridone solution application and with or without a subsequently ABA solution application. A) Young leaves with ABA application and B) Young leaves without ABA application. *Aristotelia chilensis* plants were either Daily Irrigated (DI) or Non-Irrigated (NI). Values represent means  $\pm$ SE (n=3).

**Table S1.** Levels of anthocyanidins ( $\mu g g^{-1} DW$ ) in young leaves of *A. chilensis*. ND = No Detected. Values represents the means of 3 ±SD. (*P*<0.05). Different lowercase letters show statistically significant differences among the treatments for the same water irrigation and time. Different capital letters show significant differences between water irrigation for the same time and treatment.

Harvest times (h)	Fluridone (µM)	ABA (µM)	Irrigation treatment	Delphinidin (µg g <sup>-1</sup> DW)	Cyanidin (µg g <sup>-1</sup> DW)	Malvidin (µg g <sup>-1</sup> DW)
24	0	-	DI	ND	3.0±0.7B	ND
	0	-	NI	65.2±1.2	66.6±1.8A	65.4±0.6
	100	-	DI	ND	ND	ND
	100	-	NI	ND	ND	ND
48	0	0	DI	ND	3.6±0.2Ba	ND
	0	0	NI	ND	63.4±1.8Ab	ND
	0	100	DI	ND	2.8±0.7Ba	ND
	0	100	NI	87.5±2.0	78.4±1.4Aa	ND
	100	0	DI	ND	ND	ND
	100	0	NI	ND	ND	ND
	100	100	DI	ND	ND	ND
	100	100	NI	ND	ND	ND
72	0	0	DI	ND	ND	ND
	0	0	NI	ND	ND	ND
	0	100	DI	ND	ND	ND
	0	100	NI	ND	ND	ND
	100	0	DI	ND	ND	ND
	100	0	NI	ND	ND	ND
	100	100	DI	ND	ND	ND
	100	100	NI	ND	ND	ND

**Chapter 5** 

General discussion and conclusions

#### **5.1 General discussion**

As mentioned in the introduction, drought is the main stress factor to plants, decreasing plant water status, plant growth and crop yields. Our findings reflected this situation, where  $\Psi_w$  and RWC were severely affected by drought stress at the end of the experiment; meanwhile, ABA levels significantly increased in young and fully-expanded leaves at the same time (Chapter 3; Fig. 1, 2 A-B). According to Galmés et al. (2007),  $\Psi_w$ , RWC, and plant growth decrease by 30-40% in plants by moderate drought stress, meanwhile,  $\Psi_w$ , RWC, and plant growth largely decrease under severe drought stress, which in our experiment was observed at day 20 of water withholding. We performed a previous experiment to evaluate severity and recovery of A. chilensis plants exposed to drought stress (annex 4). This experiment allowed us determine that A. chilensis is able to recovery after a severe drought stress. Negative effects of drought stress have been reported in different species such as Arabidopsis thaliana, Phaseolus vulgaris, Glycine max and Beta maritima (Ohashi et al. 2006; Galmés et al. 2007; Choat et al. 2012; Li et al. 2017). A reduced plant growth in plants subjected to drought stress could be attributed to stomatal closure, and thereby reduced CO<sub>2</sub> levels, since, drought stressed plants increase ABA levels reducing stomatal aperture, and thus preventing water loss, which it is a physiological mechanism to cope drought stress (Pinheiro and Chavez, 2010; Finkelstein, 2013; Flexas et al. 2014; Basu et al. 2016). It has been also proposed that a reduction in photosynthesis and plant growth might be due to loss of ATP content, which starts to decrease with moderate water stress (Tezara et al. 1999; Flexas and Medrano, 1999; Lawlor and Gornic, 2002). Consequently, plant growth can be reduced by stomatal and metabolic limitations.

Plants subjected to drought stress produce higher levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in different cellular compartments, which results in protein damage, DNA damage, and lipid peroxidation (Yazici et al 2007). Actual evidence shows that ROS are not only involved in damage and growth
impairment, but also signalling as secondary messengers (Mitller et al. 2011; Hideg et al. 2013), as we showed in our proposed molecular model in Chapter 2 (Fig. 3). Young and fully-expanded of A. chilensis plants exposed to drought stress showed similar lipid peroxidation levels at the end of the experiment, being significantly higher in stressed plants compared to control plants (Chapter 3, Fig. 4). In contrast, previous studies have shown that fully-expanded leaves have higher lipid peroxidation, which could be attributed to the higher amount of chloroplasts compared to young leaves (Fover and Noctor, 2005; Lepedus et al. 2011), indicating that chloroplasts are the main organelle generating ROS under drought stress. A possible explication to maintain lipid peroxidation in fully-expanded leaves at the same level as young leaves might be that fully-expanded leaves of A. chilensis have a strong antioxidant mechanism to tolerate drought stress. In this sense, our results indicated that young leaves of stressed A. chilensis plants showed higher PPC levels (determined by the sum of individual phenolic compounds), meanwhile, fully-expanded leaves of A. chilensis plants increased total anthocyanins from the 10<sup>th</sup> day of drought stress (Chapter 3, Fig. 5, 6). These results agree with other reports, where higher total phenols have been reported in several species subjected to drought stress such as Salvia officinalis and Agave salmiana (Martins et al. 2016; Gharibi et al. 2016; Puente-Garza et al. 2017). Among phenolic compounds, anthocyanins are considered as plant secondary metabolites with greater antioxidant activity, due to higher hydroxyl groups number attached to their structure, which scavenge ROS, increasing tolerance to abiotic stresses (Nakabayashi et al. 2014; Zhang and Tsao, 2016; Naing et al. 2017). Our results of higher total anthocyanins agree with Nakabayashi et al. (2014), where they showed that drought stress increased total anthocyanins. In addition, these authors showed that overexpression of anthocyanin biosynthetic genes, and thereby higher anthocyanin amount mitigates the accumulation of ROS. André et al. (2009) and Castellarin et al. (2007) reported that tri-hydroxylated anthocyanins such as delphinidin, petunidin, and malvidin

were higher in drought stressed *Solanum tuberosum* and *Vitis vinifera* plants compared to wellwatered treatments, while the content of di-hydroxylated anthocyanins such as cyanidin and peonidin, was similar for both treatments, suggesting that plants subjected to drought stress increase trihydroxylated anthocyanin biosynthesis due to their greater antioxidant power in order to cope with drought stress. In fact, we detected cyanidin in control and stressed plants throughout the experiment; meanwhile, delphinidin was detected in drought stressed plants at day 20. Interestingly, we detected three different tri-hydroxylated anthocyanidins in fully-expanded leaves compared to young leaves, where we detected only one (Chapter 4, Table 2 and S2). General phenylpropanoid pathway consists of two main branches, where F3'H and F3'5'H are the enzymes catalyzing di-hydroxylated and trihydroxylated anthocyanin biosynthesis, respectively (Winkel-Shirley 2006; Boudet 2007). Thus, we suggests that F3'5'H gene could be highly expressed in our drought stressed plants triggering trihydroxylated anthocyanin biosynthesis. Therefore, these tri-hydroxylated anthocyanins help to increase the defense mechanism against ROS, tolerating drought stress.

The 9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase 1 (NCED1) gene encodes an important enzyme in the ABA biosynthetic pathway. In our study, NCED1 gene expression was affected by drought stress, increasing its expression in drought stressed plants, concomitant with ABA concentration (positively and significantly correlated, r = 0.98, P < 0.05; Chapter 3, Fig. 9). This has been also reported in previous studies with Vaccinium myrtillus and Vitis vinifera subjected to drought stress (Zhang et al. 2009; Karppinen et al. 2013). On the other hand, fluridone treatments reduced NCED1 expression and ABA levels in young and fully-expanded leaves of drought stress A. chilensis plants at the 24 h of the experiment (Chapter 4, Fig. 1, 4), indicating that NCED1 gene is the key regulatory step in ABA biosynthesis pathway, as proposed by Finkelstein (2013). Likewise, total anthocyanins were reduced in both leaf types in plants subjected to drought stress by fluridone treatments. However, exogenous

ABA increased significantly about 10-fold ABA and anthocyanin levels in all ABA treated plants (Chapter 4, Fig. 1 A and C). As in our study, ABA treatment was effective at recovering TA levels after previous fluridone treatments in Fragaria x ananassa fruits (Jian and Joyce 2003). We found that fluridone strongly decreased anthocyanin biosynthesis, whilst ABA application recovered anthocyanin synthesis by triggering AcUFGT expression in drought stresses plants, which was increased in fully-expanded leaves (Fig. 4 C and D). UFGT expression analyses have shown that drought stress and exogenous ABA promotes their expression in several species such as *Vitis vinifera*, Vaccinium corymbosum, Vitis rotundifolia and Malus sieversii (Jeong et al. 2004; Castellarin et al. 2007a; Castellarin et al. 2007b; André et al. 2009; Koyama et al. 2010; Zifkin et al. 2012; Sun et al. 2017). According to Singh and Laxmi (2015) ABA modulates target gene expression by the ABAresponsive element (ABRE) binding protein/ABRE binding factor (ABRE/ABF) transcription factors. It has been reported that MYBs, which are transcription factors that activate or represses anthocyanin biosynthesis structural genes, contains several stress-related *cis*-elements in the promoter sequence such as ABRE (Shen et al. 2017). Among these transcription factors MYBA1 is a fundamental component on anthocyanin biosynthesis, since it activates UFGT expression (Kobayashi et al. 2002; Walker et al. 2007). Cui et al. (2017) showed that drought stress up-regulated MYBA1 and thereby UFGT expression triggering anthocyanin biosynthesis. Therefore, we suggested that a high expression of *MYBA1* could be involved on high *UFGT* expression observed in our study, triggering anthocyanin biosynthesis in our drought stressed plants. In our finding, young leaves showed high PPC and low anthocyanin levels compared to fully expanded leaves. As we mentioned above, transcription factors can also represses structural genes of anthocyanin biosynthesis. Thus, Salvatierra et al. (2013) reported a transcription factor, MYB1, repressing anthocyanin biosynthesis in Fragaria chiloensis (white Chilean strawberry). They showed that down-regulation of MYB1 resulted an upregulation of anthocyanin biosynthesis, meanwhile, control treatments (with normal MYB1 expression) showed higher phenol and flavonoid levels. Therefore, we suggest that young leaves of A. chilensis stressed plants could have repress anthocyanin biosynthesis at MYB and/or UFGT levels. Hung et al. (2007) reported that TA levels increase after 24-36 h ABA application, and then TA levels decreased due to ABA homeostatic mechanisms, which reduced the higher ABA levels resulting from application. These agreed with our results, where we found a decrease in ABA and total anthocyanins after 48 h of ABA application. According to Seiler et al. (2011), ABA homeostasis is maintained in the face of artificially higher ABA levels by reduction by two possible mechanisms: ABA catabolism and ABA inactivation. Some authors have suggested that different factors might have a higher influence on anthocyanin concentrations than endogenous ABA (Gagné et al. 2011; Kondo et al. 2014). However, we suggest that this evidence demonstrate the direct relationship between ABA and anthocyanin biosynthesis in drought stressed plants. Thus, ABA contribute to plant drought stress tolerance by inducing an increase of anthocyanins, which then help the plants to cope abiotic stress, inducing antioxidants by scavenging reactive oxygen species. At molecular level, we have proposed a model, which explain how ABA could be involved in anthocyanin biosynthesis through the regulation of a microRNA (156), which increases the expression of anthocyanin biosynthesis genes (Chapter 2, published as González-Villagra et al. 2017). This thesis contributes to understanding of molecular mechanism where ABA regulates anthocyanin biosynthesis. As we mentioned above A. chilensis is an endemic berry in Chile that produces leaves and fruits rich in anthocyanins and natural antioxidants (Sanchez et al. 2016). Anthocyanins, natural antioxidants, and their pharmacology properties of A. chilensis have been of great interest for farmers and consumers leading to the elaboration of products derived from this species. Thus, this thesis might be a great

contribution to increase anthocyanin levels in *A. chilensis*, and also promote tri-hydroxylated anthocyanin biosynthesis, which have great antioxidant power.

Finally, we can indicate that the hypothesis of this thesis was validated according to the main results in this study. In summary, fluridone inhibited *NCED* expression and their concomitant ABA biosynthesis, which in turns inhibited *UFGT* expression and anthocyanin biosynthesis. However, ABA application recovered *NCED* expression, ABA biosynthesis, *UFGT* expression and anthocyanin biosynthesis. Thus, a basic model including the main responses to drought stress was elaborated (Chapter 5, Fig. 1).



Conditions

**Fig 1.** Proposed model describing the main responses in *A. chilensis* plants subjected to drought stress. A) Normal conditions; B) Drought stress. Under drought stress,  $\Psi_w$  and RWC decrease, plant growth is reduced and lipid peroxidation increases, while, *NCED1* expression increases, triggering ABA biosynthesis. This higher ABA levels promotes anthocyanin biosynthesis by *UFGT* expression. Under normal conditions (without drought stress),  $\Psi_w$  and RWC are not reduced, lipid peroxidation and plant growth are maintaining, *NCED1* and ABA levels are basal, and anthocyanin biosynthesis is not increased, maintaining basal levels.

## **5.2** Conclusions and future directions

Our results showed that fluridone was an effective ABA inhibitor in drought stressed *A. chilensis* plants including young and fully-expanded leaves. Meanwhile, ABA application was able to recover both endogenous ABA concentrations in fluridone treated plants as well as increase total anthocyanin and also inducing a different anthocyanin profile. We showed that *NCED1* triggers ABA biosynthesis, and thus promoting *UFGT* gene expression, and thereby anthocyanin biosynthesis, and their accumulation. Therefore, our study allows us to demonstrate that ABA regulates anthocyanin biosynthesis under drought stress. However, it will be necessary in future studies to further explore the molecular mechanisms for ABA downstream processes leading to induction of anthocyanin biosynthesis under drought stress. A better understanding of these processes will allow us management and modification of anthocyanin concentrations in plant organs thereby increasing plant tolerance to drought stress.

### References

- André C, Schafleitner R, Legay S, Lefèvre I, Alvarado C, Nomberto G, Hoffmann L, Hausman JF, Larondelle Y. and Evers D (2009) Gene expression changes related to the production of phenolic compounds in potato tubers grown under drought stress. Phytochem.70:1107-1116
- Antolín MC, Ayari M, Sánchez-Díaz M (2006) Effects of partial rootzone drying on yield, ripening and berry ABA in potted Tempranillo grapevines with Split roots. Aust J Grape Wine Res 12: 13-20
- Basu S, Ramegowda V, Kumar A, Pereira A (2016) Plant adaptation to drought stress. F1000Research 5: 1554
- Borsani O, Gonzalez-Neves G, Ferrer M, Monza J (2010) Anthocyanins accumulation and genesrelated expression in berries of cv. Tannat (*Vitis vinifera* L.). J Appl Hort 12(1): 3-9
- Bucchetti B, Matthews M, Falginella L, Peterlunger E, Castellarin S (2011) Effect of water deficit on Merlot grape tannins and anthocyanins across four seasons. Sci Hort 128: 297-305
- Castellarin S, Matthews M, Di Gaspero G, Gambetta G (2007a) Water deficits accelerate ripening and induce changes in gene expression regulating flavonoid biosynthesis in grape berries. Planta 227:101-112
- Castellarin S, Pfeiffer A, Sivilotti P, Degan M, Peterlunger E, Di Gaspero G (2007b) Transcriptional regulation of anthocyanin biosynthesis in ripening of grapevine under seasonal water deficit. Plant Cell Environ: 30: 1381-1399
- Chen L, Dood I, Davies W, Wilkinson S (2013) Ethylene limits abscisic acid- or soil drying-induced stomatal closure in aged wheat leaves. Plant Cell Environ 36: 1850-1859

- Choat B, Jansen S, Brodribb TJ, Cochard H, Delzon S, Bhaskar R, Zanne AE (2012) Global convergence in the vulnerability of forests to drought. Nature 491: 752–755
- Cui Z, Bi WL, Hao XY, Li PM, Duan Y, Walker MA, Xu Y, Wang QC (2017) Drought stress enhances up-regulation of anthocyanin biosynthesis in grapevine leafroll-associated virus 3 infected in vitro grapevine (*Vitis vinifera*) leaves. Plant Disease 101(9): 1606-1615
- Deluc L, Quilici D, Decendit A, Grimplet J, Wheatley M, Schlauch K, Mérillon J, Cushman J and Cramer G (2009) Water deficit alters differentially metabolic pathways affecting important flavor and quality traits in grape berries of Cabernet Sauvignon and Chardonnay. BMC Genomics 10:212
- Ferrandino A, Lovisolo C (2013) Abiotic stress effects on grapevine (*Vitis vinifera* L.): Focus on abscisic acid-mediated consequences on secondary metabolism and berry quality. Environ Exp Bot 103: 138-147
- Finkelstein R (2013) Abscisic acid synthesis and response. Arabidopsis Book 11, e0166
- Flexas J, Carriquí M, Coopman RE, Gago J, Gálmes J, Martorell S, Morales F, Díaz-Espejo A (2014) Stomatal and mesophyll conductance to CO<sub>2</sub> in different plant groups: Underrated factors for predicting leaf photosynthesis responses to climate change? Plants Science 226: 41-48
- Flexas J, Escalona JM, Medrano H (1999) Water stress induces different photosynthesis and electron transport rate regulation in grapevine. Plant Cell Environ 22: 39–48
- Foyer CH, Noctor G (2005) Redox homeostasis and antioxidant signaling: a metabolic interface between stress perception and physiological responses. Plant Cell 17(7): 1866-75
- Fredes C, Yousef G, Robert P, Grace M, Lila MA, Gómez M, Gebauer M, Montenegro G (2014) Anthocyanin profiling of wild maqui berries (*Aristotelia chilensis* [Mol.] Stuntz) from different geographical regions in Chile. J Sci Food Agric 94(13): 2639-2648

- Gagné S, Cluzet S, Mérillon JM, Gény (2011) ABA initiates anthocyanin production in grape cell cultures. J Plant Growth Regul 30: 1-10
- Galmés J, Flexas J, Savé R, Medrano H (2007) Water relations and stomatal characteristics of Mediterranean plants with different growth forms and leaf habits: response to water stress and recovery. Plant Soil 290: 139-155
- Gharibi S, Tabatabaei BES, Saeidi G, Goli SAH (2016) Effect of drought stress on total phenolic, lipid peroxidation, and antioxidant activity of *Achillea* species. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 178(4): 796-809
- González-Villagra J, Kurepin LV, Reyes-Días M (2017) Evaluating the involvement and interaction of abscisic acid and miRNA 156 in the induction of anthocyanin biosynthesis in drought-stressed plants. Planta 246(2): 299-312
- Hideg É, Jansen MAK, Strid Å (2013). UV-B exposure, ROS, and stress: inseparable companions or loosely linked associates? Trends in Plant Science 18(2): 107-115
- Hoffman A (2005) Flora silvestre de Chile, zona araucana.252 p. 5° ed. Ed. Fundación Claudio Gay. Santiago, Chile
- Hung KT, Cheng DG, Hsu YT, Kao CH (2008) Abscisic acid-induced hydrogen peroxide is required for anthocyanin accumulation in leaves of rice seedlings. J Plant Physiol 165: 1280-1287
- Jeong ST, Goto-Yamamoto N, Kobayashi S, Esaka M (2004) Effects of plant hormones and shading on the accumulation of anthocyanins and the expression of anthocyanin biosynthetic genes in grape berry skins. Plant Sci 167: 247-252
- Jiang Y, Joyce D (2003) ABA effects on ethylene production, PAL activity, anthocyanin and phenolic contents of strawberry fruit. J Plant Growth Regul 39:171-174

- Karppinen K, Hirvela E, Nevala T, Sipari N, Suokas M, Jaakola L (2013) Changes in the abscisic acid levels and related gene expression during fruit development and ripening in bilberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus* L.). Phytochemistry 95: 127-134
- Kondo S, Tomiyama H, Rodyoung A, Okawa K, Ohara H, Sugaya S, Terahara N, Hirai N (2014)
  Abscisic acid metabolism and anthocyanin synthesis in grape skin are affected by light emitting diode (LED) irradiation at night. J Plant Physiol 171: 823-829
- Kobayashi S, Ishimaru M, Hiraoka K, Honda C. (2002) Myb-related genes of the Kyoho grape (Vitis labruscana) regulate anthocyanin biosynthesis. Planta. 215: 924–933.
- Koyama K, Sadamatsu K, Goto-Yamamoto N (2010) Abscisic acid stimulated ripening and gene expression in berry skins of the Cabernet Sauvignon grape. Funct Integr Genom 10 (3): 367–381
- LaMotte C, Li X, Jacobs W, Epstein E (2002) Quantitative relationship betweem indole-3-acetic acid and abscisic acid during leaf growth in Coleus blumei. J Plant Growth Regul 36(1): 19-25
- Lepedus H, Gaca V, Viljevac M, Kovac S, Fulgosi H, Simic D, Jurkovic V, Cesar V (2011) Changes in photosynthetic performance and antioxidative strategies during maturation of Norway maple (*Acer latanoides* L.) leaves. Plant Physiol Biochem 49: 368–376
- Lawlor DW, Gornic G (2002) Photosynthetic carbon assimilation and associated metabolism in relation to water deficits in higher plants. Plant Cell Environ 25(2): 275-294
- Li P, Li YJ, Zhang FJ, Zhang GZ, Jiang XY, Yu HM, Hou BK (2017) The Arabidopsis UDPglycosyltransferases UGT79B2 and UGT79B3, contribute to cold, salt and drought stress tolerance via modulating anthocyanin accumulation. Plant J 89: 85-103
- Lila M (2004) Anthocyanins and Human Health: an in vitro investigative approach. J Biomed and Biotechnology 2004(5): 306-313

- Luchi S, Kobayashi M, Naramoto M, Seki M, Kato T, Tabata S, Kakubari Y, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (2001) Regulation of drought tolerance by gene manipulation of 9cisepoxycarotenoid dioxygenase, a key enzyme in abscisic acid biosytnehsis in Arabidopsis. The plant journal 27(4): 325-333
- Martins MQ, Rodrigues WP, Fortunato AS, Leitao AE, Rodrigues AP, Pais IP, Martins LD, Silva MJ, Reboredo FH, Partelli, FL, Campostrini E, Tomaz MA, Scotti-Campos P, Ribeiro-Barros AI, Lidon FJC, DaMatta FM, Ramalho JC (2016) Protective response mechanisms to heat stress in interaction with high [CO2] conditions in *Coffea* spp. Front Plant Sci 7: 947
- Miller G, Suzuki N, Ciftci-Yilmaz S, Mittler R (2009) Reactive oxygen species homeostasis and signaling during drought and salinity stresses. Plant Cell Environ 33(4):453-467
- Moreno L (2009) Plant responses to water deficit stress. Agronomia Colombiana. 27 (2): 179-191
- Murcia G, Fontana A, Pontin M, Baraldi R, Bertazza G, Piccoli P (2017) ABA and GA3 regulates the synthesis of primary and secondary metabolites related to alleviation from biotic and abiotic stresses in grapevine. Phytochemistry 135: 34-52
- Nagira Y, Ikegami K, Koshiba T, Ozeki Y (2006) Effect of ABA upon anthocyanin synthesis in regenerated torenia shoots. J Plant Res 119: 137-144
- Naing AH, Park KI, Ai TN, Chung MY, Han JS, Kang YW, Lim KB, Kim CK (2017) Overexpression of snapdragon Delia (Del) gene in tobacco enhances anthocyanin accumulation and abiotic stress tolerance. BMC Plant Biology 17:65
- Nakabayashi R, Yonekura-Sakakibara K, Urano K, Suzuki M, Yamada Y, Nishizawa T, Matsuda F, Kojima M, Sakakibara H, Shinozaki K (2014) Enhancement of oxidative and drought tolerance in Arabidopsis by overaccumulation of antioxidant flavonoids. Plant J 77: 367-79

- Ojeda H, Andary C, Kraeva E, Carbonneau A, Deloire A (2002) Influence of pre-and postveraison water deficit on synthesis and concentration of skin phenolic compunds during berry growth of Vitis vinifera cv. Shiraz. Am J Enol Vitic 53(4): 261-267
- Ohashi Y, Nakayama N, Saneoka H, Fujita K (2006) Effects of drought stress on photosynthetic gas exchange, chlorophyll fluorescence and stem diameter of soybean plants. Biol. Plant 50(1): 138-141
- Petrussa E, Braidot E, Zancani M, Peresson C, Bertolini A, Patui S, Vianello A (2013) Plant Flavonoids; Biosynthesis and involvement in stress responses. Int J Mol Sci 14: 14950-14973
- Peuke A (2016) ABA flow modelling in Ricinus communis exposed to salt stress and variable nutrition. J Exp Bot 67(18): 5301-5311
- Pinheiro C, Chavez MM (2011) Photosynthesis and drought: Can we make metabolic connections from available data? J Exp Bot 62(3): 869-882
- Puente-Garza C, Meza-Miranda C, Ochoa-Martínez D, García-Lara S (2017) Effect of *in vitro* drought stress on phenolic acids, flavonols, saponins, and antioxidant activity in *Agave salmiana*. Plant Physiol Biochem 115: 400-407
- Raschke K, Zeevaart J (1976) Abscisic acid content, transpiration, and stomatal conductance as related leaf age in plants of *Xanthium strumarium* L. J Plant Physiol 58(2): 169-174
- Saito N, Harbone J (1992) Correlations between anthocyanin type, pollinator and flower colour in the labiatae. Phytochem 31(9): 3009-3015
- Salvatierra A, Pimentel P, Moya-León MA, Herrera R (2013) Increased accumulation of anthocyanins in Fragaria chiloensis fruits by transient suppression of *FcMYB1* gene. Phytochemistry 90: 25-36

- Sánchez C, Villacreses J, Blanc N, Espinoza L, Martínez C, Pastor G, Manque P, Undurraga S, Polanco V (2016) High quality RNA extraction from maqui Berry for its application in next-generation sequencing. SpringerPlus 5:1243
- Santesteban LG, Miranda C, Royo JB (2011) Regulated deficit irrigation effects on growth, yield, grape quality and individual anthocyanin composition in *Vitis vinifera* L. cv. "Tempranillo". Agric Water Manag 98: 1171-1179
- Shen X, Zhao K, Liu L, Zhang K, Yuan H, Liao X, Wang Q, Guo X, Li F, Li T (2014) A role for PacMYBA in ABA-regulated anthocyanin biosynthesis in red-colored sweet cherry cv. Hong Deng (*Prunus avium* L.). Plant Cell Physiol 55(5): 862-880
- Seiler C, Harshavardhan VT, Rajesh K, Reddy PS, Strickert M, Rolletschek H, Scholz U, Wobus U, Sreenivasulu N (2011) ABA biosynthesis and degradation contributing to ABA homeostasis during barley seed development under control and terminal drought-stress conditions. J Exp Bot 62(8): 2615-2632
- Singh D, Laxmi A (2015) Transcriptional regulation of drought response: a tortuous network of transcriptional factors. Front Plant Sci 6: 895
- Sun Y, Qiu Y, Duan M, Wang J, Zhang X, Wang H, Song J, Li X (2017) Identification of anthocyanin biosynthesis related microRNAs in a distinctive Chinese radish (*Raphanus sativus* L.) by high-throughput sequencing. Mol Genet Genom 292: 215-229
- Steyn W, Wand S, Holcroft D, Jacobs G (2002) Anthocyanins in vegetative tissues: a proposed unified function in photoprotection. New Phytologist 155: 349-361
- Tadeo F, Gómez-Cadenas A (2008) Fisiología de las plantas y el estrés. In: Fundamentos de Fisiología Vegetal. 2a ed.

- Tezara W, Mitchell VJ, Driscoll SD, Lawlor DW (1999) Water stress inhibits plant photosynthesis by decreasing coupling factor and ATP. Nature 401: 914-917
- Trivedi D (2016) Abscisic acid (ABA): Biosynthesis, regulation, and role in abiotic stress tolerance. In: Tuteja N, Gill S (2016) Abiotic Stress response in Plants.

Tuteja N (2007) Abscisic acid and abiotic stress signaling. Plant Signal Behav 2(3): 135-138

- United Nations (2014) World Water Development Report 2014. In: 6<sup>th</sup> World Water Forum "Solution for Water", Marseille, France
- Vogel H, Peñailillo P, Doll U, Contreras G, Catenacci G, González B (2014) Maqui (Aristotelia chilensis): Morpho-phenological characterization to design high-yielding cultivation techniques. J Appl Res Med Arom Plants 1: 123-133
- Yazici I, Turkan I, Sekmen A, Demiral T (2007) Salinity tolerance of purslane (*Portulaca oleracea* L.) is achieved by enhanced antioxidative system, lower level of lipid peroxidation and proline accumulation. Environ Exp Bot 61: 49-57
- Zafra-Stone S, Yasmin T, Bagchi M, Chatterjee A, Vinson J, Bagchi D (2007) Berry anthocyanins as novel antioxidants in human health and disease prevention. Mol Nutr Food Res 51(6): 675-683
- Zdunek E, Lips H (2001) Transport and accumulation rates of abscisic acid and aldehyde oxidase activity in Pisum sativum L. in response to suboptimal growth conditions. J Exp Bot 52(359): 1269-1276
- Zhang H, Tsao R (2016) Dietary polyphenols, oxidative stress and antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects. Curr Opin Food Sci 8: 33-42
- Zhang M, Leing P, Zhang G, Li X (2009) Cloning and functional analysis of 9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxugenase (NCED) genes encoding a key enzyme during abscisic acid biosynthesis from peach and grape fruits. J Plant Physiol 166(12): 1241-1252

- Zhang K, Xia X, Zhang Y, Gan SS (2012) An ABA-regulated and Golgi-localized protein phosphatase controls water loss during leaf senescence in *Arabidopsis*. The Plant Journal 69: 667-678
- Zhang X, Zhang L, Dong F, Gao J, Galbraith D, Song C (2001) Hydrogen peroxide is involved in Abscisic acid-induced stomatal closure in *Vicia faba*. J Plant Physiol 126: 1438-1448
- Zifkin M, Jin A, Ozga J, Zaharia I, Schernthaner J, Gesell A, Abrams SR, Kennedy JA, Constabel P (2012) Gene expression and metabolite profiling of developing highbush blueberry fruit indicates transcriptional regulation of flavonoid metabolism and activation of abscisic acid metabolism. Plant Physiol 158: 200-224

## ANNEXES

Annex 1

#### • RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis from A. chilensis to molecular studies

Using this method, we could isolate total RNA successfully. The purity of the total RNA was assessed using the A260/280 and 260/230 ratios given by NanoDrop. Agarose gel electrophoresis (1% w/v) revealed that intact ribosomal RNA bands (28 and 18 S) were clearly visible, indicating that RNA is undegraded (**Fig 1**). Besides, Agarose gel (1% w/v) revealed that cDNA was successfully synthesized (**Fig 2**).



**Fig 1.** Visualization of total RNA. Lane 1-3: leaf RNA. M:low range ladder (100-2000 bp)



**Fig 2.** Visualization of cDNA. Lane 1-3: leaf cDNA. M:low range ladder (100-2000 bp)

• DNA-free cDNA without Dnase treatment (Jakkola et al. 2004)

Using this method, we could obtain DNA-free cDNA without DNAse treatment.



**Fig 1.** Visualization of total RNA, lane 1-4; and cDNA without DNAasa treatment, lane 5-8. M:low range ladder (100-2000 bp)

**Fig 2.** Visualization of cDNA with cDNA cleaning by gel. Lane 1-4: leaf cDNA. M:low range ladder (100-2000 bp)

## Annex 2

• Aristotelia chilensis UDP-glucose: flavonoid 3-O-glucosyltransferase (AcUFGT) gel



**Fig 1.** Visualization of AcUFGT PCR product. Lane 1-3: different leaf samples. M:low range ladder (100-2000 bp)

• Sequencing results

## Forward:

CGACGGAAATCCTGTTGTAGTTTTTGGGACCTGGAATCACTCTTCTCGCGTATGTTACATCAAATGGGCATAGTGTTACCACAAGCTGCTGCAGTCTTCATAAACTCCTTTGA

## Reverse:

GTGGATATTTTGTGACCATTTGATGTAACATACGCGAGAAGAGTGATTCCAGGTTCCCAAAAAACA ATTCCTTCAGGCAAGTCACGTATAAGTACTTGAGACATTCCTGGAAA

• BLAST results

Sequences producing significant alignments:							
Se	Select: <u>All None</u> Selected:0						
Â	🖁 Alignments 🗒 Download 🗟 GenPept Graphics						
	Description	Max score	Total score	Query cover	E value	ldent	Accession
0	UDP-glucose:flavonoid 3-O-glucosyltransferase [Mtis vinifera]	53.9	53.9	83%	8e-08	81%	AEI60387.1
0	UDP-glucose:flavonoid 3-O-glucosyltransferase [Vitis vinifera]	53.9	53.9	83%	9e-08	81%	AEI60286.1
	UDP-quucose:flavonoid 3-O-quucosvitransferase [Vitis vinifera]	54.3	54.3	83%	2e-07	81%	AEI60337.1
0	UDP-glucose:flavonoid 3-O-glucosyltransferas [Vitis vinifera]	53.9	53.9	83%	2e-07	81%	AEI60396.1

• Aristotelia chilensis nine-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase (AcNCED)



**Fig 1.** Visualization of AcNCED PCR product. Lane 1-2 different leaf samples. M:low range ladder (100-2000 bp)

• Sequencing results

## Forward:

Reverse:

## • BLAST results

Sequences producing significant alignments:

5	Select: All None Selected:0							
Ĩ	Alignments Bownload  GenPept Graphics							
		Description	Max score	Total score	Query cover	E value	Ident	Accession
		PREDICTED: 9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase NCED1, chloroplastic-like [Populus euphratica]	209	209	95%	2e-62	88%	XP 011029543.1
		hypothetical protein POPTR_0011s11370g [Populus trichocarpa]	208	208	95%	3e-62	88%	XP 002316871.1

- M 1 2
- Aristotelia chilensis Elongatio<u>n Factor 1 alpha (AcEF1a)</u>

- **Fig 1.** Visualization of EF1a PCR product. Lane 1-3 different leaf samples. M:low range ladder (100-2000 bp)
- Sequencing results

Forward:

Reverse:

Sequences producing significant alignments:							
Select: <u>All None</u> Selected:0							
21	Alignments Bownload Capter Graphics						
	Description	Max score	Total score	Query cover	E value	Ident	Accession
	Os03q0177400 [Oryza sativa Japonica Group]	263	307	97%	3e-85	97%	BAS82585.1
	PREDICTED: elongation factor 1-alpha-like [Gossypium arboreum]	264	308	97%	3e-85	97%	XP 017648728.1

#### Annexes



**Figure** Endogenous abscisic acid (ABA) concentration changes in response to two different water treatments and with or without fluridone solution application and with or without a subsequent ABA solution application. *Aristotelia chilensis* plants were either Daily Irrigated (DI) or Non-Irrigated (NI). A) Young leaves with ABA application; B) Young leaves without ABA application; C) Fully-expanded leaves with ABA application; and D) Fully-expanded leaves without ABA application. Values represent means  $\pm$  SE (n=3).





**Figure.** Leaf water potential of *Aristotelia chilensis* plants grown under two water treatments; Dailyirrigated (DI) and Non-irrigated (NI). DI plants were irrigated daily at field capacity, meanwhile, NI plants were subjected to drought stress. At the  $30^{th}$  day of drought stress, NI plants were irrigated to evaluate plant recovery. All values represent averages of three biological replicates ±SE.

## Annex 5

# Published paper



Research article

Age-related mechanism and its relationship with secondary metabolism and abscisic acid in *Aristotelia chilensis* plants subjected to drought stress



Jorge González-Villagra<sup>a</sup>, Acácio Rodrigues-Salvador<sup>b</sup>, Adriano Nunes-Nesi<sup>b</sup>, Jerry D. Cohen<sup>c</sup>, Marjorie M. Reyes-Díaz<sup>d,e,\*</sup>

Annex 6

Physiologia Plantarum (submitted)



#### Abscisic acid (ABA) is involved in phenolic compounds biosynthesis, mainly anthocyanins, in leaves of *Aristotelia chilensis* plants (Mol.) subjected to drought stress

Journal:	Physiologia Plantarum
Manuscript ID	PPL-2018-00002
Manuscript Type:	Regular manuscript - Ecophysiology, stress and adaptation
Date Submitted by the Author:	03-Jan-2018
Complete List of Authors:	Gonzalez, Jorge; Universidad de La Frontera Cohen, Jerry; University of Minnesota, Department of Horticultural Science and Microbial and Plant Genomics Institute Reyes, Marjorie; Universidad de La Frontera, Ciencias Químicas y Recursos Naturales
Key Words:	fully-expanded leaves, water stress, maqui, phytohormone, UFGT expression